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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

The following terms used in this Information Circular have the following meanings.  This is not an exhaustive 
list of defined terms used in this Information Circular and additional terms are defined throughout the 
Information Circular: 
 
“Board” means the Board of Directors of Flexwork; 
 
“CSE” or the “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange; 
 
“Flexwork” or the “Company” means Flexwork Properties Ltd.; 
 
“Flexwork Shares” means the issued and outstanding common shares of Flexwork; 
 
“Information Circular” means this management information circular dated April 18, 2022; 
 

“OBCA” means the Ontario Business Corporations Act; and 
 
“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval at www.sedar.com.
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FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD. 
(Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) 

4009 – 1 King Street West 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5H 1A1 

Tel: 416.820.4107/Fax: 416.946.1951 
 

2022 NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an Annual General and Special Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the 
ho lders  o f  common shares  (the “Shareholders”) of FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD. (formerly 
Reliant Gold Corp.) (the “Company” or “Flexwork”) will be held virtually via Tele-Conference at Toronto, 
Ontario, Canada on Tuesday, May 24, 2022 at 11:00 a.m. (Toronto Time).  
 
In light of the ongoing public health concerns related to COVID-19 and in order to comply with 
public health guidelines, COVID-19 mitigation and other safety measures imposed by the 
federal and provincial governments, the COMPANY IS NOT HOLDING AN IN-PERSON MEETING 
THIS YEAR.   
 
ALL SHAREHOLDERS ARE ASKED TO VOTE ON THE MATTERS BEFORE THE MEETING BY 
PROXY WHICH CAN BE SUBMITTED ELECTRONICALLY, BY MAIL, OR BY FAX AS FURTHER 
DESCRIBED HEREIN PRIOR TO 11:00 A.M. (TORONTO TIME) ON MAY 19, 2022. 

 
The Company is offering the Shareholders the option to listen and participate (BUT NOT VOTE) at the 
Meeting in real time by tele-conference call at the following coordinate: 

 

 
 
 

In addition to relying upon a press release issued by the Canadian Securities Regulators and dated March 
20, 2020 – “Canadian securities regulators provide guidance on conducting Annual General Meetings 
during COVID-19 outbreak” - the Company has relied upon its by-laws and sections 93 to 94 of the Ontario 
Business Corporations Act (“OBCA”) to hold the Meeting via tele-conference.  

 
SUBJECT TO PUBLIC HEALTH CONDITIONS, THE COMPANY INTENDS TO HOLD IN-PERSON 
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS IN FUTURE YEARS. 
The Company is NOT relying upon Notice and Access procedures for this Meeting. 
  

 
Guest code/PIN: 49288 

 
Dial Into the Following Telephone Number* 

 
Canada/US: 1-857-232-0803 

* Please note that this tele-conference number 
has been provided to the Company by a third-
party vendor, and as such, there may be 
applicable charges to the user/Shareholder. 
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Meeting Business 

The Meeting is to be held for the following purposes, more as described in the accompanying management 
information circular dated April 18, 2022 (the “Information Circular”): 
 

1. Audited Financial Statements 
To table and receive the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the fiscal years 
ended December 31, 2018; December 31, 2019; December 31, 2020; and December 31, 2021, 
respectively, together with the auditor’s report for each of the corresponding fiscal years thereon and 
accompanying management’s discussion and analyses for each of the corresponding fiscal years; 

 
2. Re-Appointment of Auditors 

To consider and, if deemed advisable, to approve an ordinary resolution to approve and ratify the 
appointment of McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, as the auditors of the 
Company for fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively, and to approve an ordinary resolution to 
re-appoint McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, as the auditors of the 
Company for the ensuing year, and to authorize the directors to fix the remuneration of the auditors; 
 

3. Election of Directors 
 
To approve and ratify the re-election of the directors for fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and to set the 
number of directors at three (3) and to elect the directors of the Company to hold office for the ensuing year; 
 

4. Re-Approval of the Company’s Rolling Stock Option Plan 
 
To approve and ratify the re-approval of the Company’s rolling stock option plan for fiscal years 2019, 
2020 and 2021, and to consider and, if deemed appropriate, pass an ordinary resolution re-approving 
the Company’s rolling stock option plan for the ensuing year, the full text of which ordinary resolution is 
set out in Appendix “D” (the “Stock Option Plan Resolution”); and 
 

5. Any Other Business 
 
To consider or transact such other business as may be properly brought before the Meeting or any 
adjournment(s) or postponement(s) thereof.  
 
The nature of the business to be transacted at the Meeting is described in further detail in the accompanying 
Information Circular. 
 
The record date for the determination of Shareholders entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the 
Meeting or any adjournment(s) or postponement(s) thereof is April 18, 2022 (the “Record Date”). 
Shareholders whose names have been entered in the register of Shareholders at the close of business on 
the Record Date will be entitled to receive notice of, and to vote, at the Meeting or any adjournment(s) or 
postponement(s) thereof.  
 
The Board recommends that Shareholders VOTE FOR all of the matters to be voted on at the 
Meeting, including the re-appointment of the Company’s auditors; the election of directors of the 
Company; and the re-approval of the Company’s rolling stock option plan. 
 
A Shareholder wishing to be represented by proxy at the Meeting or any adjournment(s) or postponement(s) 
thereof must deposit his/her/its duly executed form of proxy with the Company’s transfer agent and registrar, 
TSX Trust Company (“TSX Trust”), at 301-100 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 4H1 not later 
than 11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on May 19, 2022, or, if the Meeting is adjourned or postponed, not later 
than 48 hours, excluding weekends and statutory holidays in the City of Toronto, Ontario, preceding the 
time of such adjourned or postponed meeting.  
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DATED at Toronto, Canada as of the 18th day of April, 2022. 
 

  By order of the Board, 

  (Signed) ″Kabir Ahmed″ 

________________________________ 
  Chairman, President and Chief Executive 

Officer 
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FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD. 
(Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) 

4009 – 1 King Street West 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5H 1A1 

Tel: 416.820.4107/Fax: 416.946.1951 
 
 

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 
AS AT AND DATED APRIL 18, 2022 

 
 

GENERAL 
Introduction 
 
No person has been authorized to give any information or make any representation in connection with 
any other matters to be considered at the Meeting other than those contained in this Information Circular 
(or incorporated by reference herein) and, if given or made, any such information or representation must 
not be relied upon as having been authorized. 
 
Information Contained in this Information Circular 
 
The information contained in this Information Circular is given as at April 18, 2022, except where otherwise 
noted, and information contained in documents incorporated by reference herein is given as of the dates 
noted in those documents. 
 
Neither the delivery of this Information Circular nor any distribution of the securities referred to in this 
Information Circular will, under any circumstance, provide any assurance or create any implication that 
there has been no change in the information set forth herein since the date as of which such information is 
given in this Information Circular. 
 
This Information Circular, and any materials provided in the appendices to this Information Circular, do not 
constitute an offer to buy, or a solicitation of an offer to sell, any securities, or the solicitation of a proxy, by 
any person in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person 
making such an offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any person to whom it is unlawful to 
make such an offer or solicitation. 
 
Shareholders should not construe the contents of this Information Circular, or any materials provided in the 
appendices to this Information Circular, as legal, tax or financial advice and should consult with their 
own professional advisors in considering the relevant legal, tax, financial or other matters contained in 
this Information Circular.  If you hold Flexwork Shares through a broker, investment dealer, bank, trust 
company, nominee or other intermediary (collectively, an “Intermediary”), you should contact your 
Intermediary for instructions and assistance in voting your proxy prior to the Meeting. 
 
IN LIGHT OF THE CURRENT COVID-19 PANDEMIC, THE COMPANY IS NOT HOLDING AN IN-
PERSON MEETING THIS YEAR.  ALL SHAREHOLDERS ARE ASKED TO VOTE ON THE MATTERS 
BEFORE THE MEETING BY PROXY WHICH CAN BE SUBMITTED ELECTRONICALLY, BY MAIL, OR 
BY FAX AS FURTHER DESCRIBED HEREIN PRIOR TO 11:00 A.M. (TORONTO TIME) ON MAY 19, 
2022. 
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Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 
This Information Circular, including documents incorporated by reference herein, contains forward-
looking statements and information (collectively referred to as “forward-looking information”). All 
statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking information. The use of any of the 
words “expect”, “anticipate”, “continue”, “estimate”, “objective”, “ongoing”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, 
“believe”, “plans”, “intends”, “potential”, and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
information. Forward-looking information presented in such statements or disclosures may, among other 
things, relate to: 
 

(i) certain combined operational and financial information; 
(ii) forecasts of capital expenditures, including general and administrative expenses 

and savings; 
(iii) expectations regarding the ability to raise capital; 
(iv) fluctuations in currency exchange rates; 

(v) plans and objectives of management for future operations; and 
(vi) anticipated operational and financial performance. 

 
 
Care should be taken when considering forward-looking information, which is inherently uncertain, is 
based on estimates and assumptions, and is subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties (both 
general and specific) that contribute to the possibility that the future events or circumstances contemplated 
by the forward-looking information will not occur. There can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or 
expectations upon which forward- looking information is based will in fact be realized. Actual results may 
differ, and the difference may be material and adverse to Flexwork. Forward-looking information is 
provided for the purpose of providing information about Flexwork’s management’s current expectations 
and plans relating to the future. Reliance on such information may not be appropriate for other purposes, 
such as making investment decisions.  
 
Various assumptions or factors are typically applied in drawing conclusions or making forecasts or 
projections set out in forward-looking information. Those assumptions and factors are based on information 
currently available to Flexwork and while consideration has been given to list what the companies think are 
the most important factors, the list should not be considered exhaustive. In some instances, material 
assumptions and factors are presented or discussed elsewhere in this Information Circular in 
connection with the statements or disclosure containing the forward-looking information.  

 
The forward-looking information in statements or disclosures in this Information Circular (including the 
documents incorporated by reference herein) is based (in whole or in part) upon factors which may 
cause actual results, performance or achievements of Flexwork, as applicable, to differ materially from 
those contemplated (whether expressly or by implication) in the forward-looking information. Those 
factors are based on information currently available to Flexwork, as applicable, including information 
obtained from third-party industry analysts and other third-party sources. Actual results or outcomes 
may differ materially from those predicted by such statements or disclosures. While Flexwork does not 
know what impact any of those differences may have, their business, results of operations, and financial 
condition may be materially adversely affected. 
 
The reader is further cautioned that the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS 
requires management to make certain judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates may change or may impact asset values and net 
earnings as further information becomes available, and as the economic environment changes. 
 
Readers should also consider the risk factors described under “Risk Factors” and other risks 
described elsewhere in this Information Circular and in the documents incorporated by reference herein, 
including “Forward-Looking Statements” in Flexwork’s Management’s Discussion and Analyses. 
Additional information on these and other factors that could affect the operations or financial results of 
Flexwork are included in documents on file with applicable Canadian Securities Administrators and 



6  

may be accessed on Flexwork’s profile through SEDAR (www.sedar.com). Such documents, unless 
expressly incorporated by reference herein, and websites, although referenced, do not form part of 
this Information Circular. 
 
The forward-looking information contained in this Information Circular (including the documents 
incorporated by reference herein) is made as of the date hereof and thereof and Flexwork undertakes 
no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable Canadian securities laws. 
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PROXY RELATED INFORMATION 

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES BY MANAGEMENT 

This Information Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by and on behalf of the 
management of Flexwork for use at the Meeting of Shareholders of the Company, that will be held virtually 
via Tele-Conference at Toronto, Ontario, Canada on Tuesday, May 24, 2022 at 11:00 a.m. (Toronto 
Time), and at all postponement(s) or adjournment(s) thereof, for the purposes set out in the accompanying 
Notice of Meeting.   

In light of the ongoing public health concerns related to COVID-19 and in order to comply with 
public health, COVID-19 mitigation and other safety measures imposed by the federal and 
provincial governments, the COMPANY IS NOT HOLDING AN IN-PERSON MEETING THIS YEAR.   

 
ALL SHAREHOLDERS ARE ASKED TO VOTE ON THE MATTERS BEFORE THE MEETING BY 
PROXY WHICH CAN BE SUBMITTED ELECTRONICALLY, BY MAIL, OR BY FAX AS FURTHER 
DESCRIBED HEREIN PRIOR TO 11:00 A.M. (TORONTO TIME) ON MAY 19, 2022. 
 
Although it is expected that the solicitation of proxies will be primarily by mail, proxies may also be solicited 
by telephone by the directors and/or officers of the Company at nominal cost.  Arrangements have been 
made with brokerage houses and other intermediaries, clearing agencies, custodians, nominees and 
fiduciaries to forward solicitation materials to the beneficial owners of Flexwork Shares held of record by 
such persons and the Company may reimburse such persons for reasonable fees and disbursements 
incurred by them in doing so.  
 

APPOINTMENT AND REVOCATION OF PROXIES 

Appointment of Proxy 

The persons named in the enclosed form of proxy (the “Management Designees”) are officers and/or 
directors of the Company.  A Shareholder has the right to appoint some other person, who need not 
be a Shareholder, to represent him or her at the Meeting and may do so by crossing out the persons 
named in the enclosed proxy and inserting such other person’s name in the blank space provided 
in the form of proxy or by completing another proper form of proxy. 

In order to be valid, proxies must be deposited with the transfer agent of the Company, TSX Trust Company 
(“TSX Trust”), at 301-100 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 4H1, facsimile number: (416) 595-
9593 not later than 11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on  May 19, 2022, or if the Meeting is adjourned or 
postponed, not later than 48 hours, excluding weekends and statutory holidays in the City of Toronto, 
Ontario, preceding the time of such adjourned or postponed Meeting at which the proxy is to be used.  

The document appointing a proxy must be in writing and completed and signed by the Shareholder or his 
attorney duly authorized in writing, or, if the Shareholder is a Company, under its corporate seal or by an 
officer or attorney thereof duly authorized. Persons signing as officers, attorneys, executors, administrators, 
trustees, etc., should so indicate and provide satisfactory evidence of authority. 

Revocation of Proxy 

A Shareholder who has given a proxy has the power to revoke it with respect to any matter on which a vote 
has not already been cast pursuant to the authority conferred by such proxy and may do so either: (i) by 
completing and signing a proxy bearing a later date and depositing it as described above; (ii) by depositing 
or transmitting, by telephonic or electronic means, an instrument in writing revoking the proxy executed by 
him or his attorney authorized in writing: (a) with the Company at its registered office located at c/o 
FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD., 1 King Street West, Suite 4009, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 1A1 at any time 
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prior to the close of business on the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting or any 
adjournment(s) or postponement(s) thereof at which the proxy is to be used; (b) with TSX Trust at any time 
prior to the close of business on the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting or any 
adjournment(s) or postponement(s) thereof at which the proxy is to be used; or (c) with the Chairman of the 
Meeting prior to the commencement of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or any adjournment(s) or 
postponement(s) thereof; or (iii) in any other manner permitted by law. 

Please note that Shareholders who receive their meeting materials from Broadridge Investor 
Communication Solutions, Canada (“Broadridge”) must return the completed proxy forms to Broadridge in 
order for the proxy to be dealt with. 

ADVICE TO BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

Only registered Shareholders or the persons they appoint as their proxies are permitted to vote at the 
Meeting. In many cases, Common Shares owned by a person (a “Non-Registered Holder”) are registered 
either: (a) in the name of an intermediary (an “Intermediary”) that the Non-Registered Holder deals with in 
respect of the Common Shares (Intermediaries include, among others, banks, trust companies, securities 
dealers or brokers and trustees or administrators of self-administered registered retirement savings plans, 
registered retirement income funds, registered education savings plans and similar plans); or (b) in the 
name of a clearing agency (such as CDS - Clearing and Depository Services Inc. (“TMX CDS”)) of which 
the Intermediary is a participant. In accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 54- 101 – 
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators, the Company has distributed copies of the Notice of Meeting and the accompanying 
Information Circular together with the form of proxy (collectively, the “Meeting Materials”) to the clearing 
agencies and Intermediaries for onward distribution to Non-Registered Holders of Common Shares. 
Intermediaries are required to forward the Meeting Materials to Non-Registered Holders unless a Non-
Registered Holder has waived the right to receive them. Intermediaries will often use service companies to 
forward the Meeting Materials to Non-Registered Holders. 
 
Generally, Non-Registered Holders who have not waived the right to receive Meeting Materials will 
either: 
 
(a)  be given a form of proxy which has already been signed by the Intermediary (typically by a facsimile 

stamped signature), which is restricted to the number and class of securities beneficially owned by 
the Non-Registered Holder, but which is not otherwise completed. Because the Intermediary has 
already signed the form of proxy, this form of proxy is not required to be signed by the Non-
Registered Holder when submitting the proxy. In this case, the Non-Registered Holder who wishes 
to vote by proxy should otherwise properly complete the form of proxy and deposit it as described 
above; or 

 
(b)  be given a form of proxy which is not signed by the Intermediary and which, when properly 

completed and signed by the Non-Registered Holder and returned to the Intermediary or its service 
company, will constitute voting instructions (often called a “Voting Instruction Form”) which the 
Intermediary must follow. Typically, the Non-Registered Holder will also be given a page of 
instructions which contains a removable label containing a bar code and other information. In order 
for the form of proxy to validly constitute a Voting Instruction Form, the Non-Registered Holder must 
remove the label from the instructions and affix it to the Voting Instruction Form, properly complete 
and sign the Voting Instruction Form and submit it to the Intermediary or its service company in 
accordance with the instructions of the Intermediary or its service company. 

 
In either case, the purpose of this procedure is to permit Non-Registered Holders to direct the voting of the 
Common Shares they beneficially own. Should a Non-Registered Holder, who receives either form of proxy, 
wish their vote to be tabulated at the Meeting, the Non-Registered Holder should strike out the persons 
named in the form of proxy and insert the Non-Registered Holder’s name in the blank space provided. Non-
Registered Holders should carefully follow the instructions of their Intermediary, including those regarding 
when and where the form of proxy or Voting Instruction Form is to be delivered.  
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In addition, Canadian securities legislation now permits the Company to forward Meeting Materials directly 
to “non-objecting beneficial owners”.  If the Company or its agents have sent these materials directly to you 
(instead of through an Intermediary), your name and address and information about your holdings of 
securities have been obtained in accordance with applicable securities regulatory requirements from the 
Intermediary holding on your behalf. By choosing to send these materials to you directly, the Company (and 
not the Intermediary holding on your behalf) has assumed responsibility for (i) delivering these materials to 
you, and (ii) executing your proper voting instructions. Please return your voting instructions as specified in 
the request for voting instructions. 
 
The Company will not be paying for distribution of Meeting Materials to “objecting beneficial owners”.  
 
All references to Shareholders in this Information Circular and the accompanying proxy and Notice of 
Meeting are to Shareholders of record unless specifically stated otherwise. 

VOTING OF PROXIES 

Common Shares represented by properly executed proxies will be voted or withheld from voting by 
the Management Designees on any ballot that may be called for in accordance with the instructions 
of the Shareholder as indicated on the proxy.  In the absence of such instructions, such Common 
Shares shall be voted: 

(a) FOR the approval of an ordinary resolution approving and ratifying the re-appointment of 
McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, as the auditors of the 
Company for fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and FOR the approval of an ordinary 
resolution re-appointing McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, as 
the auditors of the Company for the ensuing year, and authorizing the directors to fix the 
remuneration of the auditors; 

(b) FOR the approval and ratification of the re-election of directors for fiscal years 2019, 2020, 
and 2021, and FOR setting the number of directors at three (3) and FOR the election as 
directors of the persons nominated by Management and specified under the heading 
“Particulars of Matters to Be Acted Upon at the Meeting – Election of Directors”, to hold 
office for the ensuing year; and 

(c) FOR the approval and ratification of the Company’s rolling stock option plan for fiscal years 
2019, 2020, and 2021, and FOR the approval of an ordinary resolution re-approving the 
Company’s rolling stock option plan for the ensuing year.  

An “ordinary resolution” is a resolution passed by at least a majority of the votes cast by Shareholders 
who voted in respect of that resolution at the Meeting, while a “special resolution” is a resolution passed 
by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the votes cast by Shareholders who voted in respect of that 
resolution. 
 
The enclosed form of proxy confers discretionary authority upon the persons named therein with respect to 
any amendments to or variations of matters identified in the form of proxy and Notice of Meeting and with 
respect to any other matters which may properly come before the Meeting. In the event that amendments 
or variations to matters identified in the Notice of Meeting or other matters are properly brought before the 
Meeting, it is the intention of the Management Designees to vote in accordance with their best judgment on 
such matters or business. As of the date of this Information Circular, the directors and senior officers of the 
Company knew of no such amendments, variations or other matters. 
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VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF 

Company History 

By way of a Certificate of Incorporation, the Company was incorporated in the Province of Ontario on July 
11, 2005 as “Richmond Energy Corp.”.  Thereafter, by way of an Articles of Amendment dated September 
24, 2009, the Company changed its name to “REC Minerals Corp.”.  Thereafter, the Company changed its 
name to “Reliant Gold Corp.” by Articles of Amendment dated March 1, 2011, which in turn, was carried 
out pursuant to shareholder approval obtained on February 22, 2011.  Finally, by Articles of Amendment 
dated September 17, 2018, the Company changed its name from Reliant Gold Corp. to Flexwork Properties 
Ltd, pursuant to shareholder approval obtained on August 30, 2018.  The head office and registered 
address of the Company are located at 1 King Street West, Suite 4009, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5H 
1A1. 
 
The Company’s common shares were initially listed on Tier 2 of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) on 
December 4, 2009.  The Company’s common shares continuously traded on the TSXV from December 
4, 2009 to February 27, 2018, when the Company voluntarily delisted its common shares from trading on 
the TSXV.  The Company thereafter commenced trading on the CSE on February 28, 2018 under the 
stock symbol “RNG”. The Company is a reporting issuer in the provinces of Ontario, British Columbia and 
Alberta. 
 
Voluntary Trading Halt 
 
The Company has been subject to a voluntary trading halt, as of May 28, 2018, (the "Voluntary Trading 
Halt"), so that it could explore opportunities for and complete a potential Fundamental Change, such as a 
reverse takeover transaction. The Voluntary Trading Halt was issued at the request of the Company by the 
Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). At the close of the market on May 28, 
2018, the Company’s common shares last traded at $0.02 per share. 
 
Prior to the Voluntary Trading Halt, the Company carried on business as a junior mineral exploration and 
development company within Canada. 
 
Share Capital of Flexwork 
 
Subsequent to the Company’s fiscal year end of December 31, 2021, on February 18, 2022, the Company 
settled debts in the aggregate amount of $102,552.30 owed to two officers of the Company, respectively, 
for consulting fees and for expenses incurred on behalf of the Company, by the issuance from its treasury 
of an aggregate of 2,051,046 common shares of the Company to the two officers at a deemed price of 
$0.05 per common share (the "Debt Settlement").   
 
The Company completed the Debt Settlement at the minimum issue price of $0.05 per common share as 
set forth in Section 2.1 of Policy No. 6 of the CSE. 
 
Due to the fact that insiders of the Company were issued common shares pursuant to the Debt Settlement, 
the Debt Settlement is considered to be a “related party transaction” for the purposes of Multilateral 
Instrument 61-101 -Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special Transactions ("MI 61-101"). The 
Corporation has relied upon the exemptions from the valuation and minority approval requirements of 
MI 61-101 contained in paragraph (a) of Section 5.5 and paragraph (1)(a) of Section 5.7, respectively, of 
MI 61-101, as the fair market value of the Debt Settlement does not exceed 25% of the Corporation's 
market capitalization, on a post-Debt Settlement basis. 
 
The common shares issued pursuant to the Debt Settlement are subject to a four-month restricted resale 
period, which will expire on June 19, 2022. 
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Prior to the Debt Settlement, the Company had 25,258,869 common shares issued and outstanding, on a 
non-diluted basis. Following the Debt Settlement, the Company now has 27,309,915 common shares 
issued and outstanding, on a non-diluted basis. 
 
Consequently, as of the date of this Information Circular, the Share Capital of Flexwork is comprised of 
27,309,915 common shares and 550,000 stock options with each stock option exercisable at $0.05 per 
common share until September 1, 2022.   
 
Therefore, as of the date of this Information Circular, the authorized capital of the Company consists of an 
unlimited number of Common Shares and an unlimited number of preference shares (the “Preference 
Shares”), issuable in series, of which 27,309,915 Common Shares and no Preference Shares are currently 
issued and outstanding. 

Each Shareholder of record will be entitled to one vote for each Common Share held at the Meeting. 

The Company will prepare a list of all persons who are registered holders of Common Shares as of the 
close of business on April 18, 2022 (the “Record Date”) and the number of Common Shares registered in 
the name of each person at such time.  Each Shareholder is entitled to one vote for each Common Share 
registered in his name as it appears on the list. 

As of the date of this Information Circular, and to the best of knowledge of the directors and officers of the 
Company, no person or Company beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction 
over, 10% or more of the Common Shares, other than as set out below: 

Name of Shareholder Number of Common Shares 
(1)(2)(3) 

Percentage of 

Common Shares (1)(2)(3) 

Kabir Ahmed 6,729,079 24.64% 

Notes: 
(1) The information as to Common Shares beneficially owned, controlled or directed, not being within the 

knowledge of the Company, has been obtained by the Company from publicly disclosed information 
and/or furnished by the relevant shareholder. 

(2) On a non-diluted basis. 

(3) As of the date of this Circular, the Company has a total of 27,309,915 Common Shares issued and 
outstanding, on a non-diluted basis. 

INTERESTS OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON AND OTHER MATERIAL 
TRANSACTIONS 

Except as disclosed herein, to the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Company, none of the 
directors or officers of the Company or the directors or officers of any subsidiary of the Company, no 
proposed nominee for election as a director of the Company, none of the persons who have been directors 
or officers of the Company since January 1, 2021, no person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 
voting securities of the Company, or who exercises control or direction over voting securities of the 
Company, or a combination of both, carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all voting 
securities of the Company, or any associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing, has any material interest, 
direct or indirect, by way of beneficial ownership of securities or otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon 
at the Meeting, other than the election of directors or the appointment of auditors, or in any transaction 
since January 1, 2021 or in any proposed transaction which has materially affected or will materially affect 
the Company or any subsidiary of the Company.  
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Certain of the directors and executive officers of the Company have been granted stock options under the 
Stock Option Plan (as hereinafter defined) and all directors and executive officers will be eligible to be 
granted stock options under the Stock Option Plan in the future.  As of the date of this Information Circular, 
Flexwork has issued and outstanding 550,000 stock options exercisable at $0.05 per common share until 
September 1, 2022.  

DATE OF INFORMATION 

Unless otherwise specified, the information contained in this Information Circular is given as of April 18, 
2022. 
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PARTICULARS OF MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON AT THE MEETING 

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The audited annual financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2018; 
December 31, 2019; December 31, 2020; and December 31, 2021, together with the auditors reports 
thereon and accompanying management’s discussion and analyses, will be placed before the Shareholders 
at the Meeting for their consideration. No formal action will be taken at the Meeting to approve the financial 
statements, the requirements of the OBCA having been satisfied by their advance circulation to 
Shareholders who informed the Company that they wished to receive copies of same and their tabling at 
the Meeting. If any Shareholder has questions regarding the financial statements, such questions may be 
brought forward at the Meeting.  

Please refer to Appendix “B” and Appendix “C” to this herein Information Circular, respectively, for the 
audited annual financial statements and accompanying management’s discussion and analyses of the 
Company for the years ended December 31, 2018; December 31, 2019; December 31, 2020; and 
December 31, 2021.  All audited annual financial statements and accompanying management’s discussion 
and analyses of the Company are also available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

2. APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS 

It is proposed that the re-appointment of McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, as 
auditors of the Company, be approved and ratified for fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and it is further 
proposed that McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, be re-appointed as auditors of 
the Company to hold office until the next annual meeting of Shareholders, and that the board of directors 
of the Company (the “Board”) be authorized to fix the remuneration of the auditors.  McGovern Hurley LLP, 
formerly known as McGovern, Hurley, Cunningham, LLP, was first appointed as the auditors of the 
Company on February 8, 2008. 

The Management Nominees, if not expressly directed to the contrary in the form of proxy, will vote 
such proxies in favour of an ordinary resolution approving and ratifying McGovern Hurley LLP, 
Chartered Professional Accountants, as auditors of the Company for fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 
2021, and approving the re-appointment of McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional 
Accountants, as the auditors of the Company for the ensuing year and authorizing the Board to fix 
the remuneration of the auditors. 

Based on representations made by McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, neither 
that firm nor any of its partners has any direct financial interest nor any material indirect financial interest in 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor has McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, 
had any connection during the past three years with the Company or any of its subsidiaries in the capacity 
of promoter, underwriter, voting trustee, director, officer or employee. 

3. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

In accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, the Board consists of a minimum of one 
and a maximum of 10 directors. The directors have been authorized by a special resolution passed by the 
Shareholders to set the number of directors within such minimum and maximum. The directors have 
determined that the number of directors to be elected at the Meeting is three (3).  

You can vote for all three persons nominated by Management whose names are set forth below, vote for 
some of them and withhold your vote for others, or withhold your vote for all of them.  

The Management Designees, if not expressly directed to the contrary in the form of proxy, will vote 
such proxies for the approval and ratification of the election of directors of the Company for fiscal 
years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and will vote such proxies for the approval of the election as directors 
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of the Company of the three persons nominated by Management, for the ensuing year, whose names 
are set forth below.   

Management does not contemplate that any of the nominees will be unable to serve as a director, but if 
that should occur for any reason prior to the Meeting, the Management Nominees reserve the right to vote 
for another nominee in their discretion.  Each director elected will hold office until the next annual meeting 
or until his successor is duly elected, unless his office is earlier vacated in accordance with the by-laws of 
the Company. 

The Board has adopted a policy for the majority voting for the election of each nominated director at the 
meetings of its shareholders. 

As of the date of this Information Circular, the following table sets forth the name and municipality of 
residence of each of the persons proposed to be nominated for election as director, all of the positions and 
offices with the Company now held by him, his present principal occupation, the date that he was elected 
as a director and the number of Common Shares beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which 
control or direction is exercised, by him. 

Name and Municipality of 
Residence 

Position with 
Company 

Principal 
Occupation During 

the  
Last Five Years 

Date Elected as a 
Director 

Number of 
Common Shares 

Beneficially 
Owned, Directly or 
Indirectly, or Over 
Which Controlled 

or Direction is 
Exercised(1) 

Kabir Ahmed (2) 
Toronto, Ontario 

Chairman, 
President, 
Chief Executive 
Officer, 
Corporate 
Secretary, 
Corporate 
Counsel and 
Director 

Corporate and 
Securities Lawyer 
and Senior 
Executive Officer of 
the Company  

January 26, 2016(3) 6,729,079 (4) 

(24.64%)(6) 

Michael Boyd (2) 

Toronto, Ontario 
Director Principal of Junior 

Industrial Finance 
Corp. (Finance 
Company) 

June 13, 2011 120,000(5) 

(0.44%)(6) 

Peter Hogg (2) 
Toronto, Ontario 

Chief Financial 
Officer and 
Director 

Chartered 
Professional 
Accountant and 
Senior Executive 
Officer of the 
Company 

 
March 28, 2019 

 

371,600(5) 

(1.36%)(6) 

Notes: 

(1) The information as to the number of Common Shares beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which 
control or direction is exercised, by the nominees, not being within the knowledge of the Company, has been 
furnished by the respective nominees individually. 

(2) Member of the Audit Committee. 

(3) Mr. Ahmed was a director of the Company from July 11, 2005 until his retirement from the Board of Directors 
on November 30, 2014.  Mr. Ahmed was thereafter re-appointed to the Company’s Board of Directors on 
January 26, 2016. 

(4) The 6,729,079 Common Shares owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by Mr. Kabir Ahmed 
represent approximately 24.64%, on a non-diluted basis, of the issued and outstanding Common Shares of 
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the Company.  As of the date of this Information Circular, Mr. Ahmed also holds 225,000 stock options, 
exercisable at $0.05 per common share of the Company until September 1, 2022.   

(5) As of the date of this Information Circular, Mr. Michael Boyd also holds 225,000 stock options, exercisable at 
$0.05 per common share of the Company until September 1, 2022. As of the date of this Information Circular, 
Mr. Peter Hogg holds 100,000 stock options, exercisable at $0.05 per common share of the Company until 
September 1, 2022. 

(6) Based on 27,309,915 Common Shares issued and outstanding, on a non-diluted basis, as of the date of this 
Information Circular. 

 
Biographies of Persons Proposed to be Nominated for Election as Director 
 
Kabir Ahmed 
 
Mr. Kabir Ahmed holds a B.Sc. (Hon) from the University of Toronto and a MBA in Corporate Finance and 
Strategic Management from York University’s Schulich School of Business.  In addition, Mr. Ahmed holds 
JD and LLM degrees, specializing in Canadian corporate and securities law, from Osgoode Hall Law 
School.  He also holds a second LLM degree (in U.S. corporate and securities law) from Cornell University 
Law School.  He is licensed to practice law in Ontario, New York and before the U.S. Supreme Court in 
Washington, D.C.   

Mr. Ahmed has been either a founder or co-founder and President and Chief Executive Officer of several 
public resource companies listed on the TSX Venture Exchange and has more than a decade of experience 
serving as a director and audit committee member on the boards of directors of public companies listed on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange, the TSX Venture Exchange, and the Canadian Securities Exchange.  Mr. 
Ahmed also formerly served as a Senior Manager at the Toronto Stock Exchange and a Business Law 
Professor at Sheridan College’s Pilon School of Business. 

Michael Boyd 

Mr. Michael Boyd holds a MBA degree from Western University’s Ivey Business School and has more than 
three decades of experience in bridge debt financing, venture capital, private equity, lending and corporate 
finance with small and mid-sized public companies.  Mr. Boyd has expertise in starting up businesses and 
raising capital through his roles as a senior executive with Toronto brokerage firms from 1992 to 1995; as 
a Managing Director of Merchant Banking with HSBC Capital (Canada) Inc. from 1997 to 2002; and as 
proprietor of his own company, Junior Industrial Finance Corp., from 1990 to present.  He has also served 
and continues to serve as a member of the audit committee, and in some instances, as the chair of the 
audit committee, of a number of publicly traded companies.  Mr. Boyd is also on the independent review 
committees of three public mutual fund groups. 

 
Peter Hogg 

 
Mr. Peter Hogg holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Toronto and is licensed as a 
Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA, CA).  He has more than two decades of public accounting 
experience and has acted as the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) for several publicly traded companies in 
Canada.  

 
 Ownership of Common Shares 
 
As of the date of this Circular, the current directors of the Company, as a group, currently own, directly or 
indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, an aggregate of 7,220,679 Common Shares, representing 
approximately 26.44% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares of the Company, on a non-diluted 
basis. 
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Cease Trade Orders and Bankruptcies 

Except as disclosed below or elsewhere in this Information Circular, no proposed director of the Company:  

(a)  is, as at the date hereof, or has been, within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, 
chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company (including the Company) 
that:  

(i)  was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an 
order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities 
legislation that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days (any 
such order, an "Order") that was issued while the proposed director was acting in 
the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or  

(ii)  was subject to an Order that was issued after the proposed director ceased to be 
a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from 
an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, 
chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or  

(b)  is, at the date hereof, or has been within 10 years before the date hereof, a director or 
executive officer of any company (including the Company) that, while that person was 
acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 
became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, 
or  

(c)  has, within 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any 
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Michael Boyd was a director of Outlook Resources Inc. (“Outlook”) from September 8, 2009 to January 9, 
2013. The securities of Outlook were the subject of a temporary cease trade order issued by the OSC on 
April 4, 2011, as extended by a further order dated April 15, 2011 (collectively, the “Ontario Outlook Cease 
Trade Order”), and were also the subject of a cease trade order issued by the BCSC on April 7, 2011 (the 
“BC Outlook Cease Trade Order” and a cease trade order issued by the Alberta Securities Commission 
(the “ASC”) on July 14, 2011 (the “Alberta Cease Trade Order”). The Ontario Outlook Cease Trade Order, 
the BC Outlook Cease Trade Order and the Alberta Cease Trade Order are referred to collectively herein 
as the “Outlook CTOs”. The Outlook CTOs were issued due to defaults by Outlook under the continuous 
disclosure requirements of applicable securities laws and they are still in effect. Also, on January 27, 2011, 
Outlook filed a proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) and, effective April 19, 2012, 
the shares of Outlook were suspended from trading on the NEX Board of the TSX Venture Exchange. 
Michael Boyd was a director of Outlook when the Outlook CTOs were issued and when Outlook made its 
proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada).  
 
Mr. Peter Hogg currently serves as the Chief Financial Officer of Cerro Grande Mining Company (“Cerro 
Grande”) and was appointed a director of Cerro Grande on May 31, 2018.  As a result of not filing its 
audited financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis for the year ended September 30, 
2017, together with the required certificates, by the filing deadline, Cerro Grande was made subject to a 
temporary cease trade order which was lifted and revoked on May 4, 2018 (following the filing of the 
required financial information).  Mr. Hogg was the Chief Financial Officer of Cerro Grande at the relevant 
time but did not serve as a director of Cerro Grande at the time the temporary cease trade order was in 
effect. 
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As a result of not filing its audited financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2015 and the first 
fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2015 financial statements by the filing deadline, Cerro Grande was 
made subject to a management cease trade order issued by the British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario 
securities commissions which was revoked on March 11, 2016 (following the filing of the required financial 
information).  Mr. Hogg was the Chief Financial Officer of Cerro Grande at the relevant time but did not 
serve as a director of Cerro Grande at the time such cease trade order was in effect. 
 
Penalties and Sanctions  

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this Information Circular, no proposed director of the Company has been 
subject to:  

(a)  any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a 
securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities 
regulatory authority; or  

(b)  any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be 
considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a 
proposed director. 

4. RE-APPROVAL OF THE COMPANY’S STOCK OPTION PLAN 

On April 9, 2008, the Shareholders approved a rolling stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) for the 
Company. Options to purchase up to 10% of the total number of Common Shares issued and outstanding 
from time to time are issuable pursuant to the Stock Option Plan. The Shareholders re-approved the Stock 
Option Plan at the annual and special meetings of shareholders of the Company held on February 22, 
2011, July 5, 2012 and January 20, 2014.  In addition, the Shareholders re-approved the Stock Option 
Plan at the annual and special meeting of shareholders of the Company held on June 15, 2015, wherein 
the shareholders also approved the amendment of the Stock Option Plan to reduce the minimum exercise 
price of options granted pursuant to the Stock Option Plan from $0.10 to $0.05 per common share as 
described in more detail below.  The Stock Option Plan was thereafter re-approved by the Shareholders of 
the Company at its annual and special meetings of shareholders held on November 16, 2016; February 
15, 2018; and August 30, 2018, respectively. 

The Stock Option Plan has a “rolling” plan ceiling as the number of options which may be granted pursuant 
to the Stock Option Plan will increase as the number of Common Shares which are issued and outstanding 
increases. If an option expires or is otherwise terminated for any reason, the number of Common Shares 
in respect of that expired or terminated option shall again be available for the purposes of the Stock Option 
Plan. Pursuant to the policies of the Exchange, the Shareholders are required to approve on a yearly basis 
stock option plans which have a “rolling” plan ceiling.  
 
A copy of the Stock Option Plan may be obtained upon request from the Company at c/o FLEXWORK 
PROPERTIES LTD., 1 King Street West, Suite 4009, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 1A1.   

The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to attract, retain and motivate directors, officers, employees and 
other service providers by providing them with the opportunity, through stock options, to acquire a 
proprietary interest in the Company and benefit from the growth of the Company. Options issued under the 
Stock Option Plan are non-assignable and non-transferable and may be granted for a term not exceeding 
ten years. 

The Stock Option Plan is administered by the Board or a committee established by the Board for that 
purpose (the “Committee”). The Stock Option Plan may be amended, subject to regulatory approval, or 
terminated by the Board or the Committee at any time, but such amendment or termination will not alter the 
terms or conditions of any option awarded prior to the date of such amendment or termination. Any option 
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outstanding when the Stock Option Plan is amended or terminated will remain in effect until it is exercised 
or expires or is otherwise terminated in accordance with the provisions of the Stock Option Plan. 

The Stock Option Plan provides that other terms and conditions, including vesting provisions, may be 
attached to a particular stock option at the discretion of the Board or the Committee, provided that if required 
by any stock exchange on which the shares of the Company trade, options issued to consultants which 
provide investor relations activities must vest in stages over not less than 12 months with no more than 
one-quarter of the options vesting in any three month period. All option grants are to be evidenced by the 
execution of a written option agreement between the Company and the optionee which shall give effect to 
the provisions of the Stock Option Plan. 

Options may be granted under the Stock Option Plan only to directors, senior officers, employees and other 
service providers of the Company, subject to the rules and regulations of applicable regulatory authorities 
and any Canadian stock exchange upon which the Common Shares may be listed or may trade from time 
to time. The aggregate number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance to any one 
individual pursuant to the Stock Option Plan within any 12 month period shall not exceed five percent of the 
Common Shares issued and outstanding on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis).  

The aggregate number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance to insiders of the Company 
under the Stock Option Plan, any other employee stock option plans of the Company or any other options 
for services granted by the Company, shall not exceed 10% of the number of Common Shares outstanding 
on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis). 

Further, the aggregate number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance under the Stock 
Option Plan, any other employee stock option plans of the Company or any other options for services 
granted by the Company within a 12 month period: 

• to insiders shall not exceed 10% of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding 
on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis); 

• to any insider shall not exceed five percent of the number of Common Shares issued and 
outstanding on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis); 

• to any consultant to the Company shall not exceed two percent of the number of Common 
Shares issued and outstanding on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis); and 

• to all employees or consultants who provide investor relations activities shall not exceed 
two percent of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding on the date of the 
grant (on a non-diluted basis). 

Options granted under the Stock Option Plan will be for a term not to exceed ten years from the date of 
their grant. In the event an optionee ceases to be a service provider, such as an officer or director of the 
Company, (other than by reason of death), the stock option will expire on the earlier of the expiry date 
stated in the option agreement executed in respect of such grant (the “Fixed Expiry Date”) and one year 
following the date of termination.  

In the event of the death of an optionee, the option will be exercisable by the personal representatives of 
the optionee within, but only within, the period of one year next succeeding the optionee’s death. 

The price at which an optionee may purchase a Common Share upon the exercise of an option will be as 
set forth in the option agreement executed in respect of such option and, in any event, will not be less than 
the market price of the Common Shares as of the date of the grant of the stock option (the “Grant Date”) 
less any discounts from the market price allowed by the Exchange, subject to a minimum exercise price of 
$0.05 per common share. The market price of the Common Shares means the closing price on the last 
trading day immediately preceding the Grant Date or as otherwise determined in accordance with the terms 
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of the Stock Option Plan.  Prior to August 2013, the minimum exercise price of options issued pursuant to 
the Stock Option Plan was $0.10, as per the Exchange’s policies. However, in August 2013, the Exchange 
reduced the minimum acceptable exercise price of incentive stock options from $0.10 to $0.05 per share. 
Accordingly, the Company has, pursuant to shareholder approval obtained at the annual and special 
meeting of shareholders of the Company held on June 15, 2015, amended the Stock Option Plan to reduce 
the minimum exercise price of options granted pursuant to the Stock Option Plan from $0.10 to $0.05 per 
Common Share.  The Stock Option Plan was thereafter re-approved by the Shareholders of the Company 
at its annual and special meetings of shareholders held on November 16, 2016; February 15, 2018; and 
August 30, 2018, respectively. 
 
Common Shares will not be issued pursuant to options granted under the Stock Option Plan until they have 
been fully paid for. 
 
At the Meeting, Shareholders will be asked to consider and, if thought fit, approve an ordinary resolution 
(the “Stock Option Plan Resolution”) substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix  “D” to 
approve and ratify the Stock Option Plan for fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and to re-approve the Stock 
Option Plan for the ensuing year and authorize the issuance under the Stock Option Plan of options to 
acquire up to 10% of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding from time to time. In order to 
be approved by Shareholders, the Stock Option Plan Resolution must be approved by a majority of the 
votes cast at the Meeting.  

Management is of the opinion that the Stock Option Plan will continue to be beneficial to the Company as 
it provides the Company with flexibility to grant options and permits the Company to continue to attract, 
retain and motivate directors, senior officers, employees and other service providers. 

The Management Designees, if not expressly directed to the contrary in the form of proxy, will vote 
such proxies in favour of the Stock Option Plan Resolution.  The full text of the Stock Option Plan 
Resolution is set out in Appendix “D”. 

 

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF FLEXWORK 
 
Other than as disclosed herein and in the Flexwork MD&A for the last financial year, there are no material 
interests, direct or indirect, of current directors, executive officers any persons nominated for election 
as directors, or any Shareholders who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the 
outstanding Flexwork Shares, or any known associates or affiliates of such persons, in any proposed 
transaction, which has materially affected or would materially affect Flexwork. 
 
 

RISK FACTORS 
 
Shareholders should carefully consider all of the risk factors described in each of the Flexwork MD&As, 
which is specifically incorporated by reference into this Information Circular, and attached hereto as 
Appendix “C”.  Readers are cautioned that such risk factors are not exhaustive.  
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REQUIRED ANNUAL DISCLOSURE CONCERNING THE COMPANY 

STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information contained below is provided as required under Form 51-102F6 for “venture issuers”, as 
defined in NI 51-102. 

Named Executive Officers 

For the purposes of this Information Circular, a Named Executive Officer (“NEO”) of the Company means 
each of the following individuals: 

(a) a chief executive officer (“CEO”) of the Company; 

(b) a chief financial officer (“CFO”) of the Company; 

(c) in respect of the Company and its subsidiaries, the most highly compensated executive officer other 
than the individuals identified in paragraphs (a) and (b) at the end of the most recently completed 
financial year whose total compensation was more than $150,000; or 

(d) each individual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) above but for the fact that the individual 
was neither an executive officer of the Company, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that 
financial year. 

Summary Compensation Table 

The following table contains information, for the most recent three fiscal years ended December 31, 2021; 
December 31, 2020; and December 31, 2019, respectively, about the compensation awarded to, earned 
by, paid to or payable to, the Company’s NEOs during those three fiscal years, being the following: 

(A) Kabir Ahmed, the current Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer, Corporate Secretary and 
Corporate Counsel of the Company, who was appointed (i) as a Director and the President, Chief Executive 
Officer, Corporate Secretary and Corporate Counsel of the Company effective January 26, 2016; and (ii) 
as the Chairman of the Company effective May 16, 2016; and   

(B) Peter Hogg, the current Chief Financial Officer of the Company, was appointed the CFO of the Company 
effective June 1, 2016, and as a director of the Company on March 28, 2019.  

Other than Kabir Ahmed and Peter Hogg, the Company did not have any other NEOs during fiscal years 
2019 - 2021 given that no executive officer of the Company or individual serving in a similar capacity 
received total compensation for acting in such capacity in excess of $150,000. Neither Kabir Ahmed nor 
Peter Hogg is (or was) an employee of the Company as they provide (or provided) their services as officers 
of the Company as consultants. 
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Summary Compensation Table 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Year Salary or 
Consulting 

Fee 
($) 

Share- 
Based 
Awards 

($) 

Option- 
Based 
Awards 

($) 

Non-Equity Incentive 
Plan Compensation 

($) 

Pension 
Value 

($) 

All Other 
Compen-

sation 
($) 

Total 
Compen- 

sation 
($) 

Annual 
Incentive 

Plans 

Long- 
Term 

Incentive 
Plans 

Kabir Ahmed, 
Chairman, 
President, 
Chief 
Executive 
Officer, 
Corporate 
Secretary, and 
Corporate 
Counsel(1) 

2021 
2020 
2019 

 
 
 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
 
 

 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
 
 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
 
 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 
 
 
 

Peter Hogg, 
Chief 
Financial 
Officer (2) 

2021 
2020 
2019 

 
 
 

2,000 
700 

1,000 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

2,000 
700 

1,000 

Notes: 
1 Since November 1, 2018, in order to preserve the cash resources of the Company, Mr. Ahmed has not 
drawn any consulting fees from the Company, and since January 1, 2019, he has not accrued any amounts 
for consulting fees. 
2Mr. Peter Hogg was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company on June 1, 2016.  Effective 
June 1, 2016, Mr. Hogg received a monthly consulting fee of $500 for his services as the CFO of the 
Company.  Mr. Hogg received an additional $500 for his services in assisting the current President and 
CEO of the Company complete the year end audit. Since March 1, 2019, in order to preserve the cash 
resources of the Company, Mr. Peter Hogg has not drawn his full monthly consulting fees but there has 
been an accrual for any monthly fees not drawn. 
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Outstanding Share-Based and Option-Based Awards Granted to Named Executive Officers as of 
December 31, 2021 

The following table summarizes all share-based and option-based awards granted by the Company to its 
Named Executive Officers which are outstanding as of December 31, 2021. 

 Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards 

Name Number of 
Securities 
Underlying 
Unexercise
d Options 

(#) 

Option 
Exercise 

Price 
($) 

Option 
Expiration Date 

Value of 
Unexercised 

In-The-
Money 
Options 

($) 

Number 
of 

Shares 
or Units 

of 
Shares 

That 
Have 
Not 

Vested 

Market 
or 

Payout 
Value of 
Share- 
Based 
Awards 

That 
Have 
Not 

Vested 
($) 

Market or 
Payout 

Value of 
Vested 
Share- 
Based 
Awards 
Not Paid 
Out or 

Distributed 
($) 

Kabir 
Ahmed(1) 

225,00 0.05 September 1, 
2022 

 

Nil(2) 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Peter Hogg (1) 100,000 0.05 

 
 

September 1, 
2022 

Nil(2) 
 

Nil Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) Mr. Ahmed was appointed as President, Chief Executive Officer, Corporate Secretary, and 
Corporate Counsel of the Company effective January 26, 2016, and re-appointed as Chairman of 
the board of directors of the Company effective May 16, 2016.  Mr. Hogg was appointed as the 
CFO of the Company on June 1, 2016, and as a director of the Company on March 28, 2019. 

(2) Based on the price of the Common Shares as of December 31, 2021 of $0.02 per Common Share. 

Value Vested or Earned by Named Executive Officers During the Year Ended December 31, 2021 
Under Option-Based Awards, Share-Based Awards and Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation  

The following table summarizes the value vested or earned during the year by Named Executive Officers 
in respect of option-based awards, share-based awards and non-equity incentive plan compensation during 
the year ended December 31, 2021. 

Name Option-Based 
Awards- Value Vested 

During the Year 
($) 

Share-Based Awards- 
Value Vested During 

the Year 
($) 

Non-Equity Incentive 
Plan Compensation- 
Value Earned During 

the Year 
($) 

Kabir Ahmed  Nil Nil Nil 

Peter Hogg  Nil Nil Nil 
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Employment Contracts During the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 

Each of the current Named Executive Officers, including Mr. Ahmed, the current President and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, and Mr. Hogg, the current Chief Financial Officer of the Company, serve 
in these roles as consultants (and not as employees) of the Company. 

As of the date of this Information Circular, the Company does not have any compensatory plan, contract or 
arrangement where a Named Executive Officer is entitled to receive a payment from the Company or its 
subsidiaries, including periodic payments or instalments in the event of (i) the resignation, retirement or any 
other termination of any such Named Executive Officer’s employment with the Company and its 
subsidiaries, (ii) a change of control of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or (iii) a change in the 
responsibilities of such Named Executive Officer following a change in control. 

Compensation of Directors 

The following table contains information about the compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to or payable 
to, the Company’s directors, other than its Named Executive Officers, the compensation of whom is detailed 
above under “Summary Compensation Table”, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. 

Director Compensation Table 

Name Fees 
Earned 

($) 

Share- 
Based 
Awards 

($) 

Option- 
Based 
Awards 

($) 

 

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 
Compensation 

($) 

Pension 
Value 

($) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 

Total 
($) 

Michael Boyd(1) Nil Nil 

 

Nil Nil 

 

 

Nil 

 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Notes: 
1 Mr. Michael Boyd, who was appointed to the Company’s board of directors on June 13, 2011, 

serves as an independent director of the Company. In order to preserve the cash resources of the 
Company, the payment of directors’ fees of $200 per month was suspended on April 1, 2018. The 
Company’s policy regarding the payment of directors’ fees is re-evaluated from time to time. 

No fees are payable to the directors of the Company for serving on Board committees. All directors are 
entitled to reimbursement by the Company for travel and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending 
directors and shareholders meetings and meetings of Board committees. Directors are also entitled to 
receive compensation to the extent that they provide services to the Company at rates that would be 
charged by such directors for such services to arm’s length parties. The directors of the Company 
participate in the indemnification arrangements described below. The Company does not carry any policy 
of insurance including directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. See “Required Annual Disclosure 
Concerning the Company - Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance”. 

Outstanding Share-Based and Option-Based Awards Granted to Directors (Other Than Directors 
Who are Named Executive Officers) as of December 31, 2021. 

The following table summarizes all share-based and option-based awards granted by the Company to its 
directors (other than directors who are Named Executive Officers whose share-based and option-based 
awards outstanding as of December 31, 2021 are detailed above) which are outstanding as of December 
31, 2021.   
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 Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards 

Name Number of 
Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised 
Options 

(#) 

Option 
Exercise 

Price 
($) 

Option Expiration 
Date 

Value of 
Unexercised 

In-The-
Money 
Options 

($) 

Number 
of Shares 
or Units 

of Shares 
That 

Have Not 
Vested 

Market or 
Payout 

Value of 
Share-
Based 
Awards 

That 
Have Not 
Vested 

($) 

Market or 
Payout Value 

of Vested 
Share-Based 
Awards Not 
Paid Out or 
Distributed 

($) 

Michael 
Boyd 

 
 
 

225,000 0.05 September 1, 
2022 

Nil(1) 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 

Notes:  
1 Based on the price of the Common Shares as of December 31, 2021 of $0.02 per Common Share. 

Value Vested or Earned During the Year Ended December 31, 2021 by Directors (Other Than 
Directors Who are Named Executive Officers) Under Option-Based Awards, Share-Based Awards 
and Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation  
 
The following table summarizes the value vested or earned during the year ended December 31, 2021 by 
directors of the Company (other than directors who are Named Executed Officers whose value vested or 
earned during the year ended December 31, 2021 under option-based awards, share-based awards and 
non-equity incentive plan compensation is detailed above) in respect of option-based awards, share-based 
awards and non-equity incentive plan compensation. 

Name Option-Based Awards- 
Value Vested During the 

Year 
($) 

Share-Based Awards- 
Value Vested During the 

Year 
($) 

Non-Equity Incentive Plan 
Compensation- Value 

Earned During the Year 
($) 

Michael Boyd (1) 

 

Nil Nil 

 

Nil 

 

Notes: 

(1) As at December 31, 2021, Mr. Michael Boyd held 225,000 stock options, exercisable at $0.05 per 
common share until September 1, 2022. All stock options granted to Mr. Boyd had vested as of 
September 1, 2017. 
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 

The Company has established a compensation program for its Named Executive Officers which is designed 
to achieve the following key objectives: 

• attract the most qualified and experienced executives available to create shareholder value and 
drive the continued development of the Company and its current and future mineral exploration and 
mining assets; 

• retain qualified executives and provide appropriate short-term and long-term financial incentives 
with the goals of increasing the Company’s performance and encouraging the achievement of 
stated milestones with respect to the development of the Company’s current and future mineral 
exploration and mining assets; and 

• appropriately incentivize the Named Executive Officers to achieve specific corporate milestones or 
benchmarks such as completion of equity financings. 

The Board is responsible for the compensation program for the Company’s Named Executive Officers. At 
the request of the Board, the President and Chief Executive Officer may, from time to time, provide 
recommendations to the Board with respect to the Compensation program for the Company’s Named 
Executive Officers. 

The deliberations of the Board are private and are intended to advance the three key objectives of the 
compensation program for the Company’s Named Executive Officers described above. 

Compensation for the Company’s Named Executive Officers consists of the following three components: 
(i) base cash consulting fees; (ii) cash bonus payments for achievement of stated milestones or 
benchmarks; and (iii) options granted pursuant to the Company’s Stock Option Plan. The Company does 
not provide its Named Executive Officers with perquisites or personal benefits. The Company also does not 
provide any additional compensation to its Named Executive Officers for serving as directors of the 
Company. 

The Company’s executive compensation plan for its Named Executive Officers takes into account the 
following considerations: 

• the Named Executive Officer’s prior public company and regulatory experience gained through 
his/her management roles at public mineral exploration and mining companies; 

• the total number of years of the Named Executive Officer’s relevant experience; 

• the Named Executive Officer’s specialized educational and professional qualifications; and 

• the Named Executive Officer’s previous track record of success in providing executive 
management services for junior public mineral exploration and mining companies and creating 
value for shareholders. 

The payment of bonuses during any given annual fiscal period is made at the discretion of the Board if and 
when the Named Executive Officers achieve certain milestones, such as the completion of a major equity 
financing or a significant operational milestone.  Significant operational milestones (benchmarks) include, 
but are not limited to, completion of an exploration and drilling program and finalization of NI 43-101 
technical reports or studies providing an economic assessment of the mineral deposits located at the 
Company’s mineral properties. 

The granting of options to the Named Executive Officers under the Company’s Stock Option Plan provides 
an appropriate long-term incentive to management to create shareholder value. Options are granted to the 
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Named Executive Officers in numbers which recognize on a reasonable basis their specific contribution to 
the Company in their capacities as executive officers of the Company. Previous grants of options to Named 
Executive Officers are taken into consideration by the Board when considering new option grants. 

The granting of options to the independent director of the Company under the Company’s Stock Option 
Plan provides an appropriate long-term incentive to these directors to provide proper oversight to the 
Company with a view to maximizing shareholder value. Options granted to these directors are awarded in 
numbers which recognize, on a reasonable basis, their contributions to the Company in their capacities as 
directors and members of the Audit Committee. Previous grants of options awarded to these directors of 
the Company are taken into consideration when considering new option grants.  

The compensation of the independent director of the Company, which ordinarily would include a monthly 
director’s fee and the granting of options under the Company’s Stock Option Plan, is determined by the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The payment of the 
monthly directors’ fees to the directors who are not Named Executive Officers recognizes their contributions 
to the Company in their capacities as directors and members of the Audit Committee.   

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS 
 
The following table summarizes the number of Common Shares authorized for issuance under the 
Company’s Stock Option Plan, being the only existing equity compensation plan of the Company, as of 
December 31, 2021. 

Plan Category Number of Securities to 
be Issued Upon Exercise 
of Outstanding Options 

(1) 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options(1) 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available for 
Future Issuance Under 
Equity Compensation 
Plans (Excluding the 

Options Reflected Under 
the First Column)(1) 

Equity Compensation 
Plans Approved by 
Securityholders 

550,000 (2) 

 

 

$0.05 1,975,887  (2) 

Equity Compensation 
Plans Not Approved by 
Securityholders 

Nil Not Applicable Nil 

Notes: 
(1) All of these securities are issuable under the Company’s Stock Option Plan. Options to purchase up to 10% 

of the total number of Common Shares issued and outstanding from time to time are issuable pursuant to the 
Stock Option Plan. See “Matters to be Acted Upon at the Meeting – Re-Approval of Stock Option Plan” for a 
description of the material features of the Stock Option Plan. 
 

(2) As at December 31, 2021, the Company had 25,258,869 Common Shares issued and outstanding and 
550,000 stock options issued and outstanding exercisable at $0.05 per share until September 1, 2022. The 
Company has a 10% rolling stock option plan, and as at December 31, 2021, the Company had available to 
it a total of 2,525,887 incentive stock options for grant to directors, officers, employees and service providers, 
of which 550,000 incentive stock options were allocated for issuance.  As a result, as at December 31, 2021, 



27  

the Company had a total of 1,975,887 unallocated and remaining available for issuance under the Company’s 
Stock Option Plan.   

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND RELATIONSHIP WITH AUDITORS 

MI 52-110 requires the Company, as a venture issuer, to disclose annually in its information circular certain 
information relating to the Company’s Audit Committee and its relationship with the Company’s independent 
auditors. 

The Audit Committee’s Charter 

The Company’s Audit Committee is governed by its Audit Committee Charter, a copy of which is annexed 
hereto as Appendix “A”. 

Composition of the Audit Committee 

As of the date of this Information Circular, the Company’s Audit Committee is comprised of all three current 
directors of the Company - being Messrs. Kabir Ahmed, Michael Boyd, and Peter Hogg.  By virtue of their 
roles as senior executive officers of the Company, Messrs. Ahmed and Hogg are not independent for the 
purposes of MI 52-110.  

Mr. Boyd, the other member of the Company’s Audit Committee, is independent for the purposes of MI 52-
110.  All three members of the Audit Committee are financially literate as defined in MI 52-110. 

Relevant Education and Experience 

The education and experience of each member of the Audit Committee that is relevant to the performance 
of his responsibilities as an Audit Committee member is described below. 

 

Name of Member Education Experience 

Kabir Ahmed B.Sc. (Hon), Physiology, University 
of Toronto;  

J.D., LL.M. (Securities Law), 
Osgoode Hall Law School, York 
University;  

M.B.A., Schulich School of Business, 
York University;  

LL.M., Cornell University Law School 

Mr. Ahmed has been either a 
founder or co-founder and President 
and Chief Executive Officer of 
several public resource companies 
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, 
and has more than a decade of 
experience serving as a director and 
audit committee member on the 
boards of directors of public 
companies listed on both the Toronto 
Stock Exchange and the TSX 
Venture Exchange 
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Michael Boyd B.A. (Hon), Western University; 

M.B.A., Ivey School of Business, 
Western University 

Mr. Boyd has formerly served as a 
Managing Director of Merchant 
Banking with HSBC Capital 
(Canada) Inc. from 1997 to 2002; 
and as proprietor of his own 
company, Junior Industrial Finance 
Corp., from 1990 to present.  He has 
also served and continues to serve 
as a member of the audit committee, 
and in some instances, as the chair 
of the audit committee, of a number 
of publicly traded companies.  Mr. 
Boyd is also on the independent 
review committees of three public 
mutual fund groups. 

Peter Hogg B.Comm., University of Toronto; 

Chartered Professional Accountant 
(Ontario) 

Mr. Hogg is a licensed Chartered 
Professional Accountant (CPA) in 
the Province of Ontario. 

Audit Committee Oversight 

Since January 1, 2020, the Board has not failed to adopt a recommendation of the Audit Committee to 
nominate or compensate an external auditor. 

Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

Since January 1, 2020, the Company has not relied on the exemptions contained in section 2.4 or Part 8 
of MI 52-110.  Section 2.4 provides an exemption from the requirement that the Audit Committee must pre-
approve all non-audit services to be provided to the Company and its subsidiaries by the Company’s 
external auditors where the aggregate amount of all non-audit services that were not pre-approved is 
reasonably expected to constitute no more than 5% of the total fees payable by the Company and its 
subsidiaries to the auditors in the fiscal year in which the non-audit services were provided and certain 
other requirements are met. Part 8 permits the Company to apply to a securities regulatory authority for an 
exemption from the requirements of MI 52-110, in whole or in part. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

The Audit Committee has not adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of the 
Company’s auditors to provide non-audit services.  The Audit Committee will review the engagement of the 
Company’s auditors to provide non-audit services as required. 
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External Auditors Service Fees (By Category)  

The fees billed by the Company’s external auditors, McGovern Hurley LLP (1), Chartered Professional 
Accountants, in each of the last two fiscal years are as follows:  

Fiscal Year Ending  
Audit Fees 

  

Audit Related 
Fees(2) 

  
Tax Fees(3) 

  All Other Fees(4) 

December 31, 2021  $4,800  $Nil  $Nil  $Nil 

December 31, 2020  $4,000  $Nil  $Nil  $Nil 

Notes: 

(1) McGovern Hurley LLP (formerly named McGovern, Hurley, Cunningham, LLP) was first appointed 
as the auditors of the Company on February 8, 2008. 

(2) Fees charged for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance 
of an audit, and not included under Audit Fees. 

(3) Fees charged for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning services. 

(4) Fees for services other than disclosed in any other column. 

Exemption 

The Company is relying on the exemption in section 6.1 of MI 52-110 for venture issuers which allows for 
an exemption from Part 5 (Reporting Obligations) of MI 52-110 and permits the use of the short form of 
disclosure relating to its Audit Committee set out in Form 52-110F2. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS 

No officer or director of the Company is, or has at any time since January 1, 2021 been, indebted to the 
Company. 

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS 

During fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, no management functions of the Company are performed to 
any substantial degree by persons other than the directors or executive officers of the Company. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

NP 58-201 contains a series of guidelines for effective corporate governance.  The guidelines deal with 
such matters as the constitution and independence of corporate boards, their functions, the experience and 
education of board members and other items dealing with sound corporate governance. The Company is 
required to provide in this Circular the following disclosure of its corporate governance practices in 
accordance with NI 58-101: 

Board of Directors – As of the date of this Information Circular, there are currently three members of the 
Company’s Board. Mr. Michael Boyd is independent. By virtue of their roles as senior executive officers of 
the Company, Messrs. Mr. Ahmed and Mr. Peter Hogg are not independent. 
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Directorships- Michael Boyd and Peter Hogg are the only directors of the Company who currently hold 
directorships with other reporting issuers, as follows: 

Director Reporting Issuer Stock Exchange and Trading 
Symbol 

Michael Boyd CO2 GRO Inc. 
Exelerate Capital Corp. 

TSX Venture Exchange: GROW 
TSX Venture Exchange: XCAP 

Peter Hogg Cerro Grande Mining Corporation Canadian Securities Exchange: 
CEG 

 
Orientation and Continuing Education- The Company does not currently have an official orientation for 
new directors or a continuing education program for directors. New directors will have the opportunity, as 
required, to become familiar with the Company by meeting with the officers, employees and consultants of 
the Company and being briefed concerning the operations and affairs of the Company. The orientation and 
continuing education activities of the Company will be tailored to the particular needs and experience of 
each director and the overall needs of the board of directors of the Company. 

Ethical Business Conduct- The directors of the Company understand their fiduciary obligations as 
directors of a public company. The Board monitors the ethical conduct of the Company and ensures that it 
complies with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements, including those of all relevant securities 
regulatory authorities and stock exchanges. The Board anticipates that the fiduciary obligations referred to 
above, as well as the restrictions placed on the directors by applicable corporate legislation in respect of 
participation in decisions of the Board in which the particular director has an interest, will be sufficient to 
ensure that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company. 

Nomination of Directors- The full Board is currently responsible for identifying new candidates to serve 
as directors, including candidates to fill any vacancies on the Board.  The directors will consider candidates 
submitted by directors, officers, employees, shareholders and others and may retain search firms for the 
purposes of identifying suitable candidates who meet the level of personal and professional integrity and 
ability it deems appropriate for directors of the Company.  

Compensation - The steps taken to determine the compensation of the directors and Named Executive 
Officers of the Company are set forth above under “Required Annual Disclosure Concerning the Company 
– Executive Compensation – Compensation Disclosure and Analysis”. 

Other Board Committees- The board of directors of the Company does not currently have any standing 
committees other than the Audit Committee. 

Assessments- The directors of the Company and its committees are assessed regularly by the full Board 
with a view to the Board satisfying itself that the Board, its committees, and its individual directors are 
performing effectively. 

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE 

The Company does not carry any policy of insurance, including any coverage for directors’ and officers’ 
insurance.   

The by-laws of the Company also provide for the indemnification of the directors and officers of the 
Company from and against liability and costs in respect of any action or suit against them in connection 
with the execution of their duties of office, subject to certain usual limitations.   
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Financial information is provided in the Company’s comparative financial statements and its management’s 
discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2021. Copies of the Company’s financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, together with the reports of the auditors thereon, 
management’s discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2021 and this Information Circular 
are available upon written request from the Company at c/o Flexwork Properties Ltd., 1 King Street West, 
Suite 4009, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 1A1.  These documents and additional information concerning the 
Company are available under the Company’s profile at www.sedar.com. 

APPROVAL OF DIRECTORS 

This Information Circular and the mailing of same to Shareholders have been approved by the Board.  

 

Date: April 18, 2022  
 By order of the Board, 
  
 (Signed) “Kabir Ahmed” 

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD. 

Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 

I. PURPOSE 

The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is appointed by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Reliant 
Gold Corp. (the “Corporation”) to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to 
financial accounting and reporting process and internal controls for the Corporation. The Committee’s 
primary duties and responsibilities are to: 

• conduct such reviews and discussions with management and the external auditors relating to the 
audit and financial reporting as are deemed appropriate by the Committee;  

• assess the integrity of internal controls and financial reporting procedures of the Corporation and 
ensure implementation of such controls and procedures; 

• ensure that there is an appropriate standard of corporate conduct including, if necessary, adopting 
a corporate code of ethics for senior financial personnel; 

• review the quarterly and annual financial statements and management's discussion and analysis 
of the Corporation’s financial position and operating results and report thereon to the Board for 
approval of same;  

• select and monitor the independence and performance of the Corporation's external auditors, 
including attending at private meetings with the external auditors and reviewing and approving all 
renewals or dismissals of the external auditors and their remuneration; and  

• provide oversight to related party transactions entered into by the Corporation. 

The Committee has the authority to conduct any investigation appropriate to its responsibilities, and it may 
request the external auditors as well as any officer of the Corporation, or outside counsel for the 
Corporation, to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or advisors to, the 
Committee.  The Committee shall have unrestricted access to the books and records of the Corporation 
and has the authority to retain, at the expense of the Corporation, special legal, accounting, or other 
consultants or experts to assist in the performance of the Committee’s duties.  

The Committee shall review and assess the adequacy of this Charter annually and submit any proposed 
revisions to the Board for approval. 

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Committee will carry out the specific duties set out in Part IV of this 
Charter.  

II. AUTHORITY OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Committee shall have the authority to: 

1. engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties;  
 

2. set and pay the compensation for advisors employed by the Committee; and  
 

3. communicate directly with the internal and external auditors. 
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III. COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS 

The Committee and its membership shall meet all applicable legal, regulatory and listing requirements, 
including, without limitation, those of the Ontario Securities Commission (“OSC”), the TSX Venture 
Exchange, the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) and all applicable securities regulatory authorities. 

The Committee shall be composed of three or more directors as shall be designated by the Board from 
time to time. The members of the Committee shall appoint from among themselves a member who shall 
serve as Chair. 

A majority of the members of the Committee shall be “financially literate” (as defined in Multilateral 
Instrument 52-110). 

The Committee shall meet at least quarterly, at the discretion of the Chair or a majority of its members, as 
circumstances dictate or as may be required by applicable legal or listing requirements. A minimum of two 
and at least 50% of the members of the Committee present either in person or by telephone shall constitute 
a quorum. 

If within one hour of the time appointed for a meeting of the Committee, a quorum is not present, the meeting 
shall stand adjourned to the same hour on the next business day following the date of such meeting at the 
same place. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum as hereinbefore specified is not present within one hour 
of the time appointed for such adjourned meeting, such meeting shall stand adjourned to the same hour on 
the second business day following the date of such meeting at the same place. If at the second adjourned 
meeting a quorum as hereinbefore specified is not present, the quorum for the adjourned meeting shall 
consist of the members then present. 

If and whenever a vacancy shall exist, the remaining members of the Committee may exercise all of its 
powers and responsibilities so long as a quorum remains in office.  

The time and place at which meetings of the Committee shall be held, and procedures at such meetings, 
shall be determined from time to time by the Committee. A meeting of the Committee may be called by 
letter, telephone, facsimile, email or other communication equipment, by giving at least 48 hours’ notice, 
provided that no notice of a meeting shall be necessary if all of the members are present either in person 
or by means of conference telephone or if those absent have waived notice or otherwise signified their 
consent to the holding of such meeting. 

Any member of the Committee may participate in the meeting of the Committee by means of conference 
telephone or other communication equipment, and the member participating in a meeting pursuant to this 
paragraph shall be deemed, for purposes hereof, to be present in person at the meeting. 

The Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings which shall be submitted to the Board. The Committee 
may, from time to time, appoint any person who need not be a member, to act as a secretary at any meeting. 

The Committee may invite such officers, directors and employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries 
as the Committee may see fit, from time to time, to attend at meetings of the Committee. 

Any matters to be determined by the Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes cast at a meeting 
of the Committee called for such purpose. Actions of the Committee may be taken by an instrument or 
instruments in writing signed by all of the members of the Committee, and such actions shall be effective 
as though they had been decided by a majority of votes cast at a meeting of the Committee called for such 
purpose. All decisions or recommendations of the Committee shall require the approval of the Board prior 
to implementation. 

The Committee members will be elected annually at the first meeting of the Board following the annual 
general meeting of shareholders. 
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IV. RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. Financial Accounting and Reporting Process and Internal Controls 

1. The Committee shall review the annual audited financial statements to satisfy itself that they are 
presented in accordance with applicable generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and 
report thereon to the Board and recommend to the Board whether or not same should be approved 
prior to their being filed with the appropriate regulatory authorities.  The Committee shall also review 
the interim financial statements. With respect to the annual audited financial statements, the 
Committee shall discuss significant issues regarding accounting principles, practices, and 
judgments of management with management and the external auditors as and when the Committee 
deems it appropriate to do so.  The Committee shall satisfy itself that the information contained in 
the annual audited financial statements is not significantly erroneous, misleading or incomplete and 
that the audit function has been effectively carried out. 

2. The Committee shall review any internal control reports prepared by management and the 
evaluation of such report by the external auditors, together with management’s response. 

3. The Committee shall be satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the 
Corporation’s public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Corporation’s 
financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis and interim earnings press releases, 
and periodically assess the adequacy of these procedures. 

4. The Committee shall review management’s discussion and analysis relating to annual and interim 
financial statements and any other public disclosure documents, including interim earnings press 
releases, that are required to be reviewed by the Committee under any applicable laws before the 
Corporation publicly discloses this information. 

5. The Committee shall meet no less frequently than annually with the external auditors and the Chief 
Financial Officer or, in the absence of a Chief Financial Officer, with the officer of the Corporation 
in charge of financial matters, to review accounting practices, internal controls and such other 
matters as the Committee, Chief Financial Officer or, in the absence of a Chief Financial Officer, 
the officer of the Corporation in charge of financial matters, deem appropriate. 

6. The Committee shall inquire of management and the external auditors about significant risks or 
exposures, both internal and external, to which the Corporation may be subject, and assess the 
steps management has taken to minimize such risks. 

7. The Committee shall review the post-audit or management letter containing the recommendations 
of the external auditors and management’s response and subsequent follow-up to any identified 
weaknesses. 

8. The Committee shall ensure that there is an appropriate standard of corporate conduct including, 
if necessary, adopting a corporate code of ethics for senior financial personnel. 

9. The Committee shall establish procedures for: 

• the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding 
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and 

• the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Corporation of concerns 
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

10. The Committee shall provide oversight to related party transactions entered into by the Corporation.  
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B. Independent Auditors 

• The Committee shall recommend to the Board the external auditors to be nominated, shall set the 
compensation for the external auditors, provide oversight of the external auditors and shall ensure 
that the external auditors report directly to the Committee. 

• The Committee shall be directly responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditors, 
including the resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditors 
regarding financial reporting. 

• The Committee shall pre-approve all audit and non-audit services not prohibited by law to be 
provided by the external auditors in accordance with this Charter. 

• The Committee shall monitor and assess the relationship between management and the external 
auditors and monitor, support and assure the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. 

• The Committee shall review the external auditors’ audit plan, including the scope, procedures and 
timing of the audit. 

• The Committee shall review the results of the annual audit with the external auditors, including 
matters related to the conduct of the audit. 

• The Committee shall obtain timely reports from the external auditors describing critical accounting 
policies and practices, alternative treatments of information within GAAP that were discussed with 
management, their ramifications, and the external auditors' preferred treatment and material written 
communications between the Corporation and the external auditors. 

• The Committee shall review fees paid by the Corporation to the external auditors and other 
professionals in respect of audit and non-audit services on an annual basis. 

• The Committee shall review and approve the Corporation's hiring policies regarding partners, 
employees and former partners and employees of the present and former auditors of the 
Corporation. 

• The Committee shall monitor and assess the relationship between management and the external 
auditors and monitor and support the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. 

C. Other Responsibilities 

The Committee shall perform any other activities consistent with this Charter and governing law, as the 
Committee or the Board deems necessary or appropriate. 
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FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD. 

Procedures for Receipt of Complaints and Submissions 
Relating to Accounting Matters 

The Corporation shall inform employees on the Corporation’s intranet, if there is one, or via a newsletter or 
e-mail that is disseminated to all employees at least annually, of the officer (the “Complaints Officer”) 
designated from time to time by the Committee to whom complaints and submissions can be made 
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters or issues of concern regarding 
questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

The Complaints Officer shall be informed that any complaints or submissions so received must be kept 
confidential and that the identity of employees making complaints or submissions shall be kept confidential 
and shall only be communicated to the Committee or the Chair of the Committee. 

The Complaints Officer shall be informed that he or she must report to the Committee as frequently as such 
Complaints Officer deems appropriate, but in any event no less frequently than on a quarterly basis prior 
to the quarterly meeting of the Committee called to approve interim and annual financial statements of the 
Corporation. 

Upon receipt of a report from the Complaints Officer, the Committee shall discuss the report and take such 
steps as the Committee may deem appropriate. 

The Complaints Officer shall retain a record of a complaint or submission received for a period of six years 
following resolution of the complaint or submission. 
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FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD. 

Procedures for Approval of Non-Audit Services 

The Corporation’s external auditors shall be prohibited from performing for the Corporation the following 
categories of non-audit services: 

• bookkeeping or other services related to the Corporation’s accounting records or financial 
statements; 

• financial information systems design and implementation; 

• appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinion or contributions-in-kind reports; 

• actuarial services; 

• internal audit outsourcing services; 

• management functions; 

• human resources; 

• broker or dealer, investment adviser or investment banking services; 

• legal services; 

• expert services unrelated to the audit; and 

• any other service that the Canadian Public Accountability Board determines is 
impermissible. 

In the event that the Corporation wishes to retain the services of the Corporation’s external auditors for tax 
compliance, tax advice or tax planning, the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation shall consult with the 
Chair of the Committee, who shall have the authority to approve or disapprove on behalf of the Committee, 
such non-audit services. All other non-audit services shall be approved or disapproved by the Committee 
as a whole. 

The Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation shall maintain a record of non-audit services approved by 
the Chair of the Committee or the Committee for each fiscal year and provide a report to the Committee no 
less frequently than on a quarterly basis. 
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Management’s responsibility for financial reporting 
 
The accompanying financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) of Flexwork Properties Ltd. (the “Company” 
or “Flexwork”) were prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). Management acknowledges responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the Financial 
Statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates and the choice of 
accounting principles and methods that are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances. The significant 
accounting policies of the Company are summarized in Note 2 of the Financial Statements. 
 
Management has established processes, which are in place to provide them sufficient knowledge to support 
management representations that they have exercised reasonable diligence that (i) the Financial Statements do 
not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is 
necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as of the 
date of and for the periods presented by the Financial Statements and (ii) the Financial Statements fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company, as of the 
date of and for the periods presented by the Financial Statements.   
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the Financial Statements together with other 
financial information of the Company and for ensuring that management fulfills its financial reporting 
responsibilities. An Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. The Audit 
Committee meets with management to review the financial reporting process and the Financial Statements 
together with other financial information of the Company. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board 
of Directors for its consideration in approving the Financial Statements together with other financial information 
of the Company for issuance to the shareholders.   
 
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with established 
financial standards, and applicable laws and regulations, and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for its 
activities. 
 
Management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) 
 
Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s 
financial reporting. The internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s 
management regarding the preparation and presentation of the Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
“Kabir Ahmed”  “Peter W. Hogg” 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer  
April 16, 2019 

Chief Financial Officer 
April 16, 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Flexwork Properties Ltd. (formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Flexwork Properties Ltd. (formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) (the 
“Company”), which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and 
the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash 
flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net 
loss during the year ended December 31, 2018 and, as of that date, the Company’s current liabilities 
exceeded its current assets. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters as 
set forth in Note 1, indicate that material uncertainties exist that cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

 



 
Page 2 

 

 

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

The engagement partner of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessica Glendinning. 

UHY McGovern Hurley LLP 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
April 16, 2019 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) 
Statements of Financial Position 
(Canadian dollars)  

As at 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31,

2017
 $ $
Assets  
Current assets  
Cash 7,374 103,901
HST receivable 1,806 2,918
Prepaid expenses and deposits 2,560 10,011
Total Assets 11,740 116,830
  
Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables  83,623 9,045
Total Liabilities 83,623 9,045
  
Shareholders’ equity   
Share capital and reserves (note 4) 1,773,555 1,773,555
Deficit (1,845,438) (1,665,770)
Total shareholders’ equity (71,883) 107,785
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 11,740 116,830

 

Going concern (note 1) 

Contingencies (note 10) 

 

 

 

Approved by the Board of Directors on April 16, 2019. 

 

“Kabir Ahmed”  “Michael Boyd” 

Director  Director 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss  
(Canadian dollars)  
 For the years ended

  
December 31,

2018
December 31,

2017
  $ $
Expenses  
Corporate administration (notes 5 and 6) 176,168 89,997 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures (note 3) 3,500 14,456 
Share based compensation (note 4) - 12,638 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year (179,668) (117,091)

    
Net loss per share  
  -basic and diluted   (0.01) (0.01)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
-basic and diluted  23,245,169 23,056,950 

   
 

 

 

 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) 
Statements of Changes in Equity 

 
(Canadian dollars)      

 Share capital 

Share 
based 

payments 

Share 
capital and 

reserves  Deficit Total 
 # $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at December 31, 2016 22,945,169 1,703,197 58,870 1,762,067 (1,564,829) 197,238
Share based compensation - - 12,638 12,638 - 12,638
Shares issued in flow through 300,000 15,000 - 15,000 - 15,000
Warrants issued in flow through - (30) 30 - - -
Expiry of stock options - - (16,150) (16,150) 16,150 -
Net loss for the year - - - - (117,091) (117,091)
Balance at December 31, 2017 23,245,169 1,718,167 55,388 1,773,555 (1,665,770) 107,785
      
      
      
Balance at December 31, 2017 23,245,169 1,718,167 55,388 1,773,555 (1,665,770) 107,785
Net loss for the year - - - - (179,668) (179,668)
Balance at December 31, 2018 23,245,169 1,718,167 55,388 1,773,555 (1,845,438) (71,883)

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) 

 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

Statements of Cash Flows 

(Canadian dollars)   

For the years ended
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2017 
 $ $ 

Operations   
Net loss for the year (179,668) (117,091)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flow from operating activities: 
Share based compensation - 12,638 
Net change in non-cash working capital items:   
HST receivable 1,112 970 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 7,451 (1,985)
Trade and other payables 74,578 2,148 
Cash flows (used in) operating activities (96,527) (103,320)
   
Financing   
Shares issued - 15,000 
Cash flows provided from financing activities - 15,000 
   
Net (decrease) in cash  (96,527) (88,320)
Cash at beginning of year 103,901 192,221 
Cash at end of year 7,374 103,901 
   



Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.)
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 
(Canadian dollars) 
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General 
 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. (formerly Reliant Gold Corp.) (the "Company" or "Flexwork") was incorporated 
pursuant to the laws of Ontario on July 11, 2005. The principal operation of the Company is the acquisition, 
exploration and development of mineral property interests containing precious metals. The Company’s 
common shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol RNG (See also Note 
12). The registered office of the Company is located at 1 King Street West, Suite 4009, Toronto, ON, M5H 
1A1. 
 
1. Basis of preparation, nature of operations and going concern 
 
The business of mining and exploring for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no 
assurance that current exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations. The Company’s 
continued existence is dependent upon the preservation of its interests in the underlying properties, the 
discovery of economically recoverable reserves and the achievement of the Company’s ability to dispose 
of its interests on an advantageous basis.  
 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration 
and in which it has an interest in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of 
such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Property title may be subject to 
government licensing requirements or regulations, social licensing requirements, unregistered prior 
agreements, unregistered claims, aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory requirements. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies applicable to a going concern, 
which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business 
as they become due. Accordingly, these financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that 
would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
The Company is at an early stage of exploration and as is common with many exploration companies, it 
raises financing for its exploration and acquisition activities. The Company had a net loss of $179,668 for 
the year ended December 31, 2018 (2017 - $117,091) and had an accumulated deficit of $1,845,438 (2017 
- $1,665,770).  In addition, the Company had a working capital deficit of $71,883 at December 31, 2018 
(2017 – surplus of $107,785). The Company will require further financing beyond the current level of cash 
to develop its properties and maintain its overhead charges, which is typical for junior exploration 
companies. 
 
While the Company has been successful in securing financing in the past, there is no assurance that it will 
be able to do so in the future. The Company expects to incur further losses in the development of its 
business. If the going concern assumption was not used, then the adjustments required to report the 
Company’s assets and liabilities on a liquidation basis could be material to these financial statements.  
Material uncertainties as mentioned above cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as  
a going concern. 
 
On May 28, 2018, the Company announced that - subject to receipt of approvals from both the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and the Company’s shareholders – the Company proposes to carry out a 
Change of Business (“COB”) pursuant to CSE Policy No. 8, and thereafter, transition to an “Active Real 
Property Acquisition, Management, and Rental Income Company”.  
 
Additionally, on May 28, 2018, at the request of the Company, trading in the Company’s common shares 
on the CSE was halted by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). The halt 
in trading is expected to be lifted upon the Company’s (1) receipt of approvals for the proposed COB from 
the CSE and the Company’s shareholders of record; (2) completion of a proposed concurrent private 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.)
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 
(Canadian dollars) 
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placement financing; and (3) submission of all final documentation to regulatory authorities, including the 
CSE.  
 
Thereafter, on August 30, 2018, the shareholders of the Company approved the Company’s proposed 
change of business and change of name from Reliant Gold Corp. to Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
 
On September 17, 2018, pursuant to an Articles of Amendment, the Company changed its name to 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. Finally, on September 18, 2018, the Company received a letter from the CSE 
providing conditional approval for listing of the Company’s shares on the CSE, subject to completion of the 
proposed concurrent private placement and submission of the final listing fee and any final documentation 
to the CSE.  There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to complete the financing. 
 
Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and their interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements. 
 
Basis of presentation 
These annual financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  In addition, these annual 
financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow 
information. The functional and reporting currency of the Company is the Canadian Dollar. 
 
In the preparation of these annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the 
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 
Financial assets and liabilities  
 
Accounting policy under IFRS 9 applicable from January 1, 2018 
 
Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial assets 
at fair value”, as either FVPL or FVOCI, and “financial assets at amortized costs”, as appropriate. The 
Company determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on the 
Company’s business model and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 
 
All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining their 
classification at FVPL or at amortized cost. The Company has classified amounts receivable held for 
collection of contractual cash flows are measured at amortized cost. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the end 
of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. Amortized cost 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.)
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 
(Canadian dollars) 
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is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance income in the statements of loss. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 
Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short term 
and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge 
relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the statements of financial 
position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense in the statements of loss. The 
Company does not measure any financial assets at FVPL. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 
Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading and 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the assets at 
FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI.  
 
After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the statements of 
comprehensive loss. When the investment is sold, the cumulative gain or loss remains in accumulated 
other comprehensive income or loss and is not reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the statements of loss when the right 
to receive payments is established. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or the 
Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are amounts receivable, which are measured at 
amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to impairment as permitted by 
IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at the time of initial recognition of the 
receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics, including the number of days past due. An impairment loss is reversed in 
subsequent periods if the amount of the expected loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the initial impairment was recognized. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVPL as is 
the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to measure the financial 
liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, which are measured 
at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and in the case of long-term 
debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the 
end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the statements of loss. 
 
 
 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.)
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 
(Canadian dollars) 
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Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires 
with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the statements of loss. 
 
Accounting policy under IAS 39 applicable prior to January 1, 2018 
 
The accounting policy under IAS 39 for the comparative information presented in respect of financial 
assets and liabilities was as follows: 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Loans and receivables: 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Such assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 
 
Other financial liabilities: 
Other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a 
financial liability and of allocating interest and any transaction costs over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of 
the financial liability or (where appropriate) to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Other financial 
liabilities are de-recognized when the obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 
Impairment of financial assets: 
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial 
assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets 
have been negatively impacted. Evidence of impairment could include: 

  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or  
  default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or  
  the likelihood that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organization.  

 
The carrying amount of financial assets is reduced by any impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of amounts receivable, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. When an account receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in profit or 
loss.  
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income (loss) to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.  
 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value: 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statements of financial position are classified using a 
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair 
value hierarchy has the following levels: 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.)
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 
(Canadian dollars) 
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 Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities;  

 Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices); and  

 Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).  

 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
The Company expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and evaluation 
expenditures include acquisition costs of exploration properties, property option payments and evaluation 
activity.  Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, related 
development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for mining 
operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial production, with the exception of 
development costs that give rise to a future benefit. 
 
A portion of the Company’s exploration activities may be conducted jointly with others wherein the 
Company enters into agreements that provide for specified percentage interests in mineral properties. Joint 
venture accounting is applied by the Company only when the parties have earned their respective interests 
and enter into formal comprehensive agreements giving the parties joint control. The Company was not 
party to any joint ventures for accounting purposes, during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
 
Flow-through shares 
Flow-through shares are a unique Canadian tax incentive. The Company has adopted a policy whereby 
flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering of the common shares and the sale of tax 
benefits when the common shares are offered. The allocation is made based on the difference between the 
quoted price of the common shares and the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares. A 
liability is recognized for the premium paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of 
renunciation. The recognition of a deferred income tax liability upon renunciation of the flow through 
expenditures is recorded as income tax expense in the period of renunciation. Any difference between the 
amount of the liability component derecognized and deferred income tax liability recognized is recorded in 
the statement of loss. 
 
The Company has agreed to indemnify the subscribers of its flow-through shares for any tax related 
amounts that become payable by them if the Company fails to meet its expenditure commitments. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand, 
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, and which are readily convertible 
into a known amount of cash. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are invested with major financial 
institutions in business accounts and guaranteed investment certificates that are available on demand by 
the Company for its programs.  The Company did not have any cash equivalents as at December 31, 2018 
and 2017. 
 
Provisions 
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and 
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. 
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The Company had no material provisions at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
 
Share based payment transactions 
The fair value of share options granted to employees is determined at the grant date and recognized as an 
expense over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. An individual is classified as an 
employee when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes (direct employee) or provides 
services similar to those performed by a direct employee, including directors of the Company. 
 
The fair value is recognized over the period during which the options vest. The fair value of the options 
granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were granted. At each reporting date, the amount recognized as an 
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that are expected to vest. For those 
options that expire after vesting, the recorded value is transferred to deficit. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the 
fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in 
which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the 
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. 
 
Income taxes 
Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which 
case it is recognized in equity. 
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to 
previous years. 
 
Deferred tax provides for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it 
probable that a deferred asset will be recovered, the tax asset is not recognized. 
 
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations 
A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may arise 
when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing production of a 
mineral property interest. Such costs discounted to their net present value, are provided for, as soon as the 
obligation to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pretax rate that reflects the time value of 
money are used to calculate the net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the 
economic life of the related asset, through amortization using either a unit-of-production or the straight-line 
method as appropriate. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount 
rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing of the underlying cash 
flows needed to settle the obligation. Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage that is created on an 
ongoing basis during production are provided for at their net present values and charged against profits as 
extraction progresses. 
 
The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs as at December 31, 2018 
and 2017 as the disturbance to date is minimal. 
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Loss per share 
The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing 
the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is determined by adjusting the loss attributable 
to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects 
of all warrants and options outstanding that may add to the total number of common shares. Diluted loss 
per share for the periods presented does not include the effect of stock options and warrants as they are 
anti-dilutive. 
 
Significant accounting judgments and estimates 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgments 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ 
from these estimates. The financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain. The 
impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require accounting 
adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
These estimates are based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future that management has made that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from 
assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Estimation of decommissioning and restoration costs and the timing of expenditure 
Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities are estimated based on the Company’s interpretation of 
current regulatory requirements, constructive obligations and are measured at fair value. Fair value is 
determined based on the net present value of estimated future cash expenditures for the settlement of 
decommissioning, restoration or similar liabilities that may occur upon decommissioning of the mine. Such 
estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and negotiations with 
regulatory authorities. 
 
Income taxes and recoverability of potential deferred tax assets 
Income, value added, withholding and other taxes The Company is subject to income, value added, 
withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is required in determining the Company's provisions for 
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The determination of the Company's income, 
value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations. 
The Company's interpretation of taxation law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with 
the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential 
reassessment subsequent to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax 
related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Share-based payments 
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based non-vested share awards are determined at the 
date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in 
applying valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of 
the stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
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exercise behaviours and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently 
uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 
 
Accounting policy changes 
During 2018, the Company adopted a number of new IFRS standards, interpretations, amendments and 
improvements of existing standards.  These included IFRS 9 and IFRS 2.  These new standards and 
changes did not have any material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which resulted in changes 
in accounting policies as described below. In accordance with the transitional provisions in both standards, 
the Company adopted these standards retrospectively without restating comparatives, with the cumulative 
impact adjusted in the opening balances as at January 1, 2018. There were no effects on opening 
balances at January 1, 2018 with respect to the adoption of this policy. 
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 replaces International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification, measurement and impairment of 
financial assets and hedge accounting. It establishes two primary measurement categories for financial 
assets: (i) amortized cost and (ii) fair value either through profit or loss (“FVPL”) or through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); establishes criteria for the classification of financial assets within each 
measurement category based on business model and cash flow characteristics; and eliminates the existing 
held for trading, held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivable and other financial liabilities 
categories. IFRS 9 also introduces a new expected credit loss model for the purpose of assessing the 
impairment of financial assets and requires that there be a demonstrated economic relationship between 
the hedged item and hedging instrument. 
 
The following table shows the previous classification under IAS 39 and the new classification under IFRS 
9 for the Company’s financial instruments: 
 
 Financial instrument classification 
 Under IAS 39 Under IFRS 9 
Financial assets   
Cash Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Amounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
   
Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 
 
The Company adopted IFRS 9 retrospectively without restating comparatives and therefore the 
comparative information in respect of financial instruments for the year ended December 31, 2017 was 
accounted for in accordance with the Company’s previous accounting policy under IAS 39. 
 
Future accounting pronouncements 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements are 
listed below. Many are not applicable or do not have a significant impact to the Company and have been 
excluded from below. The following have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to determine their 
impact on the Company's financial statements. 
 
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”) was issued by IASB on June 7, 2017 to clarify the 
accounting for uncertainties in income taxes. The interpretation is to be applied to the determination of 
taxable profit/loss, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is 
uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12 Income Taxes. IFRIC 23 is effective January 1, 2019. 
The Company is currently assessing the impact of this new standard on its financial statements. 
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3. Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

 
Years ended

December 31,
  2018 2017 
  $ $ 
East Bay Property  3,500 14,456 
  3,500 14,456 
 
East Bay Property, McVicar Lake, Ontario 

On March 16, 2015, the Company announced it had staked 56 claim units in the McVicar Lake area 
located approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle Lake and 130 kilometres southwest of Goldcorp’s 
Musselwhite Gold Mine. 
 
4. Share capital 
 

(a) Common shares 
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares, with no par value. 
 
As at December 31, 2018, and December 31, 2017 the Company had 23,245,169 common shares issued 
and outstanding. 
 

(i) On August 17, 2017, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 
300,000 Flow-Through units (the “FT Units”) of the Company issued at a price of $0.05 per 
FT Unit for $15,000 in gross proceeds.  Each FT Unit consists of one common share of the 
Company and one common share purchase warrant (each a “FT Warrant”), with each FT 
Warrant entitling the holder to acquire one common share of the Company at a price of 
$0.10 per common share at or before August 17, 2019.  An amount equal to the gross 
proceeds from the flow-through common shares is required to be used to incur Canadian 
exploration expenses, as defined under the Income Tax Act (Canada), that will be 
renounced by the Company in favour of the purchasers of the FT Units with an effective 
date of no later than December 31, 2017.  The 300,000 warrants issued in the private 
placement were allocated a value of $30.  The fair value of these warrants at the date of 
grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 
assumptions:  a two year expected term; 211% expected volatility based on the historical 
prices of the Company’s shares; risk-free interest rate of 1.6% per annum; and an 
expected dividend yield of 0%. 

(b) Warrants 
 

The following summary sets out the continuity for warrants for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 
December 31, 2017: 

 
 

Warrants 
Weighted average 

exercise price
 # $

  
Outstanding, December 31, 2016 (note 4 (a) (i)) 600,000 0.05
Granted (note 4 (a) (i)) 300,000 0.10
Outstanding, December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018 900,000 0.06

As at December 31, 2018, the Company had 600,000 warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $0.05 
expiring on May 26, 2021 and 300,000 warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $0.10 expiring on 
August 17, 2019. 
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(c) Options 
 
As at December 31, 2018, there were 2,324,517 common shares available for the grant of stock options to 
directors, officers, employees and service providers in connection with the Company’s stock option plan 
(the “Plan”). The Plan is a 10% rolling option plan based on the number of common shares issued and 
outstanding.  
 
As at December 31, 2018, there were 2,050,000 stock options outstanding and exercisable and 274,517 
left unallocated.  
 
The following summary sets out the activity in the Plan over the years ended December 31, 2018 and 
December 31, 2017: 

 
 

Options 
Weighted average 

exercise price
 # $

Outstanding, December 31, 2016 1,900,000 0.06
Granted 650,000 0.05
Expired/forfeited (500,000) 0.10
Outstanding, December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018 2,050,000 0.05
Options exercisable, December 31, 2017 and December 31, 
2018 2,050,000 0.05

 
The following table sets out the details of the stock options granted and outstanding as at December 31, 
2018: 
 
Number of stock 

options 
Number  

exercisable 
Remaining 

contractual life
Exercise price per 

share Expiry date
900,000 900,000 0.92 years $0.05 December 3, 2019
100,000 100,000 2.13 years $0.05 February 17, 2021
100,000 100,000 2.38 years $0.05 May 16, 2021
100,000 100,000 2.42 years $0.05 June 1, 2021
200,000 200,000 2.47 years $0.05 June 21, 2021
650,000 650,000 3.67 years $0.05 September 1, 2022

2,050,000 2,050,000 2.15 years  
 
On September 1, 2017, the Company granted incentive stock options to acquire an aggregate of 650,000 
common shares of the Company at an exercise price of $0.05 per share to certain directors and officers of 
the Company pursuant to the Company’s stock option plan.  These options, which vest immediately, will 
expire on September 1, 2022.  250,000 of these options were granted to two directors in order to replace 
250,000 incentive stock options granted to them that had expired, unexercised, on July 5, 2017.  The fair 
value of all these options at the date of grant of $0.02 was estimated using the Black- Scholes option 
valuation model with the following assumptions: a five year expected term; 211% expected volatility based 
on the historical prices of the Company’s shares; risk-free interest rate of 1.60% per annum; and an 
expected dividend yield of 0%. The grant date fair value assigned to all these options was $12,638. 
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5. Corporate administration and general 
 

 
Years ended 

December 31,
 2018 2017
 $ $
Wages and director fees 55,700 44,800
Office 6,252 6,147
Insurance 5,076 5,076
Audit and legal fees 65,130 14,956
Reporting issuer costs 44,010 18,998
  176,168 89,997

 
 
6. Remuneration of key management personnel and related-party transactions 
 
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors, the President/CEO and the 
CFO. Compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows: 
 

 
 Years ended 

December 31, 
   2018 2017 
   $ $ 
Share based compensation - 12,638
Fees, wages and directors fees 115,685 49,800
 115,685 62,438

 
Salaries and benefits include director fees. The Board of Directors and officers, other than the Chief 
Financial Officer, do not have employment or service contracts with the Company. Directors are entitled to 
director fees and stock options for their services and officers are entitled to stock options for their services. 
As at December 31, 2018, $71,300 (2017 - $nil) was owing to directors or officers.  This amount is 
unsecured, non-interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment. 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions. 
 
7. Income taxes 
 
Provision for income taxes 
The following table reconciles the expected income tax provision at the statutory income tax rate of 26.5% 
(2017 – 26.5%) to the amounts recognized in the statements of loss: 
 Years ended 

December 31
 2018 2017
 $ $
Loss before income taxes (179,668) (117,091)
Expected income tax (recovery) based on statutory rate (47,600) (31,000)
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:  
Share-based compensation - 3,000
Differences in expected statutory rate and other - 2,000
Change in tax losses not recognized 47,600 26,000
Deferred income tax recovery - -
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Deductible temporary differences 
Deferred tax assets in respect of the following temporary differences have not been recognized for 
accounting purposes as it is not probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deferred 
tax assets can be utilized: 
 
 2018 2017
 $ $
Non-capital losses 1,111,000 1,058,000
Exploration property interests 309,000 309,000
Capital losses 82,000 82,000
 1,502,000 1,449,000
 
Tax loss carry-forwards 
As at December 31, 2018, the Company had approximately $nil (2017 - $nil), $254,000 (2017 - $268,000) 
and $41,000 (2017 - $41,000) of Canadian development expenditures, Canadian exploration expenditures, 
and foreign resource expenditures, respectively, which, under certain circumstances, may be utilized to 
reduce taxable income of future years. 
 
As at December 31, 2018, the Company has non-capital loss carry forwards expiring as follows: 
 Total
 $
2029 97,000
2030 350,000
2032 72,000
2033 26,000
2034 228,000
2035 72,000
2037 90,000
2038 176,000
 1,111,000
 
8. Capital risk management 
 
The Company manages its capital with the following objectives: 
 

 to ensure sufficient financial flexibility to achieve the ongoing business objectives including funding 
of future growth opportunities, and pursuit of accretive acquisitions; and  

 to maximize shareholder return through enhancing the share value. 
 
The Company monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments according to market conditions in an 
effort to meet its objectives given the current outlook of the business and industry in general. The Company 
may manage its capital structure by issuing new shares, repurchasing outstanding shares, adjusting capital 
spending, or disposing of assets. The capital structure is reviewed by management and the Board of 
Directors on an ongoing basis. The Company considers its capital to be equity, which comprises share 
capital, reserves and deficit, which at December 31, 2018, totaled a deficit of $71,883 (2017 – surplus of 
$107,785). 
 
The Company manages capital through its financial and operational forecasting processes. The Company 
reviews its working capital and forecasts its future cash flows based on operating expenditures, and other 
investing and financing activities. The forecast is updated based on activities related to its exploration 
properties. Selected information is provided to the Board of Directors of the Company. The Company’s 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. (Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.)
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 
(Canadian dollars) 

 

  P a g e  | 19 

 

capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. 
 
The Company is in the process of searching for financing alternatives. While there is no assurance these 
funds can be raised, the Company believes such financing will be available as required. 
 
9. Financial risk management 
 
Financial risk 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including interest rate, foreign currency risk and commodity and equity price risk). 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular 
guidance for overall risk management. 
 
There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
 
Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and HST receivable. Cash is held with select major 
Canadian chartered banks, from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 
 
HST receivable consists of sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada.  Management 
believes that the credit risk with respect to HST receivable is minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if 
its access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its 
financing activities. As at December 31, 2018, the Company had cash of $7,374 (2017- $103,901) to settle 
current liabilities of $83,623 (2017 - $9,045).  All of the Company's financial liabilities have contractual 
maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms.  The Company regularly evaluates 
its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity. 
 
Further financing is required for working capital expenditures and/or acquisitions and/or exploration plans 
during the next twelve months. While there is no assurance these funds can be raised, the Company 
believes such financing will be available as required. The Company's discretionary exploration activities do 
have considerable scope for flexibility in terms of the amount and timing of exploration expenditures, and 
expenditures may be adjusted accordingly. 
 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices. 

 
Interest rate risk 
The Company has cash balances. The Company's current policy is to invest excess cash in 
certificates of deposit issued by a Canadian chartered bank with which it keeps its bank accounts. The 
Company periodically monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the creditworthiness of 
its Canadian chartered bank. 
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Foreign currency risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is 
minimal. 
 
Commodity and equity price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is 
defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price 
movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, as they relate to 
precious and base metals and other minerals, and the stock market to determine the appropriate 
course of action to be taken by the Company. 
 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future 
profitability and viability of development depend upon the world market price of precious and base 
metals and other minerals. Precious and base metals and other mineral prices have fluctuated widely 
in recent years. There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals 
and other minerals are produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.  
 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company was not a precious minerals, base metals and other minerals 
producer. Even so, commodity price risk may affect the completion of future equity transactions such 
as equity offerings and the exercise of stock options and warrants. This may also affect the 
Company's liquidity and its ability to meet its ongoing obligations. 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices.  

 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve month period: 
 

 The Company receives low interest rates on its cash balances and, as such, the Company does 
not have significant interest rate risk. 

 The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign 
exchange risk. 

 
10. Contingencies 
 
The Company's exploration activities are subject to government laws and regulations, including tax laws 
and laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company believes that its 
operations comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and regulations. The 
Company records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's estimate at the time. 
Such estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of current and previous flow-through share offerings against 
any tax related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting 
its expenditure commitments. 
 
 
 



 

 
 P a g e | 1 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended 
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 P a g e | 2 

 

Management’s responsibility for financial reporting 
 
The accompanying financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) of Flexwork Properties Ltd. (the “Company” 
or “Flexwork”) were prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). Management acknowledges responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the Financial 
Statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates and the choice of 
accounting principles and methods that are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances. The significant 
accounting policies of the Company are summarized in Note 2 of the Financial Statements. 
 
Management has established processes, which are in place to provide them sufficient knowledge to support 
management representations that they have exercised reasonable diligence that (i) the Financial Statements do 
not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is 
necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as of the 
date of and for the periods presented by the Financial Statements and (ii) the Financial Statements fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company, as of the 
date of and for the periods presented by the Financial Statements.   
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the Financial Statements together with other 
financial information of the Company and for ensuring that management fulfills its financial reporting 
responsibilities. An Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. The Audit 
Committee meets with management to review the financial reporting process and the Financial Statements 
together with other financial information of the Company. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board 
of Directors for its consideration in approving the Financial Statements together with other financial information 
of the Company for issuance to the shareholders.   
 
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with established 
financial standards, and applicable laws and regulations, and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for its 
activities. 
 
Management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) 
 
Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s 
financial reporting. The internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s 
management regarding the preparation and presentation of the Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
“Kabir Ahmed”  “Peter W. Hogg” 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer  
April 28, 2020 

Chief Financial Officer 
April 28, 2020 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Flexwork Properties Ltd. 

 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Flexwork Properties Ltd. (the “Company”), which 

comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss, statements of changes in equity and statements of 
cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 

audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company 
incurred a net loss during the year ended December 31, 2019 and, as of that date, the 
Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets. As stated in Note 1, these events or 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that material uncertainties 
exist that cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our 

opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
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the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 

process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 

is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
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ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessica 
Glendinning. 
 
McGovern Hurley LLP 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
April 28, 2020 
 



 

 
 P a g e | 6 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Financial Position 
(Canadian dollars)   

As at 
December 31, 

2019 
December 31, 

2018 
 $ $ 
Assets   
Current assets   
Cash 1,422 7,374 
HST receivable 659 1,806 
Prepaid expenses and deposits - 2,560 
Total Assets 2,081 11,740 
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables (note 6) 100,881 83,623 
Total Liabilities 100,881 83,623 
   
Shareholders’ equity    
Share capital and reserves (note 4) 1,756,802 1,773,555 
Deficit (1,855,602) (1,845,438) 
Total shareholders’ equity (98,800) (71,883) 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,081 11,740 
 
Going concern (note 1) 
Contingencies (note 10) 
Subsequent Events (notes 3 and 11) 
 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on April 28, 2020. 
 

“Kabir Ahmed”  “Michael Boyd” 

Director  Director 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss  
(Canadian dollars)     
  For the years ended 

   
December 31, 

2019 
December 31, 

2018 
   $ $ 
Expenses     
Corporate administration (notes 5 and 6)   26,917 176,168 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures (note 3)   - 3,500 
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year   (26,917) (179,668) 
     
Net loss per share  
  -basic and diluted   (0.00) (0.01) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
-basic and diluted   23,245,169 23,245,169 

     
 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Changes in Equity 
 
(Canadian dollars)       

 Share capital 

Share 
based 

payments 

Share 
capital and 

reserves  Deficit Total 
 # $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at December 31, 2018 23,245,169 1,718,167 55,388 1,773,555 (1,845,438) (71,883) 
Expiry of warrants  - - (30) (30) 30 - 
Expiry of stock options - - (16,723) (16,723) 16,723 - 
Net loss for the year - - - - (26,917) (26,917) 
Balance at December 31, 2019 23,245,169 1,718,167 38,635 1,756,802 (1,855,602) (98,800) 
       
       
       
Balance at December 31, 2017 23,245,169 1,718,167 55,388 1,773,555 (1,665,770) 107,785 
Net loss for the year - - - - (179,668) (179,668) 
Balance at December 31, 2018 23,245,169 1,718,167 55,388 1,773,555 (1,845,438) (71,883) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

Statements of Cash Flows 
(Canadian dollars)   
 For the years ended 

 
December 31, 

2019 
December 31, 

2018 
 $ $ 

Operations   
Net loss for the year (26,917) (179,668) 
Net change in non-cash working capital items:   
HST receivable 1,147 1,112 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 2,560 7,451 
Trade and other payables 17,258 74,578 
Cash flows (used in) operating activities (5,952) (96,527) 
   
Financing   
Cash flows provided from financing activities - - 
   
Net (decrease) in cash  (5,952) (96,527) 
Cash at beginning of year 7,374 103,901 
Cash at end of year 1,422 7,374 
   



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 
(Canadian dollars) 
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General 
 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. (the "Company" or "Flexwork") was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Ontario 
on July 11, 2005.  The Company’s common shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange under 
the symbol RNG. The registered office of the Company is located at 1 King Street West, Suite 4009, 
Toronto, ON, M5H 1A1. 
 
1. Basis of preparation, nature of operations and going concern 
 
The business of mining and exploring for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no 
assurance that exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations.  
 
Although the Company had taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration 
and in which it has an interest in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of 
such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Property title may be subject to 
government licensing requirements or regulations, social licensing requirements, unregistered prior 
agreements, unregistered claims, aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory requirements.  
Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the claims related to the Company’s only exploration and evaluation 
property lapsed.  See note 3. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies applicable to a going concern, 
which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business 
as they become due. Accordingly, these financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that 
would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
The Company has a need for equity financing for working capital.  The Company had a net loss of $26,917 
for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018 - $179,668) and had an accumulated deficit of $1,855,602 
(2018 - $1,845,438).  In addition, the Company had a working capital deficit of $98,800 at December 31, 
2019 (2018 – $71,883). The Company will require further financing beyond the current level of cash to 
maintain its overhead charges and to complete its proposed change of business. 
 
While the Company has been successful in securing financing in the past, there is no assurance that it will 
be able to do so in the future. The Company expects to incur further losses in the development of its 
business. If the going concern assumption was not used, then the adjustments required to report the 
Company’s assets and liabilities on a liquidation basis could be material to these financial statements.  
Material uncertainties as mentioned above cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. 
 
On May 28, 2018, the Company announced that - subject to receipt of approvals from both the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and the Company’s shareholders – the Company proposes to carry out a 
Change of Business (“COB”) pursuant to CSE Policy No. 8, and thereafter, transition to an “Active Real 
Property Acquisition, Management, and Rental Income Company”. 
 
Additionally, on May 28, 2018, at the request of the Company, trading in the Company’s common shares 
on the CSE was halted by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). The halt 
in trading is expected to be lifted upon the Company’s (1) receipt of approvals for the proposed COB from 
the CSE and the Company’s shareholders of record; (2) completion of a proposed concurrent private 
placement financing; and (3) submission of all final documentation to regulatory authorities, including the 
CSE. 
 
Thereafter, on August 30, 2018, the shareholders of the Company approved the Company’s proposed 
change of business and change of name from Reliant Gold Corp. to Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 
(Canadian dollars) 
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On September 17, 2018, pursuant to an Articles of Amendment, the Company changed its name to 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. Finally, on September 18, 2018, the Company received a letter from the CSE 
providing conditional approval for listing of the Company’s shares on the CSE, subject to completion of the 
proposed concurrent private placement and submission of the final listing fee and any final documentation 
to the CSE.  As of December 31, 2019 and April 28, 2020, the financing has not been completed.  There is 
no guarantee that the Company will be able to complete the financing and listing on the CSE. 
 
Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and their interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements. 
 
Basis of presentation 
These annual financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  In addition, these annual 
financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow 
information. The functional and reporting currency of the Company is the Canadian Dollar. 
 
In the preparation of these annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the 
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 
Financial assets and liabilities  
 
Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial assets 
at fair value”, as either FVPL or FVOCI, and “financial assets at amortized costs”, as appropriate. The 
Company determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on the 
Company’s business model and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 
 
All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
The Company has classified cash and amounts receivable held for collection of contractual cash flows at 
amortized cost. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the end 
of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. Amortized cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance income in the statements of loss. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 
Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short term 
and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge 
relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the statements of financial 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 
(Canadian dollars) 

 

  P a g e  | 12 

 

position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense in the statements of loss. The 
Company does not measure any financial assets at FVPL. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 
Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading and 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the assets at 
FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI.  
 
After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the statements of 
comprehensive loss. When the investment is sold, the cumulative gain or loss remains in accumulated 
other comprehensive income or loss and is not reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the statements of loss when the right 
to receive payments is established. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or the 
Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are amounts receivable, which are measured at 
amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to impairment as permitted by 
IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at the time of initial recognition of the 
receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics, including the number of days past due. An impairment loss is reversed in 
subsequent periods if the amount of the expected loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the initial impairment was recognized. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVPL as is 
the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to measure the financial 
liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, which are measured 
at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and in the case of long-term 
debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the 
end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the statements of loss. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the statements of loss. 
 

 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
The Company expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and evaluation 
expenditures include acquisition costs of exploration properties, property option payments and evaluation 
activity.  Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, related 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 
(Canadian dollars) 
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development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for mining 
operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial production, with the exception of 
development costs that give rise to a future benefit. 
 
A portion of the Company’s exploration activities may be conducted jointly with others wherein the 
Company enters into agreements that provide for specified percentage interests in mineral properties. Joint 
venture accounting is applied by the Company only when the parties have earned their respective interests 
and enter into formal comprehensive agreements giving the parties joint control. The Company was not 
party to any joint ventures for accounting purposes, during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
Flow-through shares 
Flow-through shares are a unique Canadian tax incentive. The Company has adopted a policy whereby 
flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering of the common shares and the sale of tax 
benefits when the common shares are offered. The allocation is made based on the difference between the 
quoted price of the common shares and the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares. A 
liability is recognized for the premium paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of 
renunciation. The recognition of a deferred income tax liability upon renunciation of the flow through 
expenditures is recorded as income tax expense in the period of renunciation. Any difference between the 
amount of the liability component derecognized and deferred income tax liability recognized is recorded in 
the statement of loss. 
 
The Company has agreed to indemnify the subscribers of its flow-through shares for any tax related 
amounts that become payable by them if the Company fails to meet its expenditure commitments. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand, 
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, and which are readily convertible 
into a known amount of cash. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are invested with major financial 
institutions in business accounts and guaranteed investment certificates that are available on demand by 
the Company for its programs.  The Company did not have any cash equivalents as at December 31, 2019 
and 2018. 
 
Provisions 
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and 
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. 
The Company had no material provisions at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
Share based payment transactions 
The fair value of share options granted to employees is determined at the grant date and recognized as an 
expense over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. An individual is classified as an 
employee when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes (direct employee) or provides 
services similar to those performed by a direct employee, including directors of the Company. 
 
The fair value is recognized over the period during which the options vest. The fair value of the options 
granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were granted. At each reporting date, the amount recognized as an 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 
(Canadian dollars) 
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expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that are expected to vest. For those 
options that expire after vesting, the recorded value is transferred to deficit. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the 
fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in 
which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the 
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. 
 
Income taxes 
Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which 
case it is recognized in equity. 
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to 
previous years. 
 
Deferred tax provides for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it 
probable that a deferred asset will be recovered, the tax asset is not recognized. 
 
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations 
A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may arise 
when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing production of a 
mineral property interest. Such costs discounted to their net present value, are provided for, as soon as the 
obligation to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pretax rate that reflects the time value of 
money are used to calculate the net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the 
economic life of the related asset, through amortization using either a unit-of-production or the straight-line 
method as appropriate. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount 
rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing of the underlying cash 
flows needed to settle the obligation. Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage that is created on an 
ongoing basis during production are provided for at their net present values and charged against profits as 
extraction progresses. 
 
The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs as at December 31, 2019 
and 2018 as the disturbance to date is minimal. 
 
Loss per share 
The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing 
the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is determined by adjusting the loss attributable 
to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects 
of all warrants and options outstanding that may add to the total number of common shares. Diluted loss 
per share for the periods presented does not include the effect of stock options and warrants as they are 
anti-dilutive. 
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Significant accounting judgments and estimates 
 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgments 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ 
from these estimates. The financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain. The 
impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require accounting 
adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
These estimates are based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future that management has made that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from 
assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Estimation of decommissioning and restoration costs and the timing of expenditure 
Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities are estimated based on the Company’s interpretation of 
current regulatory requirements, constructive obligations and are measured at fair value. Fair value is 
determined based on the net present value of estimated future cash expenditures for the settlement of 
decommissioning, restoration or similar liabilities that may occur upon decommissioning of the mine. Such 
estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and negotiations with 
regulatory authorities. 
 
Income taxes and recoverability of potential deferred tax assets 
Income, value added, withholding and other taxes The Company is subject to income, value added, 
withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is required in determining the Company's provisions for 
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The determination of the Company's income, 
value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations. 
The Company's interpretation of taxation law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with 
the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential 
reassessment subsequent to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax 
related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Share-based payments 
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based non-vested share awards are determined at the 
date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in 
applying valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of 
the stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
exercise behaviours and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently 
uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 
 
Contingencies 
See notes 1 and 10. 
 
Accounting policy changes 
During 2019, the Company adopted new IFRS standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements 
of existing standards.   
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Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”) was issued by IASB on June 7, 2017 to clarify the 
accounting for uncertainties in income taxes. The interpretation is to be applied to the determination of 
taxable profit/loss, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is 
uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12 Income Taxes. IFRIC 23 is effective January 1, 2019. 
The Company determined there was no impact of this new standard on its financial statements. 
 
Future accounting pronouncements 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements are 
not applicable or do not have a significant impact to the Company and have been excluded.  
 
3. Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

  
Years ended 

December 31, 
   2019 2018 
   $ $ 
East Bay Property   - 3,500 
   - 3,500 
 
East Bay Property, McVicar Lake, Ontario 

On March 16, 2015, the Company announced it had staked claim in the McVicar Lake area located 
approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle Lake and 130 kilometres southwest of Goldcorp’s Musselwhite 
Gold Mine.  On February 2, 2020, the mineral claims that constitute the East Bay property lapsed without 
being renewed. 
 
4. Share capital 
 

(a) Common shares 
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares, with no par value. 
 
As at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 the Company had 23,245,169 common shares issued and 
outstanding. 
 

(b) Warrants 
The following summary sets out the continuity for warrants for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 
December 31, 2018: 

 
 

Warrants 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
 # $ 

   
Outstanding, December 31, 2018 and 2017 900,000 0.06 
Expired – August 17, 2019 (300,000) (0.10) 
Outstanding, December 31, 2019 600,000 0.05 

 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had 600,000 warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $0.05 
expiring on May 26, 2021.  300,000 warrants expired unexercised on August 17, 2019. 
 

(c) Options 
 
As at December 31, 2019, there were 2,324,517 common shares available for the grant of stock options to 
directors, officers, employees and service providers in connection with the Company’s stock option plan 
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(the “Plan”). The Plan is a 10% rolling option plan based on the number of common shares issued and 
outstanding.  As at December 31, 2019, there were 1,150,000 stock options outstanding and exercisable 
and 1,174,517 left unallocated.  
 
The following summary sets out the activity in the Plan over the years ended December 31, 2019 and 
December 31, 2018: 

 
 

Options 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
 # $ 

Outstanding, December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018 2,050,000 0.05 
Expired (900,000) 0.05 
Options exercisable, December 31, 2019 1,150,000 0.05 

 
The following table sets out the details of the stock options granted and outstanding as at December 31, 
2019: 
 

Number of stock 
options 

Number  
exercisable 

Remaining 
contractual life 

Exercise price per 
share Expiry date 

100,000 100,000 1.13 years $0.05 February 17, 2021 
100,000 100,000 1.38 years $0.05 May 16, 2021 
100,000 100,000 1.42 years $0.05 June 1, 2021 
200,000 200,000 1.47 years $0.05 June 21, 2021 
650,000 650,000 2.67 years $0.05 September 1, 2022 

1,150,000 1,150,000 2.10 years   
 
See also note 11. 
 
5. Corporate administration and general 

 
 Years ended  

December 31, 
   2019 2018 
   $ $ 
Wages and director fees   6,500 55,700 
Office   504 6,252 
Insurance   - 5,076 
Audit and legal fees   3,700 65,130 
Reporting issuer costs   16,213 44,010 
    26,917 176,168 

 
6. Remuneration of key management personnel and related-party transactions 
 
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors, the President/CEO and the 
CFO. Compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows: 

 
 Years ended  

December 31, 
   2019 2018 
   $ $ 
Share based compensation   - - 
Fees, wages and directors fees   6,500 115,685 
   6,500 115,685 
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Salaries and benefits include director fees. The Board of Directors and officers, other than the Chief 
Financial Officer, do not have employment or service contracts with the Company. Directors are entitled to 
director fees and stock options for their services and officers are entitled to stock options for their services. 
As at December 31, 2019, $94,806 (2018 - $71,300) was owing to directors or officers.  This amount is 
unsecured, non-interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment. 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions. 
 
7. Income taxes 
 
Provision for income taxes 
The following table reconciles the expected income tax provision at the statutory income tax rate of 26.5% 
(2018 – 26.5%) to the amounts recognized in the statements of loss: 
 Years ended  

December 31 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
Loss before income taxes (26,917) (179,668) 
Expected income tax (recovery) based on statutory rate (7,100) (47,600) 
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:   
Change in tax losses not recognized 7,100 47,600 
Deferred income tax recovery - - 
 
Deductible temporary differences 
Deferred tax assets in respect of the following temporary differences have not been recognized for 
accounting purposes as it is not probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deferred 
tax assets can be utilized: 
  
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
Non-capital losses 1,138,000 1,111,000 
Exploration property interests 295,000 309,000 
Capital losses 82,000 82,000 
 1,515,000 1,502,000 
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Tax loss carry-forwards 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had approximately $nil (2018 - $nil), $254,000 (2018 - $254,000) 
and $41,000 (2018 - $41,000) of Canadian development expenditures, Canadian exploration expenditures, 
and foreign resource expenditures, respectively, which, under certain circumstances, may be utilized to 
reduce taxable income of future years. 
 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company has non-capital loss carry forwards expiring as follows: 
 Total 
 $ 
2029 97,000 
2030 350,000 
2032 72,000 
2033 26,000 
2034 228,000 
2035 72,000 
2037 90,000 
2038 176,000 
2039 27,000 
 1,138,000 
 
8. Capital risk management 
 
The Company manages its capital with the following objectives: 
 

 to ensure sufficient financial flexibility to achieve the ongoing business objectives including funding 
of future growth opportunities, and pursuit of accretive acquisitions; and  

 to maximize shareholder return through enhancing the share value. 
 
The Company monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments according to market conditions in an 
effort to meet its objectives given the current outlook of the business and industry in general. The Company 
may manage its capital structure by issuing new shares, repurchasing outstanding shares, adjusting capital 
spending, or disposing of assets. The capital structure is reviewed by management and the Board of 
Directors on an ongoing basis. The Company considers its capital to be equity, which comprises share 
capital, reserves and deficit, which at December 31, 2019, totaled a deficit of $98,800 (2018 – $71,883). 
 
The Company manages capital through its financial and operational forecasting processes. The Company 
reviews its working capital and forecasts its future cash flows based on operating expenditures, and other 
investing and financing activities. The forecast is updated based on activities related to its exploration 
properties. Selected information is provided to the Board of Directors of the Company. The Company’s 
capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. 
 
The Company is in the process of searching for financing alternatives. While there is no assurance these 
funds can be raised, the Company believes such financing will be available as required. 
 
9. Financial risk management 
 
Financial risk 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including foreign currency risk and commodity and equity price risk). 
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Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular 
guidance for overall risk management. 
 
There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and HST receivable. Cash is held with a major 
Canadian chartered bank, from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 
 
HST receivable consists of sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada.  Management 
believes that the credit risk with respect to HST receivable is minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if 
its access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its 
financing activities. As at December 31, 2019, the Company had cash of $1,422 (2018- $7,374) to settle 
current liabilities of $100,881 (2018 - $83,623).  All of the Company's financial liabilities have contractual 
maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms.  The Company regularly evaluates 
its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity. 
 
Further financing is required for working capital expenditures and/or acquisitions and/or exploration plans 
during the next twelve months. While there is no assurance these funds can be raised, the Company 
believes such financing will be available as required. The Company's discretionary exploration activities do 
have considerable scope for flexibility in terms of the amount and timing of exploration expenditures, and 
expenditures may be adjusted accordingly. 
 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is 
minimal. 
 
Commodity and equity price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is 
defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price 
movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, as they relate to 
precious and base metals and other minerals, and the stock market to determine the appropriate 
course of action to be taken by the Company. 
 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future 
profitability and viability of development depend upon the world market price of precious and base 
metals and other minerals. Precious and base metals and other mineral prices have fluctuated widely 
in recent years. There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals 
and other minerals are produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.  
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices.  
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Sensitivity analysis 
 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve month period: 
 

 The Company receives low interest rates on its cash balances and, as such, the Company does 
not have significant interest rate risk. 

 The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign 
exchange risk. 

 
10. Contingencies 
 
The Company's exploration activities are subject to government laws and regulations, including tax laws 
and laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company believes that its 
operations comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and regulations. The 
Company records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's estimate at the time. 
Such estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of current and previous flow-through share offerings against 
any tax related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting 
its expenditure commitments. 
 
11. Subsequent Events 
 
Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”)  
The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 
outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-19. 
The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the ability of 
others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 
geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length of 
travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a significant 
outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health crisis that 
could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic 
downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its operations. 
 
Expiry of Options 
100,000 stock options set to originally expire on May 16, 2021 and an additional 100,000 set to expire on 
September 1, 2022 have now expired unexercised on February 7, 2020 in accordance with the terms of the 
stock option plan. 
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Management’s responsibility for financial reporting 
 
The accompanying financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) of Flexwork Properties Ltd. (the “Company” 
or “Flexwork”) were prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). Management acknowledges responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the Financial 
Statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates and the choice of 
accounting principles and methods that are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances. The significant 
accounting policies of the Company are summarized in Note 2 of the Financial Statements. 
 
Management has established processes, which are in place to provide them sufficient knowledge to support 
management representations that they have exercised reasonable diligence that (i) the Financial Statements do 
not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is 
necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as of the 
date of and for the periods presented by the Financial Statements and (ii) the Financial Statements fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company, as of the 
date of and for the periods presented by the Financial Statements.   
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the Financial Statements together with other 
financial information of the Company and for ensuring that management fulfills its financial reporting 
responsibilities. An Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. The Audit 
Committee meets with management to review the financial reporting process and the Financial Statements 
together with other financial information of the Company. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board 
of Directors for its consideration in approving the Financial Statements together with other financial information 
of the Company for issuance to the shareholders.   
 
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with established 
financial standards, and applicable laws and regulations, and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for its 
activities. 
 
Management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) 
 
Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s 
financial reporting. The internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s 
management regarding the preparation and presentation of the Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
“Kabir Ahmed”  “Peter W. Hogg” 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer  
March 24, 2021 

Chief Financial Officer 
March 24, 2021 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Flexwork Properties Ltd.  

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Flexwork Properties Ltd.  (the “Company”), which 

comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss, statements of changes in equity and statements of 
cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 

audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company 
incurred a net loss during the year ended December 31, 2020 and, as of that date, the Company 
had a working capital deficit. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other 
matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that material uncertainties exist that cast significant doubt 
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
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the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 

process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 

is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessica 
Glendinning. 
 
McGovern Hurley LLP 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
March 24, 2021 
 



 

 
 P a g e | 6 

 

 
 

Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Financial Position 
(Canadian dollars)   

As at 
December 31, 

2020 
December 31, 

2019 
 $ $ 
Assets   
Current assets   
Cash 935 1,422 
HST receivable 451 659 
Total Assets 1,386 2,081 
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables (note 6) 91,425 100,881 
Total Liabilities 91,425 100,881 
   
Shareholders’ deficit    
Share capital and reserves (note 4) 1,792,699 1,756,802 
Deficit (1,882,738) (1,855,602) 
Total shareholders’ deficit (90,039) (98,800) 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit 1,386 2,081 
 
Going concern (note 1) 
Contingencies (note 10) 
Subsequent events (note 12) 
 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on March 24, 2021. 
 

“Kabir Ahmed”  “Michael Boyd” 

Director  Director 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss  
(Canadian dollars)     
  For the years ended 

   
December 31, 

2020 
December 31, 

2019 
   $ $ 
Expenses     
Corporate administration (notes 5 and 6)   31,513 26,917 
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year   (31,513) (26,917) 
     
Net loss per share  
  -basic and diluted   (0.00) (0.00) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
-basic and diluted   23,416,196 23,245,169 
     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Changes in Equity 
 
(Canadian dollars)       

 Share capital 

Share 
based 

payments 

Share 
capital and 

reserves  Deficit Total 
 # $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at December 31, 2019 23,245,169 1,718,167 38,635 1,756,802 (1,855,602) (98,800) 
Capital stock issued  2,013,700 40,274 - 40,274 - 40,274 
Expiry of stock options - - (4,377) (4,377) 4,377 - 
Net loss for the year - - - - (31,513) (31,513) 
Balance at December 31, 2020 25,258,869 1,758,441 34,258 1,792,699 (1,882,738) (90,039) 
       
       
       
Balance at December 31, 2018 23,245,169 1,718,167 55,388 1,773,555 (1,845,438) (71,883) 
Expiry of warrants  - - (30) (30) 30 - 
Expiry of stock options - - (16,723) (16,723) 16,723 - 
Net loss for the year - - - - (26,917) (26,917) 
Balance at December 31, 2019 23,245,169 1,718,167 38,635 1,756,802 (1,855,602) (98,800) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 

Supplemental Information 
 
 

 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

Statements of Cash Flows 
(Canadian dollars)   
 For the years ended 

 
December 31, 

2020 
December 31, 

2019 
 $ $ 

Operations   
Net loss for the year (31,513) (26,917) 
Net change in non-cash working capital items:   
HST receivable 208 1,147 
Prepaid expenses and deposits - 2,560 
Trade and other payables 30,818 17,258 
Cash flows (used in) operating activities (487) (5,952) 
   
Net (decrease) in cash  (487) (5,952) 
Cash at beginning of year 1,422 7,374 
Cash at end of year 935 1,422 
   

Issuance of shares for debt 40,274 - 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
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General 
 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. (the "Company" or "Flexwork") was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Ontario 
on July 11, 2005.  The Company’s common shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange under 
the symbol RNG. The registered office of the Company is located at 1 King Street West, Suite 4009, 
Toronto, ON, M5H 1A1. 
 
1. Basis of preparation, nature of operations and going concern 
 
The Company has historically been in the resource industry.  The business of mining and exploring for 
minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no assurance that exploration programs will result 
in profitable mining operations.  
 
Although the Company had taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration 
and in which it has an interest in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of 
such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Property title may be subject to 
government licensing requirements or regulations, social licensing requirements, unregistered prior 
agreements, unregistered claims, aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory requirements.  On 
February 2, 2020, the claims related to the Company’s only exploration and evaluation property lapsed.  
See note 3. 
 
On May 28, 2018, the Company announced that - subject to receipt of approvals from both the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and the Company’s shareholders – the Company proposes to carry out a 
Change of Business (“COB”) pursuant to CSE Policy No. 8, and thereafter, transition to an “Active Real 
Property Acquisition, Management, and Rental Income Company”. 
 
Additionally, on May 28, 2018, at the request of the Company, trading in the Company’s common shares 
on the CSE was halted by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). The halt 
in trading is expected to be lifted upon the Company’s (1) receipt of approvals for the proposed COB from 
the CSE and the Company’s shareholders of record; (2) completion of a proposed concurrent private 
placement financing; and (3) submission of all final documentation to regulatory authorities, including the 
CSE. 
 
Thereafter, on August 30, 2018, the shareholders of the Company approved the Company’s proposed 
change of business and change of name from Reliant Gold Corp. to Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
 
On September 17, 2018, pursuant to an Articles of Amendment, the Company changed its name to 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. Finally, on September 18, 2018, the Company received a letter from the CSE 
providing conditional approval for listing of the Company’s shares on the CSE, subject to completion of the 
proposed concurrent private placement and submission of the final listing fee and any final documentation 
to the CSE.  As of December 31, 2020 and March 24, 2021, the financing has not been completed.  There 
is no guarantee that the Company will be able to complete the financing and listing on the CSE. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies applicable to a going concern, 
which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business 
as they become due. Accordingly, these financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that 
would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
The Company has a need for equity financing for working capital.  The Company had a net loss of $31,513 
for the year ended December 31, 2020 (2019 - $26,917) and had an accumulated deficit of $1,882,738 
(2019 - $1,855,602).  In addition, the Company had a working capital deficit of $90,039 at December 31, 
2020 (2019 – $98,800). The Company will require further financing beyond the current level of cash to 
maintain its overhead charges and to complete its proposed change of business. 
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While the Company has been successful in securing financing in the past, there is no assurance that it will 
be able to do so in the future. The Company expects to incur further losses in the development of its 
business. If the going concern assumption was not used, then the adjustments required to report the 
Company’s assets and liabilities on a liquidation basis could be material to these financial statements.  
Material uncertainties as mentioned above cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. 
 
Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and their interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements. 
 
Basis of presentation 
These annual financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  In addition, these annual 
financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow 
information. The functional and reporting currency of the Company is the Canadian Dollar. 
 
In the preparation of these annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the 
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 
Financial assets and liabilities  
 
Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial assets 
at fair value”, as either “fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) or “fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI), and “financial assets at amortized costs”, as appropriate. The Company determines the 
classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on the Company’s business model 
and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 
 
All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
The Company has classified cash and amounts receivable held for collection of contractual cash flows at 
amortized cost. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the end 
of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. Amortized cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance income in the statements of loss. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 
Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short term 
and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge 
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relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the statements of financial 
position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense in the statements of loss. The 
Company does not measure any financial assets at FVPL. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 
Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading and 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the assets at 
FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI.  
 
After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the statements of 
comprehensive loss. When the investment is sold, the cumulative gain or loss remains in accumulated 
other comprehensive income or loss and is not reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the statements of loss when the right 
to receive payments is established. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or the 
Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are amounts receivable, which are measured at 
amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to impairment as permitted by 
IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at the time of initial recognition of the 
receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics, including the number of days past due. An impairment loss is reversed in 
subsequent periods if the amount of the expected loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the initial impairment was recognized. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVPL as is 
the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to measure the financial 
liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, which are measured 
at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and in the case of long-term 
debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the 
end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the statements of loss. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the statements of loss. 

 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
The Company expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and evaluation 
expenditures include acquisition costs of exploration properties, property option payments and evaluation 
activity.  Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, related 
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development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for mining 
operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial production, with the exception of 
development costs that give rise to a future benefit. 
 
A portion of the Company’s exploration activities may be conducted jointly with others wherein the 
Company enters into agreements that provide for specified percentage interests in mineral properties. Joint 
venture accounting is applied by the Company only when the parties have earned their respective interests 
and enter into formal comprehensive agreements giving the parties joint control. The Company was not 
party to any joint ventures for accounting purposes, during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
Flow-through shares 
Flow-through shares are a unique Canadian tax incentive. The Company has adopted a policy whereby 
flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering of the common shares and the sale of tax 
benefits when the common shares are offered. The allocation is made based on the difference between the 
quoted price of the common shares and the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares. A 
liability is recognized for the premium paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of 
renunciation. The recognition of a deferred income tax liability upon renunciation of the flow through 
expenditures is recorded as income tax expense in the period of renunciation. Any difference between the 
amount of the liability component derecognized and deferred income tax liability recognized is recorded in 
the statement of loss. 
 
The Company has agreed to indemnify the subscribers of its flow-through shares for any tax related 
amounts that become payable by them if the Company fails to meet its expenditure commitments. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand, 
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, and which are readily convertible 
into a known amount of cash. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are invested with major financial 
institutions in business accounts and guaranteed investment certificates that are available on demand by 
the Company for its programs.  The Company did not have any cash equivalents as at December 31, 2020 
and 2019. 
 
Provisions 
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and 
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. 
The Company had no material provisions at December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
Share based payment transactions 
The fair value of share options granted to employees is determined at the grant date and recognized as an 
expense over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. An individual is classified as an 
employee when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes (direct employee) or provides 
services similar to those performed by a direct employee, including directors of the Company. 
 
The fair value is recognized over the period during which the options vest. The fair value of the options 
granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were granted. At each reporting date, the amount recognized as an 
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expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that are expected to vest. For those 
options that expire after vesting, the recorded value is transferred to deficit. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the 
fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in 
which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the 
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. 
 
Income taxes 
Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which 
case it is recognized in equity. 
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to 
previous years. 
 
Deferred tax provides for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it 
probable that a deferred asset will be recovered, the tax asset is not recognized. 
 
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations 
A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may arise 
when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing production of a 
mineral property interest. Such costs discounted to their net present value, are provided for, as soon as the 
obligation to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pretax rate that reflects the time value of 
money are used to calculate the net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the 
economic life of the related asset, through amortization using either a unit-of-production or the straight-line 
method as appropriate. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount 
rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing of the underlying cash 
flows needed to settle the obligation. Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage that is created on an 
ongoing basis during production are provided for at their net present values and charged against profits as 
extraction progresses. 
 
The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs as at December 31, 2020 
and 2019 as the disturbance to date is minimal. 
 
Loss per share 
The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing 
the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is determined by adjusting the loss attributable 
to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects 
of all warrants and options outstanding that may add to the total number of common shares. Diluted loss 
per share for the periods presented does not include the effect of stock options and warrants as they are 
anti-dilutive. 
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Significant accounting judgments and estimates 
 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgments 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ 
from these estimates. The financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain. The 
impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require accounting 
adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
These estimates are based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future that management has made that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from 
assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Estimation of decommissioning and restoration costs and the timing of expenditure 
Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities are estimated based on the Company’s interpretation of 
current regulatory requirements, constructive obligations and are measured at fair value. Fair value is 
determined based on the net present value of estimated future cash expenditures for the settlement of 
decommissioning, restoration or similar liabilities that may occur upon decommissioning of the mine. Such 
estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and negotiations with 
regulatory authorities. 
 
Income taxes and recoverability of potential deferred tax assets 
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the Company's provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Company 
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. The determination of the Company's income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities 
requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company's interpretation of taxation law as 
applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax 
related filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent to the financial 
statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Share-based payments 
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based non-vested share awards are determined at the 
date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in 
applying valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of 
the stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
exercise behaviours and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently 
uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 
 
Contingencies 
See notes 1 and 10. 
 
Accounting policy changes 
During 2020, the Company did not adopt new IFRS standards, interpretations, amendments and 
improvements of existing standards.   
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Future accounting pronouncements 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements are 
not applicable or do not have a significant impact to the Company and have been excluded.  
 
3. Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
 
East Bay Property, McVicar Lake, Ontario 

On March 16, 2015, the Company announced it had staked claim in the McVicar Lake area located 
approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle Lake and 130 kilometres southwest of Goldcorp’s Musselwhite 
Gold Mine.  On February 2, 2020, the mineral claims that constitute the East Bay property lapsed without 
being renewed. 
 
4. Share capital 
 

(a) Common shares 
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares, with no par value. 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had 25,258,869 common shares issued and outstanding after 
issuing 2,013,700 common shares at $0.02 per share on November 30, 2020 for $40,274 in settlement of 
outstanding liabilities.  As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had 23,245,169 common shares 
issued and outstanding. 
 

(b) Warrants 
The following summary sets out the continuity for warrants for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
December 31, 2019: 

 
 

Warrants 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
 # $ 

   
Outstanding, January 1, 2019 900,000 0.05 
Expired 2019 (300,000) 0.05 
Outstanding, December 31, 2019 and 2020 600,000 0.05 

 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had 600,000 warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $0.05 
expiring on May 26, 2021. 
 

(c) Options 
 
As at December 31, 2020, there were 2,525,887 common shares available for the grant of stock options to 
directors, officers, employees and service providers in connection with the Company’s stock option plan 
(the “Plan”). The Plan is a 10% rolling option plan based on the number of common shares issued and 
outstanding.  As at December 31, 2020, there were 950,000 stock options outstanding and exercisable and 
1,575,887 left unallocated.  
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The following summary sets out the activity in the Plan over the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
December 31, 2019: 

 
 

Options 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
 # $ 

Outstanding, January 1, 2019 2,050,000 0.05 
Expired (900,000) 0.05 
Outstanding, December 31, 2019 1,150,000 0.05 
Expired (200,000) 0.05 
Options exercisable, December 31, 2020 950,000 0.05 

 
The following table sets out the details of the stock options granted and outstanding as at December 31, 
2020: 
 

Number of stock 
options 

Number  
exercisable 

Remaining 
contractual life 

Exercise price per 
share Expiry date 

*100,000 100,000 0.13 years $0.05 February 17, 2021 
100,000 100,000 0.42 years $0.05 June 1, 2021 
200,000 200,000 0.47 years $0.05 June 21, 2021 
550,000 550,000 1.67 years $0.05 September 1, 2022 
950,000 950,000 0.85 years   

 
*100,000 stock options expired unexercised on February 17, 2021. 
 
5. Corporate administration and general 

 
 Years ended  

December 31, 
   2020 2019 
   $ $ 
Wages and director fees   6,700 6,500 
Office   349 504 
Audit and legal fees   3,980 3,700 
Reporting issuer costs   20,484 16,213 
    31,513 26,917 

 
6. Remuneration of key management personnel and related-party transactions 
 
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors, the President/CEO and the 
CFO. Compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows: 

 
 Years ended  

December 31, 
   2020 2019 
   $ $ 
Share based compensation   - - 
Fees, wages and directors fees   6,700 6,500 
   6,700 6,500 

 
Salaries and benefits include director fees. The Board of Directors and officers, other than the Chief 
Financial Officer, do not have employment or service contracts with the Company. Directors are entitled to 
director fees and stock options for their services and officers are entitled to stock options for their services. 
As at December 31, 2020, $86,848 (2019 - $94,806) was owing to directors or officers.  This amount is 
unsecured, non-interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment.  On November 30, 2020, the Company 
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settled $40,274 of accounts payable due to the CEO by issuing 2,013,700 common shares.  Refer also to 
Note 4. 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions. 
 
7. Income taxes 
 
Provision for income taxes 
The following table reconciles the expected income tax provision at the statutory income tax rate of 26.5% 
(2019 – 26.5%) to the amounts recognized in the statements of loss: 
 Years ended  

December 31 
 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Loss before income taxes (31,513) (26,917) 
Expected income tax (recovery) based on statutory rate (8,350) (7,100) 
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:   
Change in tax losses not recognized 8,350 7,100 
Deferred income tax recovery - - 
 
Deductible temporary differences 
Deferred tax assets in respect of the following temporary differences have not been recognized for 
accounting purposes as it is not probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deferred 
tax assets can be utilized: 
  
 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Non-capital losses 1,169,000 1,138,000 
Exploration property interests 295,000 295,000 
Capital losses 82,000 82,000 
 1,546,000 1,515,000 
 
Tax loss carry-forwards 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had approximately $nil (2019 - $nil), $254,000 (2019 - $254,000) 
and $41,000 (2019 - $41,000) of Canadian development expenditures, Canadian exploration expenditures, 
and foreign resource expenditures, respectively, which, under certain circumstances, may be utilized to 
reduce taxable income of future years. 
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As at December 31, 2020, the Company has non-capital loss carry forwards expiring as follows: 
 Total 
 $ 
2029 97,000 
2030 350,000 
2032 72,000 
2033 26,000 
2034 228,000 
2035 72,000 
2037 90,000 
2038 176,000 
2039 27,000 
2040 31,000 
 1,169,000 
 
8. Capital risk management 
 
The Company manages its capital with the following objectives: 
 

 to ensure sufficient financial flexibility to achieve the ongoing business objectives including funding 
of future growth opportunities, and pursuit of accretive acquisitions; and  

 to maximize shareholder return through enhancing the share value. 
 
The Company monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments according to market conditions in an 
effort to meet its objectives given the current outlook of the business and industry in general. The Company 
may manage its capital structure by issuing new shares, repurchasing outstanding shares, adjusting capital 
spending, or disposing of assets. The capital structure is reviewed by management and the Board of 
Directors on an ongoing basis. The Company considers its capital to be equity, which comprises share 
capital, reserves and deficit, which at December 31, 2020, totaled a deficit of $90,039 (2019 – $98,800). 
 
The Company manages capital through its financial and operational forecasting processes. The Company 
reviews its working capital and forecasts its future cash flows based on operating expenditures, and other 
investing and financing activities. The forecast is updated based on activities related to its exploration 
properties. Selected information is provided to the Board of Directors of the Company. The Company’s 
capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.  The Company is not subject to any capital requirements 
imposed by a lending institution or regulatory body. 
 
The Company is in the process of searching for financing alternatives. While there is no assurance these 
funds can be raised, the Company believes such financing will be available as required. 
 
9. Financial risk management 
 
Financial risk 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including foreign currency risk and commodity and equity price risk). 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular 
guidance for overall risk management. 
 
There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
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Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and HST receivable. Cash is held with a major 
Canadian chartered bank, from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 
 
HST receivable consists of sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada.  Management 
believes that the credit risk with respect to HST receivable is minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if 
its access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its 
financing activities. As at December 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $935 (2019 - $1,422) to settle 
current liabilities of $91,425 (2019 - $100,881).  All of the Company's financial liabilities have contractual 
maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms.  The Company regularly evaluates 
its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity. 
 
Further financing is required for working capital expenditures and/or acquisitions during the next twelve 
months. While there is no assurance these funds can be raised, the Company believes such financing will 
be available as required. 
 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is 
minimal. 
 
Commodity and other price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is 
defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price 
movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, as they relate to 
precious and base metals and other minerals, and the stock market to determine the appropriate 
course of action to be taken by the Company. 
 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future 
profitability and viability of development depend upon the world market price of precious and base 
metals and other minerals. Precious and base metals and other mineral prices have fluctuated widely 
in recent years. There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals 
and other minerals are produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.  
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices.  
 

Sensitivity analysis 
 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve month period: 
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 The Company receives low interest rates on its cash balances and, as such, the Company does 
not have significant interest rate risk. 

 The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign 
exchange risk. 

 
10. Contingencies 
 
The Company's past exploration activities are subject to government laws and regulations, including tax 
laws and laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company believes that its 
operations complied in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and regulations. The 
Company records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's estimate at the time.  
Such estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of previous flow-through share offerings against any tax 
related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 
11. COVID-19 
 
Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) 
The COVID-19 pandemic is causing a widespread health crisis that has affected economies and financial 
markets around the world resulting in an economic downturn. In response to the outbreak, governmental 
authorities in Canada and internationally have introduced various recommendations and measures to try to 
limit the pandemic, including travel restrictions, border closures, non-essential business closures, 
quarantines, self-isolations, shelters-in-place and social distancing. The COVID-19 outbreak and the 
response of governmental authorities to try to limit it are having a significant impact on the private sector 
and individuals, including unprecedented business, employment and economic disruptions. The continued 
spread of COVID-19 nationally and globally could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business, 
operations and financial results, as well as a deterioration of general economic conditions including a 
possible national or global recession. Due to the speed with which the COVID-19 situation is developing 
and the uncertainty of its magnitude, outcome and duration, it is not possible to estimate its impact on the 
Company’s business, operations or financial results, including the Company’s ability to secure financing 
and complete the transaction disclosed in the below subsequent events note. 
 
12. Subsequent events 
 
On February 17, 2021, 100,000 stock options expired unexercised. 
 
On March 15, 2021, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation agreement (the "Definitive 
Agreement") with Blockchain Venture Capital Inc. ("BVCI"), to complete an amalgamation, pursuant to 
Section 174 of the Ontario Business Corporations Act (the "OBCA"), resulting in a reverse takeover (the 
"RTO") of the Company by the shareholders of BVCI. Upon completion of the RTO, the combined entity 
(the "Resulting Issuer") will continue to carry on the business of BVCI and the Resulting Issuer will change 
its name to "Blockchain Venture Capital Inc.", or such other name as the parties may agree (the "Name 
Change"). 
 
The proposed RTO between the Company and BVCI, if completed, will constitute a Fundamental Change 
as that term is defined under the policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "Exchange" or the 
"CSE"). As such, the closing of the RTO is subject to the receipt of all necessary approvals, including 
without limitation, the receipt of all requisite approvals from the shareholders of the Company and BVCI, 
respectively, and receipt of regulatory approval for the RTO and listing of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of the Resulting Issuer (the "Resulting Issuer Shares") on the Exchange. There is no 
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certainty that the proposed RTO transaction will be completed or that the Resulting Issuer will be approved 
for listing on the CSE.  
 
In addition, by way of the press release dated March 16, 2021, the Company has announced two related 
transactions, including a proposed share consolidation of the Company's share capital, and a proposed 
debt settlement of approximately $97,000 currently owing to two directors of the Company. There is no 
certainty that any of these transactions including the RTO will be completed or that the Company will 
receive the requisite shareholder or regulatory approvals.  
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Management’s responsibility for financial reporting 
 
The accompanying financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) of Flexwork Properties Ltd. (the “Company” 
or “Flexwork”) were prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). Management acknowledges responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the Financial 
Statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates and the choice of 
accounting principles and methods that are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances. The significant 
accounting policies of the Company are summarized in Note 2 of the Financial Statements. 
 
Management has established processes, which are in place to provide them sufficient knowledge to support 
management representations that they have exercised reasonable diligence that (i) the Financial Statements do 
not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is 
necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as of the 
date of and for the periods presented by the Financial Statements and (ii) the Financial Statements fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company, as of the 
date of and for the periods presented by the Financial Statements.   
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the Financial Statements together with other 
financial information of the Company and for ensuring that management fulfills its financial reporting 
responsibilities. An Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. The Audit 
Committee meets with management to review the financial reporting process and the Financial Statements 
together with other financial information of the Company. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board 
of Directors for its consideration in approving the Financial Statements together with other financial information 
of the Company for issuance to the shareholders.   
 
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with established 
financial standards, and applicable laws and regulations, and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for its 
activities. 
 
Management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) 
 
Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s 
financial reporting. The internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s 
management regarding the preparation and presentation of the Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
“Kabir Ahmed”  “Peter W. Hogg”
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer  
February 4, 2022 

Chief Financial Officer 
February 4, 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Flexwork Properties Ltd.  

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Flexwork Properties Ltd.  (the “Company”), which 
comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the 
statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), statements of changes in equity 
and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company 
incurred a net loss during the year ended December 31, 2021 and, as of that date, the Company 
had a working capital deficit. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other 
matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that material uncertainties exist that cast significant doubt 
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
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the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessica 
Glendinning. 
 
McGovern Hurley LLP 

  
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
February 4, 2022 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Financial Position 
(Canadian dollars)  

As at 
December 31, 

2021 
December 31,

2020
 $ $
Assets  
Current assets  
Cash 27,446 935
HST receivable 405 451
Prepaid expenses and deposits 520 -
Total Assets 28,371 1,386
  
Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables (note 6) 101,295 91,425
Total Liabilities 101,295 91,425
  
Shareholders’ deficit   
Share capital and reserves (note 4) 1,769,135 1,792,699
Deficit (1,842,059) (1,882,738)
Total shareholders’ deficit (72,924) (90,039)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit 28,371 1,386
 
Going concern (note 1) 
Contingencies (note 10) 
Other (note 12) 
 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on February 4, 2022. 
 

“Kabir Ahmed”  “Michael Boyd” 

Director  Director 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss)  
(Canadian dollars)   
 For the years ended

  
December 31, 

2021 
December 31,

2020
  $ $
Expenses  
Corporate administration (notes 5 and 6) 32,885 31,513
Non-refundable advance from BVCI (note 12) (50,000) -
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income 

(loss) for the year 17,115 (31,513)
   
Net earnings (loss) per share  
  -basic and diluted  0.00 (0.00)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
-basic and diluted  25,258,869 23,416,196
   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Statements of Changes in Equity 
 
(Canadian dollars)      

 Share capital 

Share 
based 

payments 

Share 
capital and 

reserves  Deficit Total 
 # $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at December 31, 2020 25,258,869 1,758,441 34,258 1,792,699 (1,882,738) (90,039)
Expiry of warrants  - - (14,800) (14,800) 14,800 -
Expiry of stock options - - (8,764) (8,764) 8,764 -
Net income for the year - - - - 17,115 17,115
Balance at December 31, 2021 25,258,869 1,758,441 10,694 1,769,135 (1,842,059) (72,924)
  
  
  
Balance at December 31, 2019 23,245,169 1,718,167 38,635 1,756,802 (1,855,602) (98,800)
Capital stock issued  2,013,700 40,274 - 40,274 - 40,274
Expiry of stock options - - (4,377) (4,377) 4,377 -
Net loss for the year - - - - (31,513) (31,513)
Balance at December 31, 2020 25,258,869 1,758,441 34,258 1,792,699 (1,882,738) (90,039)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Flexwork Properties Ltd. 

Supplemental Information 
 
 

 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

Statements of Cash Flows 
(Canadian dollars)   

For the years ended
December 31, 

2021 
December 31, 

2020
 $ $

Operations  
Net income (loss) for the year 17,115 (31,513)
Net change in non-cash working capital items:   
HST receivable 46 208
Prepaid expenses and deposits (520) -
Trade and other payables 9,870 30,818
Cash flows provided (used in) operating activities 26,511 (487)
  
Net increase (decrease) in cash  26,511 (487)
Cash at beginning of year 935 1,422
Cash at end of year 27,446 935
  

Issuance of shares for debt - 40,274



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
(Canadian dollars) 
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General 
 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. (the "Company" or "Flexwork") was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Ontario 
on July 11, 2005.  The Company’s common shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange under 
the symbol RNG. The registered office of the Company is located at 1 King Street West, Suite 4009, 
Toronto, ON, M5H 1A1. 
 
1. Basis of preparation, nature of operations and going concern 
 
The Company has historically been in the resource industry.  The business of mining and exploring for 
minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no assurance that exploration programs will result 
in profitable mining operations.  
 
Although the Company had taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration 
and in which it has an interest in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of 
such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Property title may be subject to 
government licensing requirements or regulations, social licensing requirements, unregistered prior 
agreements, unregistered claims, aboriginal claims, and non-compliance with regulatory requirements.  On 
February 2, 2020, the claims related to the Company’s only exploration and evaluation property lapsed.  
See note 3. 
 
On May 28, 2018, the Company announced that - subject to receipt of approvals from both the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and the Company’s shareholders – the Company proposes to carry out a 
Change of Business (“COB”) pursuant to CSE Policy No. 8, and thereafter, transition to an “Active Real 
Property Acquisition, Management, and Rental Income Company”. 
 
Additionally, on May 28, 2018, at the request of the Company, trading in the Company’s common shares 
on the CSE was halted by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). The halt 
in trading is expected to be lifted upon the Company’s (1) receipt of approvals for the proposed COB from 
the CSE and the Company’s shareholders of record; (2) completion of a proposed concurrent private 
placement financing; and (3) submission of all final documentation to regulatory authorities, including the 
CSE. 
 
Thereafter, on August 30, 2018, the shareholders of the Company approved the Company’s proposed 
change of business and change of name from Reliant Gold Corp. to Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
 
On September 17, 2018, pursuant to an Articles of Amendment, the Company changed its name to 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. Finally, on September 18, 2018, the Company received a letter from the CSE 
providing conditional approval for listing of the Company’s shares on the CSE, subject to completion of the 
proposed concurrent private placement and submission of the final listing fee and any final documentation 
to the CSE.  As of December 31, 2021 and February 4, 2022, the financing has not been completed and 
the Company has now withdrawn from the proposed financing.  Instead, the Company is currently pursuing 
a proposed reverse takeover (RTO) with Blockchain Venture Capital Inc.  There is no certainty that the 
Company will receive the requisite shareholder and regulatory approvals for the proposed RTO, or that the 
Company will be able to complete the proposed RTO.  Refer to Note 12 and the Company’s press release 
dated March 16, 2021 for additional details. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies applicable to a going concern, 
which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business 
as they become due. Accordingly, these financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that 
would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
(Canadian dollars) 
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The Company has a need for equity financing for working capital.  The Company had a net income of 
$17,115 for the year ended December 31, 2021 (2020 – net loss of $31,513) and had an accumulated 
deficit of $1,842,059 (2020 - $1,882,738).  In addition, the Company had a working capital deficit of 
$72,924 at December 31, 2021 (2020 – $90,039). The Company will require further financing beyond the 
current level of cash to maintain its overhead charges and to complete its proposed change of business. 
 
While the Company has been successful in securing financing in the past, there is no assurance that it will 
be able to do so in the future. The Company expects to incur further losses in the development of its 
business. If the going concern assumption was not used, then the adjustments required to report the 
Company’s assets and liabilities on a liquidation basis could be material to these financial statements.  
Material uncertainties as mentioned above cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. 
 
Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and their interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements. 
 
Basis of presentation 
These annual financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  In addition, these annual 
financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow 
information. The functional and reporting currency of the Company is the Canadian Dollar. 
 
In the preparation of these annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the 
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 
Financial assets and liabilities  
 
Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial assets 
at fair value”, as either “fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) or “fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI), and “financial assets at amortized costs”, as appropriate. The Company determines the 
classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on the Company’s business model 
and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 
 
All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
The Company has classified cash and amounts receivable held for collection of contractual cash flows at 
amortized cost. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the end 
of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. Amortized cost 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
(Canadian dollars) 
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is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance income in the statements of loss. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 
Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short term 
and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge 
relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the statements of financial 
position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense in the statements of loss. The 
Company does not measure any financial assets at FVPL. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 
Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading and 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the assets at 
FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI.  
 
After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the statements of 
comprehensive loss. When the investment is sold, the cumulative gain or loss remains in accumulated 
other comprehensive income or loss and is not reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the statements of loss when the right 
to receive payments is established. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or the 
Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are amounts receivable, which are measured at 
amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to impairment as permitted by 
IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at the time of initial recognition of the 
receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics, including the number of days past due. An impairment loss is reversed in 
subsequent periods if the amount of the expected loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the initial impairment was recognized. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVPL as is 
the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to measure the financial 
liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, which are measured 
at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and in the case of long-term 
debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at the 
end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the statements of loss. 
 
 
 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
(Canadian dollars) 

 

  P a g e  | 13 
 

Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the statements of loss. 

 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
The Company expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and evaluation 
expenditures include acquisition costs of exploration properties, property option payments and evaluation 
activity.  Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, related 
development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for mining 
operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial production, with the exception of 
development costs that give rise to a future benefit. 
 
A portion of the Company’s exploration activities may be conducted jointly with others wherein the 
Company enters into agreements that provide for specified percentage interests in mineral properties. Joint 
venture accounting is applied by the Company only when the parties have earned their respective interests 
and enter into formal comprehensive agreements giving the parties joint control. The Company was not 
party to any joint ventures for accounting purposes, during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
Flow-through shares 
Flow-through shares are a unique Canadian tax incentive. The Company has adopted a policy whereby 
flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering of the common shares and the sale of tax 
benefits when the common shares are offered. The allocation is made based on the difference between the 
quoted price of the common shares and the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares. A 
liability is recognized for the premium paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of 
renunciation. The recognition of a deferred income tax liability upon renunciation of the flow through 
expenditures is recorded as income tax expense in the period of renunciation. Any difference between the 
amount of the liability component derecognized and deferred income tax liability recognized is recorded in 
the statement of loss. 
 
The Company has agreed to indemnify the subscribers of its flow-through shares for any tax related 
amounts that become payable by them if the Company fails to meet its expenditure commitments. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand, 
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, and which are readily convertible 
into a known amount of cash. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are invested with major financial 
institutions in business accounts and guaranteed investment certificates that are available on demand by 
the Company for its programs.  The Company did not have any cash equivalents as at December 31, 2021 
and 2020. 
 
Provisions 
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and 
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. 
The Company had no material provisions at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
 
 



Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
(Canadian dollars) 
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Share based payment transactions 
The fair value of share options granted to employees is determined at the grant date and recognized as an 
expense over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. An individual is classified as an 
employee when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes (direct employee) or provides 
services similar to those performed by a direct employee, including directors of the Company. 
 
The fair value is recognized over the period during which the options vest. The fair value of the options 
granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were granted. At each reporting date, the amount recognized as an 
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that are expected to vest. For those 
options that expire after vesting, the recorded value is transferred to deficit. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the 
fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in 
which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the 
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. 
 
Income taxes 
Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which 
case it is recognized in equity. 
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to 
previous years. 
 
Deferred tax provides for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it 
probable that a deferred asset will be recovered, the tax asset is not recognized. 
 
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations 
A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may arise 
when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing production of a 
mineral property interest. Such costs discounted to their net present value, are provided for, as soon as the 
obligation to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pretax rate that reflects the time value of 
money are used to calculate the net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the 
economic life of the related asset, through amortization using either a unit-of-production or the straight-line 
method as appropriate. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount 
rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing of the underlying cash 
flows needed to settle the obligation. Costs for restoration of subsequent site damage that is created on an 
ongoing basis during production are provided for at their net present values and charged against profits as 
extraction progresses. 
 
The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs as at December 31, 2021 
and 2020 as the disturbance to date is minimal. 
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Earnings (Loss) per share 
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated 
by dividing the earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is 
determined by adjusting the earnings (loss) attributable to common shareholders and the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all warrants and options outstanding that 
may add to the total number of common shares. Diluted earnings (loss) per share for the periods presented 
does not include the effect of stock options and warrants as they are anti-dilutive. 
 
Significant accounting judgments and estimates 
 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgments 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ 
from these estimates. The financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain. The 
impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require accounting 
adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
These estimates are based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future that management has made that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from 
assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Estimation of decommissioning and restoration costs and the timing of expenditure 
Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities are estimated based on the Company’s interpretation of 
current regulatory requirements, constructive obligations and are measured at fair value. Fair value is 
determined based on the net present value of estimated future cash expenditures for the settlement of 
decommissioning, restoration or similar liabilities that may occur upon decommissioning of the mine. Such 
estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and negotiations with 
regulatory authorities. 
 
Income taxes and recoverability of potential deferred tax assets 
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the Company's provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Company 
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. The determination of the Company's income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities 
requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company's interpretation of taxation law as 
applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax 
related filings are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent to the financial 
statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Share-based payments 
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The 
fair value of the market-based and performance-based non-vested share awards are determined at the 
date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in 
applying valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of 
the stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
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exercise behaviours and corporate performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently 
uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates. 
 
Contingencies 
See notes 1 and 10. 
 
Accounting policy changes 
During 2021, the Company did not adopt new IFRS standards, interpretations, amendments and 
improvements of existing standards.   
 
Future accounting pronouncements 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements are 
not expected to have a significant impact to the Company and have been excluded.  
 
3. Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
 
East Bay Property, McVicar Lake, Ontario 

On March 16, 2015, the Company announced it had staked claim in the McVicar Lake area located 
approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle Lake and 130 kilometres southwest of Goldcorp’s Musselwhite 
Gold Mine.  On February 2, 2020, the mineral claims that constitute the East Bay property lapsed without 
being renewed. 
 
4. Share capital 
 

(a) Common shares 
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares, with no par value. 
 
As at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had 25,258,869 common shares issued 
and outstanding after issuing 2,013,700 common shares at $0.02 per share on November 30, 2020 for 
$40,274 in settlement of outstanding liabilities. 
 

(b) Warrants 
The following summary sets out the continuity for warrants for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020: 

 
 

Warrants 
Weighted average 

exercise price
 # $

  
Outstanding, December 31, 2020 and 2019 600,000 0.05
Expired 2021 (600,000) 0.05
Outstanding, December 31, 2021 Nil -

 
 

(c) Options 
 
As at December 31, 2021, there were 2,525,887 common shares available for the grant of stock options to 
directors, officers, employees and service providers in connection with the Company’s stock option plan 
(the “Plan”). The Plan is a 10% rolling option plan based on the number of common shares issued and 
outstanding.  As at December 31, 2021, there were 550,000 stock options outstanding and exercisable and 
1,975,887 left unallocated.  
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The following summary sets out the activity in the Plan over the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020: 

 
 

Options 
Weighted average 

exercise price
 # $

Outstanding, December 31, 2019 1,150,000 0.05
Expired (200,000) 0.05
Outstanding, December 31, 2020 950,000 0.05
Expired (400,000) 0.05
Options exercisable, December 31, 2021 550,000 0.05

 
The following table sets out the details of the stock options granted and outstanding as at December 31, 
2021: 
 
Number of stock 

options 
Number  

exercisable 
Remaining 

contractual life
Exercise price per 

share Expiry date
550,000 550,000 0.67 years $0.05 September 1, 2022
550,000 550,000 0.67 years  

 
 
 
5. Corporate administration and general 

 
Years ended 

December 31,
 2021 2020
 $ $
Wages and director fees 6,500 6,700
Office 261 349
Audit and legal fees 4,120 3,980
Reporting issuer costs 22,004 20,484
  32,885 31,513

 
6. Remuneration of key management personnel and related-party transactions 
 
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors, the President/CEO and the 
CFO. Compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows: 

 
Years ended 

December 31,
  2021 2020
  $ $
Share based compensation - -
Fees, wages and directors fees 6,500 6,700
 6,500 6,700

 
Salaries and benefits include director fees. The Board of Directors and officers, other than the Chief 
Financial Officer, do not have employment or service contracts with the Company. Directors are entitled to 
director fees and stock options for their services and officers are entitled to stock options for their services. 
As at December 31, 2021, $95,550 (2020 - $86,848) was owing to directors or officers.  This amount is 
unsecured, non-interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment.  On November 30, 2020, the Company 
settled $40,274 of accounts payable due to the CEO by issuing 2,013,700 common shares.  Refer also to 
Note 4. 
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Related parties include the Board of Directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions. 
 
7. Income taxes 
 
Provision for income taxes 
The following table reconciles the expected income tax provision at the statutory income tax rate of 26.5% 
(2020 – 26.5%) to the amounts recognized in the statements of loss: 
 Years ended 

December 31
 2021 2020
 $ $
Income (loss) before income taxes 17,115 (31,513)
Expected income tax (recovery) based on statutory rate 4,535 (8,350)
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:  
Change in tax losses not recognized  (4,535) 8,350
Deferred income tax recovery - -
 
Deductible temporary differences 
Deferred tax assets in respect of the following temporary differences have not been recognized for 
accounting purposes as it is not probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deferred 
tax assets can be utilized: 
 
 2021 2020
 $ $
Non-capital losses 1,202,000 1,169,000
Exploration property interests 295,000 295,000
Capital losses 82,000 82,000
 1,579,000 1,546,000
 
Tax loss carry-forwards 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company had approximately $nil (2020 - $nil), $254,000 (2020 - $254,000) 
and $41,000 (2020 - $41,000) of Canadian development expenditures, Canadian exploration expenditures, 
and foreign resource expenditures, respectively, which, under certain circumstances, may be utilized to 
reduce taxable income of future years. 
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As at December 31, 2021, the Company has non-capital loss carry forwards expiring as follows: 
 Total
 $
2029 80,000
2030 350,000
2032 72,000
2033 26,000
2034 228,000
2035 122,000
2037 89,000
2038 176,000
2039 27,000
2040 32,000
 1,202,000
 
8. Capital risk management 
 
The Company manages its capital with the following objectives: 
 

• to ensure sufficient financial flexibility to achieve the ongoing business objectives including funding 
of future growth opportunities, and pursuit of accretive acquisitions; and  

• to maximize shareholder return through enhancing the share value. 
 
The Company monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments according to market conditions in an 
effort to meet its objectives given the current outlook of the business and industry in general. The Company 
may manage its capital structure by issuing new shares, repurchasing outstanding shares, adjusting capital 
spending, or disposing of assets. The capital structure is reviewed by management and the Board of 
Directors on an ongoing basis. The Company considers its capital to be equity, which comprises share 
capital, reserves and deficit, which at December 31, 2021, totaled a deficit of $72,924 (2020 – $90,039). 
 
The Company manages capital through its financial and operational forecasting processes. The Company 
reviews its working capital and forecasts its future cash flows based on operating expenditures, and other 
investing and financing activities. The forecast is updated based on activities related to its exploration 
properties. Selected information is provided to the Board of Directors of the Company. The Company’s 
capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.  The Company is not subject to any capital requirements 
imposed by a lending institution or regulatory body. 
 
The Company is in the process of searching for financing alternatives. While there is no assurance these 
funds can be raised, the Company believes such financing will be available as required. 
 
9. Financial risk management 
 
Financial risk 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including foreign currency risk and commodity and equity price risk). 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular 
guidance for overall risk management. 
 
There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
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Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and HST receivable. Cash is held with a major 
Canadian chartered bank, from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 
 
HST receivable consists of sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada.  Management 
believes that the credit risk with respect to HST receivable is minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if 
its access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its 
financing activities. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had cash of $27,446 (2020 - $935) to settle 
current liabilities of $101,295 (2020 - $91,425).  All of the Company's financial liabilities have contractual 
maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms.  The Company regularly evaluates 
its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity. 
 
Further financing is required for working capital expenditures and/or acquisitions during the next twelve 
months. While there is no assurance these funds can be raised, the Company believes such financing will 
be available as required. 
 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is 
minimal. 
 
Commodity and other price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is 
defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price 
movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, as they relate to 
precious and base metals and other minerals, and the stock market to determine the appropriate 
course of action to be taken by the Company. 
 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future 
profitability and viability of development depend upon the world market price of precious and base 
metals and other minerals. Precious and base metals and other mineral prices have fluctuated widely 
in recent years. There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals 
and other minerals are produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.  
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices.  
 

Sensitivity analysis 
 
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the 
following movements are reasonably possible over a twelve month period: 
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• The Company receives low interest rates on its cash balances and, as such, the Company does 
not have significant interest rate risk. 

• The Company does not hold balances in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign 
exchange risk. 

 
10. Contingencies 
 
The Company's past exploration activities are subject to government laws and regulations, including tax 
laws and laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company believes that its 
operations complied in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and regulations. The 
Company records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's estimate at the time.  
Such estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of previous flow-through share offerings against any tax 
related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 
11. COVID-19 
 
Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) 
The COVID-19 pandemic is causing a widespread health crisis that has affected economies and financial 
markets around the world resulting in an economic downturn. In response to the outbreak, governmental 
authorities in Canada and internationally have introduced various recommendations and measures to try to 
limit the pandemic, including travel restrictions, border closures, non-essential business closures, 
quarantines, self-isolations, shelters-in-place and social distancing. The COVID-19 outbreak and the 
response of governmental authorities to try to limit it are having a significant impact on the private sector 
and individuals, including unprecedented business, employment and economic disruptions. The continued 
spread of COVID-19 nationally and globally could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business, 
operations and financial results, as well as a deterioration of general economic conditions including a 
possible national or global recession. Due to the speed with which the COVID-19 situation is developing 
and the uncertainty of its magnitude, outcome and duration, it is not possible to estimate its impact on the 
Company’s business, operations or financial results, including the Company’s ability to secure financing 
and complete the transaction disclosed in the below note. 
 
12. Other 
 
On March 15, 2021, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation agreement (the "Definitive 
Agreement") with Blockchain Venture Capital Inc. ("BVCI"), to complete an amalgamation, pursuant to 
Section 174 of the Ontario Business Corporations Act (the "OBCA"), resulting in a reverse takeover (the 
"RTO") of the Company by the shareholders of BVCI. Upon completion of the RTO, the combined entity 
(the "Resulting Issuer") will continue to carry on the business of BVCI and the Resulting Issuer will change 
its name to "Blockchain Venture Capital Inc.", or such other name as the parties may agree (the "Name 
Change"). 
 
The proposed RTO between the Company and BVCI, if completed, will constitute a Fundamental Change 
as that term is defined under the policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "Exchange" or the 
"CSE"). As such, the closing of the RTO is subject to the receipt of all necessary approvals, including 
without limitation, the receipt of all requisite approvals from the shareholders of the Company and BVCI, 
respectively, and receipt of regulatory approval for the RTO and listing of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of the Resulting Issuer (the "Resulting Issuer Shares") on the Exchange. There is no 
certainty that the proposed RTO transaction will be completed or that the Resulting Issuer will be approved 
for listing on the CSE. The Resulting Issuer or the Resulting Issuer Shares has not yet been approved for 
listing on the CSE. 
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In addition, by way of the press release dated March 16, 2021, the Company has announced two related 
transactions, including a proposed share consolidation of the Company's share capital, and a proposed 
debt settlement of approximately $97,000 currently owing to two directors of the Company. There is no 
certainty that any of these transactions including the RTO will be completed or that the Company will 
receive the requisite shareholder or regulatory approvals.  
 
During 2021, the Company received a $50,000 non-refundable advance from BVCI. 
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This management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) has been prepared based on information available to 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. (“Flexwork” or the “Company”) as at April 16, 2019. The MD&A of the operating 
results and financial condition of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018, should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) and related notes 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.  The Financial Statements have been 
prepared by management and are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and all amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. Other information contained in 
this document has also been prepared by management and is consistent with the data contained in the 
Financial Statements. Additional information relating to the Company can be found on the Company’s website 
at www.reliantgold.com or on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
 

 
Executive summary 
 
General 
Flexwork was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Ontario on July 11, 2005 and is engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of mineral property interests containing precious metals. 
 
Flexwork's goal is to deliver value to shareholders while evaluating transactions in and outside the mining 
industry. 
 
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its being able to obtain 
additional financing.  Flexwork’s financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company is 
a going concern and do not include adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
At the request of the Company, the common shares of the Company were de-listed from trading on the TSX 
Venture Exchange (TSXV) at the close of the market on February 27, 2018.  The Company’s common shares 
commenced trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (CSE) at the opening of the market on February 
28, 2018, under the same trading symbol, RNG. 
 
On May 28, 2018, the Company announced by way of a Press Release that - subject to receipt of approvals 
from both the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and the Company’s shareholders – the Company 
proposes to carry out a Change of Business (“COB”) pursuant to CSE Policy No. 8, and thereafter, transition 
to an “Active Real Property Acquisition, Management, and Rental Income Company”. The principal reason for 
this proposed COB is that the Company believes that it can create greater value over time for the Company’s 
shareholders by transitioning to a business operating in an industry sector with (i) more stable and recurring 
revenue streams; (ii) greater regulatory certainty and access to capital; and (iii) a lower business risk profile.  
 
Additionally, on May 28, 2018, at the request of the Company, trading in the Company’s common shares on 
the CSE was halted by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). The halt in 
trading is expected to be lifted upon the Company’s (1) receipt of approvals for the proposed COB from the 
CSE and the Company’s shareholders of record; (2) completion of a proposed concurrent private placement 
financing; and (3) submission of all final documentation to regulatory authorities, including the CSE. Please 
refer to the Company’s Press Release dated May 28, 2018 for additional details related to the proposed COB, 
trading halt, and concurrent private placement financing. 
 
Thereafter, on August 30, 2018, the shareholders of the Company provided its overwhelming approval for the 
Company’s proposed change of business and change of name from Reliant Gold Corp. to Flexwork 
Properties Ltd. Please refer the Company’s press release dated August 31, 2018 for additional details. 
 

http://www.sedar.com/
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On September 17, 2018, pursuant to an Articles of Amendment, the Company changed its name to Flexwork 
Properties Ltd. Finally, on September 18, 2018, the Company received a letter from the CSE providing 
conditional approval for listing of the Company’s shares on the CSE, subject to completion of the proposed 
concurrent private placement and submission of the final listing fee and any final documentation to the CSE. 
 
There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to complete the proposed concurrent private placement. 
 
Highlights  
 

 On March 16, 2015, the Company staked the East Bay Property, consisting of 56 claim units 
totalling 896 hectares in the McVicar Lake area located approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle 
Lake and 130 kilometres southwest of Goldcorp Inc.’s Musselwhite Gold Mine. (see Press Release 
dated March 16, 2015 for additional details). 

 During the third quarter of 2016, the Company successfully completed a surface and rock sampling 
program (“2016 Work Program”) at the East Bay Property.  See the Company’s Press Release dated 
October 5, 2016 and October 17, 2016, respectively, for a description of the 2016 Work Program and 
for the assay results of the surface and rock samples taken during the 2016 Work Program. 

 At December 31, 2018, the Company had assets of $11,740 (December 31, 2017 - $116,830) and a 
working capital deficit of $71,883 (December 31, 2017 – surplus of $107,785).  At December 31, 
2018, the Company had $83,623 of liabilities (December 31, 2017 – $9,045) and no debt.  
 

 The Company had cash of $7,374 at December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017 - $103,901). 

 
Overall performance and results of operations 
 
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $179,668 or $0.01 per share (December 31, 2017 
$117,091 or $0.01 per share). The net loss includes corporate administration and exploration expenditures 
that included consulting fees/wages; directors’ fees; accounting, legal and audit services; and regulatory 
compliance costs. 
 

Mineral property interests 
 
The Company’s exploration activities are at an early stage, and it has not yet been determined whether its 

properties contain economically recoverable mineral reserves.  There are no known deposits of minerals on 

any of the Company’s exploration properties and any activities thereon in the immediate future will constitute 

exploratory searches for minerals. 

 

East Bay 
On March 16, 2015, the Company announced the staking of the East Bay property, consisting of 56 claim 
units totalling 896 hectares in the McVicar Lake area located approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle Lake 
and 130 kilometres southwest of the Goldcorp’s Musselwhite Gold Mine.  Expenditures incurred on the 
property during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 
 

 
Years ended 

December 31, 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

East Bay Property 3,500 14,456 

 3,500 14,456 
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Selected annual information 
Years ended December 31, 

 
 2018 2017 2016 
 $ $ $ 

Total assets 11,740 116,830 204,135 
Current liabilities 83,623 9,045 6,897 
Shareholders equity (deficit) (71,883) 107,785 197,238 
Net (loss) income for the year (179,668) (117,091) 118,531 
Net (loss) income per share – basic and diluted (0.01) (0.01) 0.01 

 
Summary of quarterly results 
 

 
December 31, 

2018 
September 30, 

2018 
June 30, 

2018 
March 31, 

2018 
 $ $ $ $ 

Total assets 11,740 15,413 41,455 73,460 

Shareholders’ equity (deficit) (71,883) (55,455) 34,156 67,984 
Net loss income (16,428) (89,611) (33,828) (39,801) 
Net loss income per share - basic (0.00) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) 
 
 

 
December 31, 

2017 
September 30, 

2017 
June 30, 

2017 
March 31, 

2017 
 $ $ $ $ 

Total assets 116,830 142,609 159,650 177,704 

Shareholders’ equity 107,785 134,786 155,237 174,965 

Net loss income (27,000) (48,090)  (19,728) (22,273) 
Net loss income per share-basic (0.00) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) 
 

Liquidity, working capital and capital resources 
 
As at December 31, 2018, the Company had cash of $7,374 (December 31, 2017 - $103,901) and a working 
capital deficit of $71,883 (December 31, 2017 – surplus $107,785), an accumulated deficit of $1,845,438 
(December 31, 2017- $1,665,770) and negative cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 
2017 of $96,527 (year ended December 31, 2017 –negative cash flow from operations of $103,320). 

 
As at December 31, 2018, the capital structure of the Company consisted primarily of all the components of 
shareholders' equity. To adjust or maintain its capital structure, the Company may issue new common shares. 
 
As at December 31, 2018, the company had 23,245,169 common shares issued and outstanding; 900,000 
warrants issued and outstanding; and 2,050,000 stock options issued and outstanding. 
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Remuneration of key management and transactions with related parties 
 
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors, the President/CEO and the CFO. 
Compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows: 
 
 

 
 Year ended 

December 31, 
   2018 2017 
   $ $ 

Fees, wages and directors fees   115,685 49,800 
Share based compensation   - 12,638 

   115,685 62,438 

 
Salaries and benefits include director fees. The Board of Directors and officers do not have employment or 
service contracts with the Company. Directors are entitled to director fees and stock options for their services 
and officers are entitled to stock options for their services. As at December 31, 2018, $71,300 was owing to 
directors or officers. 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions. 

 

Capital management and off balance sheet transactions 
 
The Company’s capital structure is adjusted based on management and the Board of Directors’ decision to 
fund expenditures, outside of operating cash flow, with the issuance of debt or equity such that it may 
complete the acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the mining of minerals that are 
economically recoverable. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria, but 
rather relies on the expertise of management and other professionals to sustain future development of the 
business. 
 
The Company would raise funds externally as and when required to finance obligations or complete projects. 
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional funds on reasonable terms. The 
sources of future funds available to the Company are cash flow from operations, the exercise of outstanding 
stock options and/or warrants, the sale of equity capital of the Company, or the sale by the Company of an 
interest in any of its properties in whole or in part. The ability of the Company to arrange such financing in the 
future will depend in part upon the prevailing capital market conditions as well as the business performance of 
the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange 
additional financing, if needed, on terms satisfactory to the Company. 
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  There were no changes in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year ended December 31, 2018. The Company is not subject to externally 
imposed capital restrictions. 
 
There are no off balance sheet transactions for year ended December 31, 2018. There are no proposed 
transactions as of April 16, 2019. 
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Critical accounting policies and estimates 
 
The critical accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in the audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2018. 

Dividends 
 
The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its common shares. The Company intends to 
retain its earnings, if any, to finance growth and expand its operation and does not anticipate paying any 
dividends on its common shares in the foreseeable future. 

 
Contingencies 
 
The Company's exploration activities are subject to government laws and regulations, including tax laws and 
laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company believes that its operations 
comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and regulations. The Company 
records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's estimate at the time. Such 
estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of current and previous flow-through share offerings against 
any tax related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 

Risks and uncertainties 

 
Financial risk: 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including interest rate, foreign currency risk and commodity and equity price risk). 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular 
guidance for overall risk management. 
 
There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
 
Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and HST receivable. Cash is held with select major 
Canadian chartered banks, from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 
 
HST receivable consists of sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada. HST receivable is in 
good standing as of December 31, 2018. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to HST 
receivable is minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its 
access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing 
activities.  
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At December 31, 2018, the Company had cash of $7,374 (December 31, 2017 - $103,901) to settle current 
liabilities of $83,623 (December 31, 2017 - $9,045). All of the Company's financial liabilities have contractual 
maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. The Company regularly evaluates its 
cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity. 
 
Further financing is required for working capital expenditures and/or acquisitions and/or exploration plans 
during the next twelve months. While there is no assurance these funds can be raised, the Company believes 
such financing will be available as required. The Company's discretionary exploration activities do have 
considerable scope for flexibility in terms of the amount and timing of exploration expenditures, and 
expenditures may be adjusted accordingly. 
 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices. 

 
Interest rate risk 
The Company has cash balances. The Company's current policy is to invest excess cash in certificates 
of deposit issued by a Canadian chartered bank with which it keeps its bank accounts. The Company 
periodically monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the creditworthiness of its Canadian 
chartered bank. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Commodity and equity price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 
as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements 
and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, as they relate to precious and base 
metals and other minerals, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company. 
 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future profitability 
and viability of development depend upon the world market price of precious and base metals and other 
minerals. Precious and base metals and other mineral prices have fluctuated widely in recent years. 
There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals and other 
minerals are produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.  
 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company was not a precious minerals, base metals and other minerals 
producer. Even so, commodity price risk may affect the completion of future equity transactions such as 
equity offerings and the exercise of stock options and warrants. This may also affect the Company's 
liquidity and its ability to meet its ongoing obligations. 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices. The Company’s other price risk includes equity price risk, whereby the Company’s 
investments are subject to market price fluctuation. 

 
 
 
 
 



FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD. 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

 

December 31, 2018 

 

P a g e  | 7 
 

Disclosure of outstanding share information 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of current and previous flow-through share offerings against 
any tax related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 
The following table sets forth information concerning the outstanding securities of the Company as at 
December 31, 2018 and as at April 16, 2019: 
 
Common shares of no par value Number 

  
Shares 23,245,169 
Options 2,050,000 
Warrants 900,000 

Fully diluted shares outstanding 26,195,169 

 
Segregation of duties 
 
Segregation of duties is a basic, key internal control and one of the most difficult to achieve in a small 
company. It is used to ensure that errors or irregularities are prevented or detected on a timely basis by 
employees in the normal course of business. Due to the Company’s small size and limited resources, a 
complete segregation of duties within the Company’s accounting group cannot be fully achieved and a 
material weakness exists. The result is that the Company is highly reliant on the performance of mitigating 
procedures during the process of closing its financial statements in order to ensure the financial statements 
are presented fairly in all material respects. Management will identify and hire additional accounting resources 
where cost effective and when required. Where it is not cost effective to obtain additional accounting 
resources, management will review existing mitigating controls and, if appropriate, implement changes to its 
internal control processes whereby more effective mitigating controls will be adopted. 
 
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2018. 

 
Cautionary note regarding forward-looking information 
 
This document contains or refers to forward-looking information. Such forward-looking information includes, 
among other things, statements regarding targets, estimates and/or assumptions in respect of future 
production, mine development costs, unit costs, capital costs, timing of commencement of operations and 
future economic, market and other conditions, and is based on current expectations that involve a number of 
business risks and uncertainties. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from any forward-
looking statement include, but are not limited to: the grade and recovery of ore which is mined varying from 
estimates; capital and operating costs varying significantly from estimates; inflation; changes in exchange 
rates; fluctuations in commodity prices; delays in the development of the any project caused by unavailability 
of equipment, labour or supplies, climatic conditions or otherwise; termination or revision of any debt 
financing; failure to raise additional funds required to finance the completion of a project; and other factors. 
Forward-looking statements are subject to significant risks and uncertainties and other factors that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from expected results. Readers should not place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date hereof and we 
assume no responsibility to update them or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances, except as 
required by law. 
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Additional information and continuous disclosure 
 
This MD&A has been prepared as at April 16, 2019. Additional information on the Company is available 
through regular filings of press releases, financial statements, on SEDAR (www.sedar.com) and on the 
Company’s web site (www.reliantgold.com). 

 
Management’s responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for all information contained in this MD&A. The Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and include amounts based on 
management’s informed judgments and estimates. The financial and operating information included in this 
MD&A is consistent with that contained in the Financial Statements in all material aspects. 
 
Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that financial information is reliable 
and accurate and assets are safeguarded. 
 
The Company’s Board of Directors has reviewed with management and approved the Financial Statements 
and this MD&A.  
 
“Kabir Ahmed”  “Peter W. Hogg”  
Kabir Ahmed 
Chief Executive Officer 

Peter W. Hogg  
Chief Financial Officer 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.reliantgold.com/
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This management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) has been prepared based on information available to 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. (“Flexwork” or the “Company”) as at April 28, 2020. The MD&A of the operating 
results and financial condition of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019, should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) and related notes 
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.  The Financial Statements have been 
prepared by management and are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and all amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. Other information contained in 
this document has also been prepared by management and is consistent with the data contained in the 
Financial Statements. Additional information relating to the Company can be found on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 
 
 

 
Executive summary 
 
General 
Flexwork was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Ontario on July 11, 2005 and was engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of mineral property interests containing precious metals. 
 
Flexwork's goal is to deliver value to shareholders while evaluating transactions in and outside the mining 
industry. 
 
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its being able to obtain 
additional financing.  Flexwork’s financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company is 
a going concern and do not include adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
At the request of the Company, the common shares of the Company were de-listed from trading on the TSX 
Venture Exchange (TSXV) at the close of the market on February 27, 2018.  The Company’s common shares 
commenced trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (CSE) at the opening of the market on February 
28, 2018, under the same trading symbol, RNG. 
 
On May 28, 2018, the Company announced by way of a Press Release that - subject to receipt of approvals 
from both the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and the Company’s shareholders – the Company 
proposes to carry out a Change of Business (“COB”) pursuant to CSE Policy No. 8, and thereafter, transition 
to an “Active Real Property Acquisition, Management, and Rental Income Company”. The principal reason for 
this proposed COB is that the Company believes that it can create greater value over time for the Company’s 
shareholders by transitioning to a business operating in an industry sector with (i) more stable and recurring 
revenue streams; (ii) greater regulatory certainty and access to capital; and (iii) a lower business risk profile.  
 
Additionally, on May 28, 2018, at the request of the Company, trading in the Company’s common shares on 
the CSE was halted by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). The halt in 
trading is expected to be lifted upon the Company’s (1) receipt of approvals for the proposed COB from the 
CSE and the Company’s shareholders of record; (2) completion of a proposed concurrent private placement 
financing; and (3) submission of all final documentation to regulatory authorities, including the CSE. Please 
refer to the Company’s Press Release dated May 28, 2018 for additional details related to the proposed COB, 
trading halt, and concurrent private placement financing. 
 
Thereafter, on August 30, 2018, the shareholders of the Company provided its overwhelming approval for the 
Company’s proposed change of business and change of name from Reliant Gold Corp. to F lexwork 
Properties Ltd. Please refer the Company’s press release dated August 31, 2018 for additional details. 
 

http://www.sedar.com/
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On September 17, 2018, pursuant to an Articles of Amendment, the Company changed its name to Flexwork 
Properties Ltd. Finally, on September 18, 2018, the Company received a letter from the CSE providing 
conditional approval for listing of the Company’s shares on the CSE, subject to completion of the proposed 
concurrent private placement and submission of the final listing fee and any final documentation to the CSE. 
 
There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to complete the proposed concurrent private placement. 
 
Highlights  
 

 On March 16, 2015, the Company staked the East Bay Property, consisting of 56 claim units 
totalling 896 hectares in the McVicar Lake area located approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle 
Lake and 130 kilometres southwest of Goldcorp Inc.’s Musselwhite Gold Mine. On February 2, 2020, 
the mineral claims that constitute the East Bay property lapsed without being renewed. 
 

 At December 31, 2019, the Company had assets of $2,081 (December 31, 2018 - $11,740) and a 
working capital deficit of $98,800 (December 31, 2018 – $71,883).  At December 31, 2019, the 
Company had $100,881 of liabilities (December 31, 2018 – $83,623) and no debt.  
 

 The Company had cash of $1,422 at December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018 - $7,374). 

 
Overall performance and results of operations 
 
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $26,917 or $0.00 per share (December 31, 2018 
$179,668 or $0.01 per share). The net loss includes corporate administration expenditures that included 
consulting fees/wages; directors’ fees; accounting, legal and audit services; and regulatory compliance costs. 
 

Mineral property interests 
 
East Bay 
On March 16, 2015, the Company announced the staking of the East Bay property, consisting of 56 claim 
units totalling 896 hectares in the McVicar Lake area located approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle Lake 
and 130 kilometres southwest of the Goldcorp’s Musselwhite Gold Mine.  On February 2, 2020, the mineral 
claims that constitute the East Bay property lapsed without being renewed. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Selected annual information 
Years ended December 31, 

 
 2019 2018 2017 
 $ $ $ 

Total assets 2,081 11,740 116,830 
Current liabilities 100,881 83,623 9,045 
Shareholders equity (deficit) (98,800) (71,883) 107,785 
Net (loss) for the year (26,917) (179,668) (117,091) 
Net (loss) per share – basic and diluted (0.00) (0.01) (0.01) 
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Summary of quarterly results 
 

 
December 31, 

2019 
September 30, 

2019 
June 30, 

2019 
March 31, 

2019 
 $ $ $ $ 

Total assets 2,081 3,691 5,471 6,994 

Shareholders’ deficit (98,800) (92,862) (88,229) (78,736) 
Net loss  (5,938) (4,633) (9,493) (6,853) 
Net loss per share - basic (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 
 
 

 
December 31, 

2018 
September 30, 

2018 
June 30, 

2018 
March 31, 

2018 
 $ $ $ $ 

Total assets 11,740 15,413 41,455 73,460 

Shareholders’ equity (deficit) (71,883) (55,455) 34,156 67,984 

Net loss (16,428) (89,611)  (33,828) (39,801) 
Net loss per share-basic (0.00) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) 
 

Liquidity, working capital and capital resources 
 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had cash of $1,422 (December 31, 2018 - $7,374) and a working 
capital deficit of $98,800 (December 31, 2018 –$71,883), an accumulated deficit of $1,855,602 (December 
31, 2018- $1,845,438) and negative cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 of 
$5,952 (December 31, 2018 - $96,527). 

 
As at December 31, 2019, the capital structure of the Company consisted primarily of all the components of 
shareholders' equity. To adjust or maintain its capital structure, the Company may issue new common shares. 
 
As at December 31, 2019, the company had 23,245,169 common shares issued and outstanding (December 
31, 2018 – 23,245,169); 600,000 warrants issued and outstanding (December 31, 2018 – 900,000); and 
1,150,000 stock options issued and outstanding (December 31, 2018 – 2,050,000). 

 
Remuneration of key management and transactions with related parties 
 
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors, the President/CEO and the CFO. 
Compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows: 
 
 

 
 Years ended 

December 31, 
   2019 2018 
   $ $ 

Fees, wages and directors fees   6,500 115,685 
Share based compensation   - - 

   6,500 115,685 

 
Salaries and benefits include director fees. The Board of Directors and officers do not have employment or 
service contracts with the Company. Directors are entitled to director fees and stock options for their services 
and officers are entitled to stock options for their services. As at December 31, 2019, $94,806 (2018 – 
$71,300) was owing to directors or officers. 
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Related parties include the Board of Directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions. 

 

Capital management and off balance sheet transactions 
 
The Company’s capital structure is adjusted based on management and the Board of Directors’ decision to 
fund expenditures, outside of operating cash flow, with the issuance of debt or equity such that it may 
complete the acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the mining of minerals that are 
economically recoverable. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria, but 
rather relies on the expertise of management and other professionals to sustain future development of the 
business. 
 
The Company would raise funds externally as and when required to finance obligations or complete projects. 
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional funds on reasonable terms. The 
sources of future funds available to the Company are cash flow from operations, the exercise of outstanding 
stock options and/or warrants, the sale of equity capital of the Company, or the sale by the Company of an 
interest in any of its properties in whole or in part. The ability of the Company to arrange such financing in the 
future will depend in part upon the prevailing capital market conditions as well as the business performance of 
the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange 
additional financing, if needed, on terms satisfactory to the Company. 
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  There were no changes in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company is not subject to externally 
imposed capital restrictions. 
 
There are no off balance sheet transactions for year ended December 31, 2019. There are no proposed 
transactions as of April 28, 2020. 
 

Critical accounting policies and estimates 
 
The critical accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in Note 2 of the audited financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2019. 
 

Dividends 
 
The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its common shares. The Company intends to 
retain its earnings, if any, to finance growth and expand its operation and does not anticipate paying any 
dividends on its common shares in the foreseeable future. 

 
Contingencies 
 
The Company's exploration activities are subject to government laws and regulations, including tax laws and 
laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company believes that its operations 
comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and regulations. The Company 
records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's estimate at the time. Such 
estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
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The Company has indemnified the subscribers of current and previous flow-through share offerings against 
any tax related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 

Risks and uncertainties 

 
Financial risk: 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including interest rate, foreign currency risk and commodity and equity price risk). 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular 
guidance for overall risk management. 
 
There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
 
Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and HST receivable. Cash is held with a select major 
Canadian chartered bank, from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 
 
HST receivable consists of sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada. HST receivable is in 
good standing as of December 31, 2019. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to HST 
receivable is minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its 
access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing 
activities.  
 
At December 31, 2019, the Company had cash of $1,422 (December 31, 2018 - $7,374) to settle current 
liabilities of $100,881 (December 31, 2018 - $83,623). All of the Company's financial liabilities have 
contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. The Company regularly 
evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity. 
 
Further financing is required for working capital expenditures and/or acquisitions and/or exploration plans 
during the next twelve months. While there is no assurance these funds can be raised, the Company believes 
such financing will be available as required. 
 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Commodity and equity price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 
as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements 
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and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, as they relate to precious and base 
metals and other minerals, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company. 
 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future profitability 
and viability of development depend upon the world market price of precious and base metals and other 
minerals. Precious and base metals and other mineral prices have fluctuated widely in recent years. 
There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals and other 
minerals are produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.  
 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company was not a precious minerals, base metals and other minerals 
producer. Even so, commodity price risk may affect the completion of future equity transactions such as 
equity offerings and the exercise of stock options and warrants. This may also affect the Company's 
liquidity and its ability to meet its ongoing obligations. 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices. The Company’s other price risk includes equity price risk, whereby the Company’s 
investments are subject to market price fluctuation. 

 
Disclosure of outstanding share information 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of current and previous flow-through share offerings against 
any tax related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 
The following table sets forth information concerning the outstanding securities of the Company as at April 28, 
2020: 
 
Common shares of no par value Number 

  
Shares 23,245,169 
Options 950,000 
Warrants 600,000 

Fully diluted shares outstanding 24,795,169 

 
Segregation of duties 
 
Segregation of duties is a basic, key internal control and one of the most difficult to achieve in a small 
company. It is used to ensure that errors or irregularities are prevented or detected on a timely basis by 
employees in the normal course of business. Due to the Company’s small size and limited resources, a 
complete segregation of duties within the Company’s accounting group cannot be fully achieved and a 
material weakness exists. The result is that the Company is highly reliant on the performance of mitigating 
procedures during the process of closing its financial statements in order to ensure the financial statements 
are presented fairly in all material respects. Management will identify and hire additional accounting resources 
where cost effective and when required. Where it is not cost effective to obtain additional accounting 
resources, management will review existing mitigating controls and, if appropriate, implement changes to its 
internal control processes whereby more effective mitigating controls will be adopted. 
 
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2019. 
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Cautionary note regarding forward-looking information 
 
This document contains or refers to forward-looking information. Such forward-looking information includes, 
among other things, statements regarding targets, estimates and/or assumptions in respect of future 
production, mine development costs, unit costs, capital costs, timing of commencement of operations and 
future economic, market and other conditions, and is based on current expectations that involve a number of 
business risks and uncertainties. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from any forward-
looking statement include, but are not limited to: the grade and recovery of ore which is mined varying from 
estimates; capital and operating costs varying significantly from estimates; inflation; changes in exchange 
rates; fluctuations in commodity prices; delays in the development of the any project caused by unavailability 
of equipment, labour or supplies, climatic conditions or otherwise; termination or revision of any debt 
financing; failure to raise additional funds required to finance the completion of a project; and other factors. 
Forward-looking statements are subject to significant risks and uncertainties and other factors that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from expected results. Readers should not place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date hereof and we 
assume no responsibility to update them or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances, except as 
required by law. 

 
Additional information and continuous disclosure 
 
This MD&A has been prepared as at April 28, 2020. Additional information on the Company is available 
through regular filings of press releases, financial statements, on SEDAR (www.sedar.com). 

 
Management’s responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for all information contained in this MD&A. The Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and include amounts based on 
management’s informed judgments and estimates. The financial and operating information included in this 
MD&A is consistent with that contained in the Financial Statements in all material aspects. 
 
Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that financial information is reliable 
and accurate and assets are safeguarded. 
 
The Company’s Board of Directors has reviewed with management and approved the Financial Statements 
and this MD&A.  
 
“Kabir Ahmed”  “Peter W. Hogg”  
Kabir Ahmed 
Chief Executive Officer 

Peter W. Hogg  
Chief Financial Officer 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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This management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) has been prepared based on information available to 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. (“Flexwork” or the “Company”) as at March 24, 2021. The MD&A of the operating 
results and financial condition of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020, should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) and related notes for the 
years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.  The Financial Statements have been prepared by 
management and are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and all 
amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. Other information contained in this 
document has also been prepared by management and is consistent with the data contained in the Financial 
Statements. Additional information relating to the Company can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
 

 
Executive summary 
 
General 
Flexwork was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Ontario on July 11, 2005 and was engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of mineral property interests containing precious metals. 
 
Flexwork's goal is to deliver value to shareholders while evaluating transactions in and outside the mining 
industry. 
 
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its being able to obtain 
additional financing.  Flexwork’s financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company is 
a going concern and do not include adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
At the request of the Company, the common shares of the Company were de-listed from trading on the TSX 
Venture Exchange (TSXV) at the close of the market on February 27, 2018.  The Company’s common shares 
commenced trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (CSE) at the opening of the market on February 
28, 2018, under the same trading symbol, RNG. 
 
On May 28, 2018, the Company announced by way of a Press Release that - subject to receipt of approvals 
from both the CSE and the Company’s shareholders – the Company proposes to carry out a Change of 
Business (“COB”) pursuant to CSE Policy No. 8, and thereafter, transition to an “Active Real Property 
Acquisition, Management, and Rental Income Company”. The principal reason for this proposed COB is that 
the Company believes that it can create greater value over time for the Company’s shareholders by 
transitioning to a business operating in an industry sector with (i) more stable and recurring revenue streams; 
(ii) greater regulatory certainty and access to capital; and (iii) a lower business risk profile.  
 
Additionally, on May 28, 2018, at the request of the Company, trading in the Company’s common shares on 
the CSE was halted by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). The halt in 
trading is expected to be lifted upon the Company’s (1) receipt of approvals for the proposed COB from the 
CSE and the Company’s shareholders of record; (2) completion of a proposed concurrent private placement 
financing; and (3) submission of all final documentation to regulatory authorities, including the CSE. Please 
refer to the Company’s Press Release dated May 28, 2018 for additional details related to the proposed COB, 
trading halt, and concurrent private placement financing. 
 
Thereafter, on August 30, 2018, the shareholders of the Company provided its overwhelming approval for the 
Company’s proposed change of business and change of name from Reliant Gold Corp. to F lexwork 
Properties Ltd. Please refer the Company’s press release dated August 31, 2018 for additional details. 
 

http://www.sedar.com/
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On September 17, 2018, pursuant to an Articles of Amendment, the Company changed its name to Flexwork 
Properties Ltd. Finally, on September 18, 2018, the Company received a letter from the CSE providing 
conditional approval for listing of the Company’s shares on the CSE, subject to completion of the proposed 
concurrent private placement and submission of the final listing fee and any final documentation to the CSE. 
 
There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to complete the proposed concurrent private placement. 
 
On March 15, 2021, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation agreement (the "Definitive 
Agreement") with Blockchain Venture Capital Inc. ("BVCI"), to complete an amalgamation, pursuant to 
Section 174 of the Ontario Business Corporations Act (the "OBCA"), resulting in a reverse takeover (the 
"RTO") of the Company by the shareholders of BVCI. Upon completion of the RTO, the combined entity (the 
"Resulting Issuer") will continue to carry on the business of BVCI and the Resulting Issuer will change its 
name to "Blockchain Venture Capital Inc.", or such other name as the parties may agree (the "Name 
Change"). 
 
The proposed RTO between the Company and BVCI, if completed, will constitute a Fundamental Change as 
that term is defined under the policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "Exchange" or the "CSE"). 
As such, the closing of the RTO is subject to the receipt of all necessary approvals, including without 
limitation, the receipt of all requisite approvals from the shareholders of the Company and BVCI, respectively, 
and receipt of regulatory approval for the RTO and listing of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
the Resulting Issuer (the "Resulting Issuer Shares") on the Exchange. There is no certainty that the proposed 
RTO transaction will be completed or that the Resulting Issuer will be approved for listing on the CSE.  
 
In addition, by way of the press release dated March 16, 2021, the Company has announced two related 
transactions, including a proposed share consolidation of the Company's share capital, and a proposed debt 
settlement of approximately $97,000 currently owing to two directors of the Company. There is no certainty 
that any of these transactions including the RTO will be completed or that the Company will receive the 
requisite shareholder or regulatory approvals.  
 
Highlights  
 

 On March 16, 2015, the Company staked the East Bay Property, consisting of 56 claim units 
totalling 896 hectares in the McVicar Lake area located approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle 
Lake and 130 kilometres southwest of Goldcorp Inc.’s Musselwhite Gold Mine. On February 2, 2020, 
the mineral claims that constitute the East Bay property lapsed without being renewed. 
 

 At December 31, 2020, the Company had assets of $1,386 (December 31, 2019 - $2,081) and a 
working capital deficit of $90,039 (December 31, 2019 – $98,800).  At December 31, 2020, the 
Company had $91,425 of liabilities (December 31, 2019 – $100,881) and no debt.  
 

 The Company had cash of $935 at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $1,422). 

 
Overall performance and results of operations 
 
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $31,513 or $0.00 per share (December 31, 2019 
$26,917 or $0.00 per share). The net loss includes corporate administration expenditures that included 
consulting fees/wages; directors’ fees; accounting, legal and audit services; and regulatory compliance costs. 
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Mineral property interests 
 
East Bay 
On March 16, 2015, the Company announced the staking of the East Bay property, consisting of 56 claim 
units totalling 896 hectares in the McVicar Lake area located approximately 90 kilometres west of Pickle Lake 
and 130 kilometres southwest of the Goldcorp’s Musselwhite Gold Mine.  On February 2, 2020, the mineral 
claims that constitute the East Bay property lapsed without being renewed. 

 
Selected annual information 
Years ended December 31, 

 
 2020 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ 

Total assets 1,386 2,081 11,740 
Current liabilities 91,425 100,881 83,623 
Shareholders equity (deficit) (90,039) (98,800) (71,883) 
Net (loss) for the year (31,513) (26,917) (179,668) 
Net (loss) per share – basic and diluted (0.00) (0.00) (0.01) 

 
Summary of quarterly results 
 

 
December 31, 

2020 
September 30, 

2020 
June 30, 

2020 
March 31, 

2020 
 $ $ $ $ 

Total assets 1,386 1,299 2,702 3,883 

Shareholders’ deficit (90,039) (123,242) (118,077) (108,097) 
Net loss  (7,071) (5,165) (9,980) (9,297) 
Net loss per share - basic (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 
 
 

 
December 31, 

2019 
September 30, 

2019 
June 30, 

2019 
March 31, 

2019 
 $ $ $ $ 

Total assets 2,081 3,691 5,471 6,994 

Shareholders’ (deficit) (98,800) (92,862) (88,229) (78,736) 

Net loss (5,938) (4,633)  (9,493) (6,853) 
Net loss per share-basic (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 
 

Liquidity, working capital and capital resources 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $935 (December 31, 2019 - $1,422) and a working 
capital deficit of $90,039 (December 31, 2019 –$98,800), an accumulated deficit of $1,882,738 (December 
31, 2019- $1,855,602) and negative cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 of $487 
(December 31, 2019 - $5,952). 

 
As at December 31, 2020, the capital structure of the Company consisted primarily of all the components of 
shareholders' equity. To adjust or maintain its capital structure, the Company may issue new common shares. 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the company had 25,258,869 common shares issued and outstanding (December 
31, 2019 – 23,245,169); 600,000 warrants issued and outstanding (December 31, 2019 – 600,000); and 
950,000 stock options issued and outstanding (December 31, 2019 – 1,150,000). 
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Remuneration of key management and transactions with related parties 
 
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors, the President/CEO and the CFO. 
Compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows: 
 
 

 
 Years ended 

December 31, 
   2020 2019 
   $ $ 

Fees, wages and directors fees   6,700 6,500 

   6,700 6,500 

 
Salaries and benefits include director fees. The Board of Directors and officers do not have employment or 
service contracts with the Company. Directors are entitled to director fees and stock options for their services 
and officers are entitled to stock options for their services. As at December 31, 2020, $86,848 (2019 – 
$94,806) was owing to directors or officers. On November 30, 2020, the Company settled $40,274 of 
accounts payable due to the CEO by issuing 2,013,700 common shares.  Refer also to Note 4. 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions. 

 

Capital management and off balance sheet transactions 
 
The Company’s capital structure is adjusted based on management and the Board of Directors’ decision to 
fund expenditures, outside of operating cash flow, with the issuance of debt or equity such that it may 
complete the acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the mining of minerals that are 
economically recoverable. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria, but 
rather relies on the expertise of management and other professionals to sustain future development of the 
business. 
 
The Company would raise funds externally as and when required to finance obligations or complete projects. 
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional funds on reasonable terms. The 
sources of future funds available to the Company are cash flow from operations, the exercise of outstanding 
stock options and/or warrants, the sale of equity capital of the Company. The ability of the Company to 
arrange such financing in the future will depend in part upon the prevailing capital market conditions as well 
as the business performance of the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be 
successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing, if needed, on terms satisfactory to the Company. 
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  There were no changes in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company is not subject to externally 
imposed capital restrictions. 
 
There are no off balance sheet transactions for year ended December 31, 2020. 
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Critical accounting policies and estimates 
 
The critical accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in Note 2 of the financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2020. 
 

Dividends 
 
The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its common shares. The Company intends to 
retain its earnings, if any, to finance growth and expand its operation and does not anticipate paying any 
dividends on its common shares in the foreseeable future. 

 
Contingencies 
 
The Company's exploration activities are subject to government laws and regulations, including tax laws and 
laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company believes that its operations 
comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and regulations. The Company 
records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's estimate at the time. Such 
estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of previous flow-through share offerings against any tax 
related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 

Risks and uncertainties 

 
Financial risk: 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including interest rate, foreign currency risk and commodity and equity price risk). 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular 
guidance for overall risk management. 
 
There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
 
Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and HST receivable. Cash is held with a select major 
Canadian chartered bank, from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 
 
HST receivable consists of sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada. HST receivable is in 
good standing as of December 31, 2020. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to HST 
receivable is minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its 
access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing 
activities.  
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At December 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $935 (December 31, 2019 - $1,422) to settle current 
liabilities of $91,425 (December 31, 2019 - $100,881). All of the Company's financial liabilities have 
contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. The Company regularly 
evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity. 
 
Further financing is required for working capital expenditures during the next twelve months. While there is no 
assurance these funds can be raised, the Company believes such financing will be available as required. 
 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Commodity and other price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 
as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements 
and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, as they relate to precious and base 
metals and other minerals, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company. 
 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future profitability 
and viability of development depend upon the world market price of precious and base metals and other 
minerals. Precious and base metals and other mineral prices have fluctuated widely in recent years. 
There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals and other 
minerals are produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.  
 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company was not a precious minerals, base metals and other minerals 
producer. Even so, commodity price risk may affect the completion of future equity transactions such as 
equity offerings and the exercise of stock options and warrants. This may also affect the Company's 
liquidity and its ability to meet its ongoing obligations. 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices. The Company’s other price risk includes equity price risk, whereby the Company’s 
investments are subject to market price fluctuation. 
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Disclosure of outstanding share information 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of current and previous flow-through share offerings against 
any tax related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 
The following table sets forth information concerning the outstanding securities of the Company as at March 
24, 2021: 
 
Common shares of no par value Number 

  
Shares 25,258,869 
Options 850,000 
Warrants 600,000 

Fully diluted shares outstanding 26,708,869 

 
Segregation of duties 
 
Segregation of duties is a basic, key internal control and one of the most difficult to achieve in a small 
company. It is used to ensure that errors or irregularities are prevented or detected on a timely basis by 
employees in the normal course of business. Due to the Company’s small size and limited resources, a 
complete segregation of duties within the Company’s accounting group cannot be fully achieved and a 
material weakness exists. The result is that the Company is highly reliant on the performance of mitigating 
procedures during the process of closing its financial statements in order to ensure the financial statements 
are presented fairly in all material respects. Management will identify and hire additional accounting resources 
where cost effective and when required. Where it is not cost effective to obtain additional accounting 
resources, management will review existing mitigating controls and, if appropriate, implement changes to its 
internal control processes whereby more effective mitigating controls will be adopted. 
 
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2020. 

 
Cautionary note regarding forward-looking information 
 
This document contains or refers to forward-looking information. Such forward-looking information includes, 
among other things, statements regarding targets, estimates and/or assumptions in respect of future 
production, mine development costs, unit costs, capital costs, timing of commencement of operations and 
future economic, market and other conditions, and is based on current expectations that involve a number of 
business risks and uncertainties. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from any forward-
looking statement include, but are not limited to: the grade and recovery of ore which is mined varying from 
estimates; capital and operating costs varying significantly from estimates; inflation; changes in exchange 
rates; fluctuations in commodity prices; delays in the development of the any project caused by unavailability 
of equipment, labour or supplies, climatic conditions or otherwise; termination or revision of any debt 
financing; failure to raise additional funds required to finance the completion of a project; and other factors. 
Forward-looking statements are subject to significant risks and uncertainties and other factors that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from expected results. Readers should not place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date hereof and we 
assume no responsibility to update them or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances, except as 
required by law. 
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Additional information and continuous disclosure 
 
This MD&A has been prepared as at March 24, 2021. Additional information on the Company is available 
through regular filings of press releases, financial statements, on SEDAR (www.sedar.com). 

 
Management’s responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for all information contained in this MD&A. The Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and include amounts based on 
management’s informed judgments and estimates. The financial and operating information included in this 
MD&A is consistent with that contained in the Financial Statements in all material aspects. 
 
Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that financial information is reliable 
and accurate and assets are safeguarded. 
 
The Company’s Board of Directors has reviewed with management and approved the Financial Statements 
and this MD&A.  
 
“Kabir Ahmed”  “Peter W. Hogg”  
Kabir Ahmed 
Chief Executive Officer 

Peter W. Hogg  
Chief Financial Officer 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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This management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) has been prepared based on information available to 
Flexwork Properties Ltd. (“Flexwork” or the “Company”) as at February 4, 2022. The MD&A of the operating 
results and financial condition of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021, should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) and related notes for the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.  The Financial Statements have been prepared by 
management and are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and all 
amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. Other information contained in this 
document has also been prepared by management and is consistent with the data contained in the Financial 
Statements. Additional information relating to the Company can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
 

 
Executive summary 
 
General 
Flexwork was incorporated pursuant to the laws of Ontario on July 11, 2005 and was engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of mineral property interests containing precious metals. 
 
Flexwork's goal is to deliver value to shareholders while evaluating transactions in and outside the mining 
industry. 
 
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its being able to obtain 
additional financing.  Flexwork’s financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company is 
a going concern and do not include adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
On May 28, 2018, the Company announced that - subject to receipt of approvals from both the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (“CSE”) and the Company’s shareholders – the Company proposes to carry out a 
Change of Business (“COB”) pursuant to CSE Policy No. 8, and thereafter, transition to an “Active Real 
Property Acquisition, Management, and Rental Income Company”. 
 
Additionally, on May 28, 2018, at the request of the Company, trading in the Company’s common shares on 
the CSE was halted by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (“IIROC”). The halt in 
trading is expected to be lifted upon the Company’s (1) receipt of approvals for the proposed COB from the 
CSE and the Company’s shareholders of record; (2) completion of a proposed concurrent private placement 
financing; and (3) submission of all final documentation to regulatory authorities, including the CSE. 
 
Thereafter, on August 30, 2018, the shareholders of the Company approved the Company’s proposed change 
of business and change of name from Reliant Gold Corp. to Flexwork Properties Ltd. 
 
On September 17, 2018, pursuant to an Articles of Amendment, the Company changed its name to Flexwork 
Properties Ltd. Finally, on September 18, 2018, the Company received a letter from the CSE providing 
conditional approval for listing of the Company’s shares on the CSE, subject to completion of the proposed 
concurrent private placement and submission of the final listing fee and any final documentation to the CSE.  
As of December 31, 2021 and February 4, 2022, the financing has not been completed and the Company has 
now withdrawn from the proposed financing.  Instead, the Company is currently pursuing a proposed reverse 
takeover (RTO) with Blockchain Venture Capital Inc.  There is no certainty that the Company will receive the 
requisite shareholder and regulatory approvals for the proposed RTO, or that the Company will be able to 
complete the proposed RTO.  Refer to the Company’s press release dated March 16, 2021 for additional 
details. 
 
 

http://www.sedar.com/
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On March 15, 2021, the Company entered into a definitive amalgamation agreement (the "Definitive 
Agreement") with Blockchain Venture Capital Inc. ("BVCI"), to complete an amalgamation, pursuant to 
Section 174 of the Ontario Business Corporations Act (the "OBCA"), resulting in a reverse takeover (the 
"RTO") of the Company by the shareholders of BVCI. Upon completion of the RTO, the combined entity (the 
"Resulting Issuer") will continue to carry on the business of BVCI and the Resulting Issuer will change its 
name to "Blockchain Venture Capital Inc.", or such other name as the parties may agree (the "Name 
Change"). 
 
The proposed RTO between the Company and BVCI, if completed, will constitute a Fundamental Change as 
that term is defined under the policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "Exchange" or the "CSE"). 
As such, the closing of the RTO is subject to the receipt of all necessary approvals, including without 
limitation, the receipt of all requisite approvals from the shareholders of the Company and BVCI, respectively, 
and receipt of regulatory approval for the RTO and listing of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
the Resulting Issuer (the "Resulting Issuer Shares") on the Exchange. There is no certainty that the proposed 
RTO transaction will be completed or that the Resulting Issuer will be approved for listing on the CSE. The 
Resulting Issuer or the Resulting Issuer Shares has not yet been approved for listing on the CSE. 
 
In addition, by way of the press release dated March 16, 2021, the Company has announced two related 
transactions, including a proposed share consolidation of the Company's share capital, and a proposed debt 
settlement of approximately $97,000 currently owing to two directors of the Company. There is no certainty 
that any of these transactions including the RTO will be completed or that the Company will receive the 
requisite shareholder or regulatory approvals.  
 
During 2021, the Company received a $50,000 non-refundable advance from BVCI. 
  
 
Highlights  
 

 At December 31, 2021, the Company had assets of $28,371 (December 31, 2020 - $1,386) and a 
working capital deficit of $72,924 (December 31, 2020 – $90,039).  At December 31, 2021, the 
Company had $101,295 of liabilities (December 31, 2020 – $91,425) and no debt.  
 

 The Company had cash of $27,446 at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $935). 

 
Overall performance and results of operations 
 
Net income for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $17,115 or $0.00 per share (December 31, 2020 net 
loss of $31,513 or $0.00 per share). The net income includes a non-refundable advance from BVCI and 
corporate administration expenditures that included consulting fees/wages; directors’ fees; accounting, legal 
and audit services; and regulatory compliance costs. 
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Selected annual information 
Years ended December 31, 

 
 2021 2020 2019 
 $ $ $ 

Total assets 28,371 1,386 2,081 
Current liabilities 101,295 91,425 100,881 
Shareholders equity (deficit) (72,924) (90,039) (98,800) 
Net income (loss) for the year 17,115 (31,513) (26,917) 
Net income (loss) per share – basic and diluted 0.00 (0.00) (0.00) 

 
Summary of quarterly results 
 

 
December 31, 

2021 
September 30, 

2021 
June 30, 

2021 
March 31, 

2021 
 $ $ $ $ 

Total assets 28,371 5,305 7,536 16,454 

Shareholders’ deficit (72,924) (118,225) (113,504) (107,215) 
Net income (loss)  45,301 (4,721) (6,289) (17,176) 
Net income (loss) per share - basic 0.00 (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 
 
 

 
December 31, 

2020 
September 30, 

2020 
June 30, 

2020 
March 31, 

2020 
 $ $ $ $ 

Total assets 1,386 1,299 2,702 3,883 

Shareholders’ (deficit) (90,039) (123,242) (118,077) (108,097) 

Net loss (7,071) (5,165)  (9,980) (9,297) 
Net loss per share-basic (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 
 

Liquidity, working capital and capital resources 
 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company had cash of $27,446 (December 31, 2020 - $935) and a working 
capital deficit of $72,924 (December 31, 2020 –$90,039), an accumulated deficit of $1,842,059 (December 
31, 2020- $1,882,738) and cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 of $26,511 
(December 31, 2020 – negative cash flow - $487). 

 
As at December 31, 2021, the capital structure of the Company consisted primarily of all the components of 
shareholders' equity. To adjust or maintain its capital structure, the Company may issue new common shares. 
 
As at December 31, 2021, the company had 25,258,869 common shares issued and outstanding (December 
31, 2020 – 25,258,869); No warrants issued and outstanding (December 31, 2020 – 600,000); and 550,000 
stock options issued and outstanding (December 31, 2020 – 950,000). 
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Remuneration of key management and transactions with related parties 
 
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors, the President/CEO and the CFO. 
Compensation of key management personnel (including directors) was as follows: 
 
 

 
 Years ended 

December 31, 
   2021 2020 
   $ $ 

Fees, wages and directors fees   6,500 6,700 

   6,500 6,700 

 
Salaries and benefits include director fees. The Board of Directors and officers do not have employment or 
service contracts with the Company. Directors are entitled to director fees and stock options for their services 
and officers are entitled to stock options for their services. As at December 31, 2021, $95,550 (2020 – 
$86,848) was owing to directors or officers. 
 
Related parties include the Board of Directors and officers, close family members and enterprises that are 
controlled by these individuals as well as certain consultants performing similar functions. 

 

Capital management and off balance sheet transactions 
 
The Company’s capital structure is adjusted based on management and the Board of Directors’ decision to 
fund expenditures, outside of operating cash flow, with the issuance of debt or equity such that it may 
complete the acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the mining of minerals that are 
economically recoverable. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria, but 
rather relies on the expertise of management and other professionals to sustain future development of the 
business. 
 
The Company would raise funds externally as and when required to finance obligations or complete projects. 
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional funds on reasonable terms. The 
sources of future funds available to the Company are cash flow from operations, the exercise of outstanding 
stock options and/or warrants, the sale of equity capital of the Company. The ability of the Company to 
arrange such financing in the future will depend in part upon the prevailing capital market conditions as well 
as the business performance of the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will be 
successful in its efforts to arrange additional financing, if needed, on terms satisfactory to the Company. 
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  There were no changes in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year ended December 31, 2021. The Company is not subject to externally 
imposed capital restrictions. 
 
There are no off balance sheet transactions for year ended December 31, 2021. 
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Critical accounting policies and estimates 
 
The critical accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in Note 2 of the financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. 
 

Dividends 
 
The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its common shares. The Company intends to 
retain its earnings, if any, to finance growth and expand its operation and does not anticipate paying any 
dividends on its common shares in the foreseeable future. 

 
Contingencies 
 
The Company's exploration activities are subject to government laws and regulations, including tax laws and 
laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Company believes that its operations 
comply in all material respects with all applicable past and present laws and regulations. The Company 
records provisions for any identified obligations, based on management's estimate at the time. Such 
estimates are, however, subject to changes in laws and regulations. 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of previous flow-through share offerings against any tax 
related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 

Risks and uncertainties 

 
Financial risk: 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including interest rate, foreign currency risk and commodity and equity price risk). 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides regular 
guidance for overall risk management. 
 
There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
 
Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 
Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and HST receivable. Cash is held with a select major 
Canadian chartered bank, from which management believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 
 
HST receivable consists of sales tax receivable from government authorities in Canada. HST receivable is in 
good standing as of December 31, 2021. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to HST 
receivable is minimal. 
 
Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if its 
access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions 
generally or matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing 
activities.  
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At December 31, 2021, the Company had cash of $27,446 (December 31, 2020 - $935) to settle current 
liabilities of $101,295 (December 31, 2020 - $91,425). All of the Company's financial liabilities have 
contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. The Company regularly 
evaluates its cash position to ensure preservation and security of capital as well as liquidity. 
 
Further financing is required for working capital expenditures during the next twelve months. While there is no 
assurance these funds can be raised, the Company believes such financing will be available as required. 
 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates and commodity and equity prices. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
The Company's functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Commodity and other price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 
as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements 
and volatilities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices, as they relate to precious and base 
metals and other minerals, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company. 
 
Commodity price risk could adversely affect the Company. In particular, the Company's future profitability 
and viability of development depend upon the world market price of precious and base metals and other 
minerals. Precious and base metals and other mineral prices have fluctuated widely in recent years. 
There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of precious and base metals and other 
minerals are produced in the future, a profitable market will exist for them.  
 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company was not a precious minerals, base metals and other minerals 
producer. Even so, commodity price risk may affect the completion of future equity transactions such as 
equity offerings and the exercise of stock options and warrants. This may also affect the Company's 
liquidity and its ability to meet its ongoing obligations. 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices. The Company’s other price risk includes equity price risk, whereby the Company’s 
investments are subject to market price fluctuation. 
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Disclosure of outstanding share information 
 
The Company has indemnified the subscribers of current and previous flow-through share offerings against 
any tax related amounts that become payable by the shareholder as a result of the Company not meeting its 
expenditure commitments. 
 
The following table sets forth information concerning the outstanding securities of the Company as at 
February 4, 2022: 
 
Common shares of no par value Number 

  
Shares 25,258,869 
Options 550,000 
Warrants - 

Fully diluted shares outstanding 25,808,869 

 
Segregation of duties 
 
Segregation of duties is a basic, key internal control and one of the most difficult to achieve in a small 
company. It is used to ensure that errors or irregularities are prevented or detected on a timely basis by 
employees in the normal course of business. Due to the Company’s small size and limited resources, a 
complete segregation of duties within the Company’s accounting group cannot be fully achieved and a 
material weakness exists. The result is that the Company is highly reliant on the performance of mitigating 
procedures during the process of closing its financial statements in order to ensure the financial statements 
are presented fairly in all material respects. Management will identify and hire additional accounting resources 
where cost effective and when required. Where it is not cost effective to obtain additional accounting 
resources, management will review existing mitigating controls and, if appropriate, implement changes to its 
internal control processes whereby more effective mitigating controls will be adopted. 
 
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2021. 

 
Cautionary note regarding forward-looking information 
 
This document contains or refers to forward-looking information. Such forward-looking information includes, 
among other things, statements regarding targets, estimates and/or assumptions in respect of future 
production, mine development costs, unit costs, capital costs, timing of commencement of operations and 
future economic, market and other conditions, and is based on current expectations that involve a number of 
business risks and uncertainties. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from any forward-
looking statement include, but are not limited to: the grade and recovery of ore which is mined varying from 
estimates; capital and operating costs varying significantly from estimates; inflation; changes in exchange 
rates; fluctuations in commodity prices; delays in the development of the any project caused by unavailability 
of equipment, labour or supplies, climatic conditions or otherwise; termination or revision of any debt 
financing; failure to raise additional funds required to finance the completion of a project; and other factors. 
Forward-looking statements are subject to significant risks and uncertainties and other factors that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from expected results. Readers should not place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date hereof and we 
assume no responsibility to update them or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances, except as 
required by law. 
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Additional information and continuous disclosure 
 
This MD&A has been prepared as at February 4, 2022. Additional information on the Company is available 
through regular filings of press releases, financial statements, on SEDAR (www.sedar.com). 

 
Management’s responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for all information contained in this MD&A. The Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and include amounts based on 
management’s informed judgments and estimates. The financial and operating information included in this 
MD&A is consistent with that contained in the Financial Statements in all material aspects. 
 
Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that financial information is reliable 
and accurate and assets are safeguarded. 
 
The Company’s Board of Directors has reviewed with management and approved the Financial Statements 
and this MD&A.  
 
“Kabir Ahmed”  “Peter W. Hogg”  
Kabir Ahmed 
Chief Executive Officer 

Peter W. Hogg  
Chief Financial Officer 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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APPENDIX D 
 

STOCK OPTION PLAN RESOLUTION 
 

Ordinary Shareholder Resolution for the Re-Approval of the  
Company’s Rolling Stock Option Plan 

 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 
 
1. the Company’s rolling stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) is hereby approved and ratified 

as the stock option plan of the Company for the fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and is hereby 
approved as the stock option plan of the Company for the ensuing year,  

2. the number of common shares of the Company issuable pursuant to the Stock Option Plan shall 
continue to be set at 10% of the number of common shares of the Company issued and outstanding 
from time to time, subject to any limitations imposed by applicable regulations, laws, rules and 
policies; and 

3. any director and/or officer of the Company be and is hereby authorized and directed, acting for, in 
the name of and on behalf of the Company, to execute or cause to be executed, under the seal of 
the Company or otherwise, and to deliver or to cause to be delivered, all such deeds, documents, 
instruments and assurances and to do or cause to be done all such other acts and things as such 
director and/or officer of the Company may determine to be necessary or desirable to carry out the 
terms of this resolution, the execution and delivery of any such deed, document, instrument or 
assurance or the doing of any such act or thing being conclusive evidence of such determination. 






	Flexwork-Reliant-Notice and Circular-April 18-2022
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD.
	(Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.)
	2022 NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
	Meeting Business
	FLEXWORK PROPERTIES LTD.
	(Formerly Reliant Gold Corp.)
	MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR AS AT AND DATED APRIL 18, 2022
	Information Contained in this Information Circular
	Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
	PROXY RELATED INFORMATION
	SOLICITATION OF PROXIES by management
	APPOINTMENT AND REVOCATION OF PROXIES
	ADVICE TO BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS
	VOTING OF PROXIES
	(a) FOR the approval of an ordinary resolution approving and ratifying the re-appointment of McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, as the auditors of the Company for fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and FOR the approval of an ordi...
	(b) FOR the approval and ratification of the re-election of directors for fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and FOR setting the number of directors at three (3) and FOR the election as directors of the persons nominated by Management and specified un...
	VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF
	Company History
	By way of a Certificate of Incorporation, the Company was incorporated in the Province of Ontario on July 11, 2005 as “Richmond Energy Corp.”.  Thereafter, by way of an Articles of Amendment dated September 24, 2009, the Company changed its name to “R...
	The Company’s common shares were initially listed on Tier 2 of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) on December 4, 2009.  The Company’s common shares continuously traded on the TSXV from December 4, 2009 to February 27, 2018, when the Company voluntarily...
	Prior to the Voluntary Trading Halt, the Company carried on business as a junior mineral exploration and development company within Canada.
	Consequently, as of the date of this Information Circular, the Share Capital of Flexwork is comprised of 27,309,915 common shares and 550,000 stock options with each stock option exercisable at $0.05 per common share until September 1, 2022.

	INTERESTS OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON and other material transactions
	DATE OF INFORMATION

	particulars of MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON AT THE MEETING
	1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	2. APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS
	3. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
	 to insiders shall not exceed 10% of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis);
	 to any insider shall not exceed five percent of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis);
	 to any consultant to the Company shall not exceed two percent of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis); and
	 to all employees or consultants who provide investor relations activities shall not exceed two percent of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding on the date of the grant (on a non-diluted basis).
	INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF FLEXWORK
	RISK FACTORS


	REQUIRED ANNUAL DISCLOSURE CONCERNING THE COMPANY
	statement of EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
	Summary Compensation Table
	Outstanding Share-Based and Option-Based Awards Granted to Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2021
	Employment Contracts During the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021
	Compensation of Directors
	Outstanding Share-Based and Option-Based Awards Granted to Directors (Other Than Directors Who are Named Executive Officers) as of December 31, 2021.

	SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS
	The following table summarizes the number of Common Shares authorized for issuance under the Company’s Stock Option Plan, being the only existing equity compensation plan of the Company, as of December 31, 2021.
	(2) As at December 31, 2021, the Company had 25,258,869 Common Shares issued and outstanding and 550,000 stock options issued and outstanding exercisable at $0.05 per share until September 1, 2022. The Company has a 10% rolling stock option plan, and ...
	AUDIT COMMITTEE AND RELATIONSHIP WITH AUDITORS
	The Audit Committee’s Charter
	Composition of the Audit Committee
	Relevant Education and Experience
	Exemption

	INDEBTEDNESS OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
	MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

	Board of Directors – As of the date of this Information Circular, there are currently three members of the Company’s Board. Mr. Michael Boyd is independent. By virtue of their roles as senior executive officers of the Company, Messrs. Mr. Ahmed and Mr...
	Directorships- Michael Boyd and Peter Hogg are the only directors of the Company who currently hold directorships with other reporting issuers, as follows:
	Orientation and Continuing Education- The Company does not currently have an official orientation for new directors or a continuing education program for directors. New directors will have the opportunity, as required, to become familiar with the Comp...
	Ethical Business Conduct- The directors of the Company understand their fiduciary obligations as directors of a public company. The Board monitors the ethical conduct of the Company and ensures that it complies with all applicable legal and regulatory...
	Nomination of Directors- The full Board is currently responsible for identifying new candidates to serve as directors, including candidates to fill any vacancies on the Board.  The directors will consider candidates submitted by directors, officers, e...
	Compensation - The steps taken to determine the compensation of the directors and Named Executive Officers of the Company are set forth above under “Required Annual Disclosure Concerning the Company – Executive Compensation – Compensation Disclosure a...
	Other Board Committees- The board of directors of the Company does not currently have any standing committees other than the Audit Committee.
	Assessments- The directors of the Company and its committees are assessed regularly by the full Board with a view to the Board satisfying itself that the Board, its committees, and its individual directors are performing effectively.
	DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
	The by-laws of the Company also provide for the indemnification of the directors and officers of the Company from and against liability and costs in respect of any action or suit against them in connection with the execution of their duties of office,...
	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
	APPROVAL OF DIRECTORS

	I. Purpose
	 conduct such reviews and discussions with management and the external auditors relating to the audit and financial reporting as are deemed appropriate by the Committee;
	 assess the integrity of internal controls and financial reporting procedures of the Corporation and ensure implementation of such controls and procedures;
	 ensure that there is an appropriate standard of corporate conduct including, if necessary, adopting a corporate code of ethics for senior financial personnel;
	 review the quarterly and annual financial statements and management's discussion and analysis of the Corporation’s financial position and operating results and report thereon to the Board for approval of same;
	 select and monitor the independence and performance of the Corporation's external auditors, including attending at private meetings with the external auditors and reviewing and approving all renewals or dismissals of the external auditors and their ...
	 provide oversight to related party transactions entered into by the Corporation.

	II. authority of the AUDIT Committee
	1. engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties;
	2. set and pay the compensation for advisors employed by the Committee; and
	3. communicate directly with the internal and external auditors.
	III. COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS
	IV. RESPONSIBILITIES
	A. Financial Accounting and Reporting Process and Internal Controls
	1. The Committee shall review the annual audited financial statements to satisfy itself that they are presented in accordance with applicable generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and report thereon to the Board and recommend to the Board ...
	2. The Committee shall review any internal control reports prepared by management and the evaluation of such report by the external auditors, together with management’s response.
	3. The Committee shall be satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Corporation’s public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Corporation’s financial statements, management’s discussion and anal...
	4. The Committee shall review management’s discussion and analysis relating to annual and interim financial statements and any other public disclosure documents, including interim earnings press releases, that are required to be reviewed by the Commit...
	5. The Committee shall meet no less frequently than annually with the external auditors and the Chief Financial Officer or, in the absence of a Chief Financial Officer, with the officer of the Corporation in charge of financial matters, to review acco...
	6. The Committee shall inquire of management and the external auditors about significant risks or exposures, both internal and external, to which the Corporation may be subject, and assess the steps management has taken to minimize such risks.
	7. The Committee shall review the post-audit or management letter containing the recommendations of the external auditors and management’s response and subsequent follow-up to any identified weaknesses.
	8. The Committee shall ensure that there is an appropriate standard of corporate conduct including, if necessary, adopting a corporate code of ethics for senior financial personnel.
	9. The Committee shall establish procedures for:
	 the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and
	 the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Corporation of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

	10. The Committee shall provide oversight to related party transactions entered into by the Corporation.

	B. Independent Auditors
	 The Committee shall recommend to the Board the external auditors to be nominated, shall set the compensation for the external auditors, provide oversight of the external auditors and shall ensure that the external auditors report directly to the Com...
	 The Committee shall be directly responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditors, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditors regarding financial reporting.
	 The Committee shall pre-approve all audit and non-audit services not prohibited by law to be provided by the external auditors in accordance with this Charter.
	 The Committee shall monitor and assess the relationship between management and the external auditors and monitor, support and assure the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.
	 The Committee shall review the external auditors’ audit plan, including the scope, procedures and timing of the audit.
	 The Committee shall review the results of the annual audit with the external auditors, including matters related to the conduct of the audit.
	 The Committee shall obtain timely reports from the external auditors describing critical accounting policies and practices, alternative treatments of information within GAAP that were discussed with management, their ramifications, and the external ...
	 The Committee shall review fees paid by the Corporation to the external auditors and other professionals in respect of audit and non-audit services on an annual basis.
	 The Committee shall review and approve the Corporation's hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees of the present and former auditors of the Corporation.
	 The Committee shall monitor and assess the relationship between management and the external auditors and monitor and support the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

	C. Other Responsibilities

	flexwork properties ltd.
	The Corporation shall inform employees on the Corporation’s intranet, if there is one, or via a newsletter or e-mail that is disseminated to all employees at least annually, of the officer (the “Complaints Officer”) designated from time to time by the...
	The Complaints Officer shall be informed that any complaints or submissions so received must be kept confidential and that the identity of employees making complaints or submissions shall be kept confidential and shall only be communicated to the Comm...
	The Complaints Officer shall be informed that he or she must report to the Committee as frequently as such Complaints Officer deems appropriate, but in any event no less frequently than on a quarterly basis prior to the quarterly meeting of the Commit...
	Upon receipt of a report from the Complaints Officer, the Committee shall discuss the report and take such steps as the Committee may deem appropriate.
	The Complaints Officer shall retain a record of a complaint or submission received for a period of six years following resolution of the complaint or submission.

	flexwork properties ltd.
	The Corporation’s external auditors shall be prohibited from performing for the Corporation the following categories of non-audit services:
	 bookkeeping or other services related to the Corporation’s accounting records or financial statements;
	 financial information systems design and implementation;
	 appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinion or contributions-in-kind reports;
	 actuarial services;
	 internal audit outsourcing services;
	 management functions;
	 human resources;
	 broker or dealer, investment adviser or investment banking services;
	 legal services;
	 expert services unrelated to the audit; and
	 any other service that the Canadian Public Accountability Board determines is impermissible.

	In the event that the Corporation wishes to retain the services of the Corporation’s external auditors for tax compliance, tax advice or tax planning, the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation shall consult with the Chair of the Committee, who sh...
	The Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation shall maintain a record of non-audit services approved by the Chair of the Committee or the Committee for each fiscal year and provide a report to the Committee no less frequently than on a quarterly basis.


	APPENDIX B
	Flexwork_FS_2018
	Flexwork_FS_2019
	Flexwork_FS_2020
	Flexwork_FS_2021
	APPENDIX C
	Flexwork_MDA_2018
	Flexwork_MDA_2019
	Flexwork_MDA_2020
	Flexwork_MDA_2021
	APPENDIX D
	1. the Company’s rolling stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) is hereby approved and ratified as the stock option plan of the Company for the fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, and is hereby approved as the stock option plan of the Company for ...
	2. the number of common shares of the Company issuable pursuant to the Stock Option Plan shall continue to be set at 10% of the number of common shares of the Company issued and outstanding from time to time, subject to any limitations imposed by appl...
	3. any director and/or officer of the Company be and is hereby authorized and directed, acting for, in the name of and on behalf of the Company, to execute or cause to be executed, under the seal of the Company or otherwise, and to deliver or to cause...

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



